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June 30, 2020 December 31, 2019
Assets

Real estate portfolio:
Investments in leases - direct financing and sales-type, net....................... $ 10,372,656 $ 10,734,245 
Investments in leases - operating ...............................................................  1,086,658  1,086,658 
Investments in leases - financing receivables, net......................................  812,636  — 
Investments in loans, net............................................................................  49,876  — 
Land............................................................................................................  94,711  94,711 

Cash and cash equivalents...............................................................................  1,680,536  1,101,893 
Restricted cash.................................................................................................  2,000,000  — 
Short-term investments....................................................................................  —  59,474 
Other assets......................................................................................................  180,561  188,638 

Total assets................................................................................................. $ 16,277,634 $ 13,265,619 
Liabilities

Debt, net........................................................................................................... $ 6,758,132 $ 4,791,563 
Accrued interest...............................................................................................  48,828  20,153 
Deferred financing liability..............................................................................  73,600  73,600 
Deferred revenue.............................................................................................  358  70,340 
Dividends payable...........................................................................................  158,659  137,056 
Other liabilities................................................................................................  163,646  123,918 

Total liabilities...........................................................................................  7,203,223  5,216,630 

Commitments and contingent liabilities (Note 11)

Stockholders’ equity
Common stock, $0.01 par value, 700,000,000 shares authorized and 
533,667,755 and 461,004,742 shares issued and outstanding at June 30, 
2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively ....................................................  5,337  4,610 
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 50,000,000 shares authorized and no 
shares outstanding at June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019 ........................  —  — 
Additional paid-in capital................................................................................  9,296,511  7,817,582 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss..........................................................  (117,265)  (65,078) 
Retained (deficit) earnings...............................................................................  (191,835)  208,069 

Total VICI stockholders’ equity.................................................................  8,992,748  7,965,183 
Non-controlling interest...................................................................................  81,663  83,806 

Total stockholders’ equity..........................................................................  9,074,411  8,048,989 
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity............................................... $ 16,277,634 $ 13,265,619 

_______________________________________________________

Note: As of June 30, 2020 our Investments in leases - direct financing and sales-type, Investments in leases - financing receivables and Investments in loans are 
net of $355.3 million, $37.6 million and $0.4 million of Allowance for credit losses, respectively. The credit loss standard does not require retrospective 
application and as such there is no corresponding allowance as of December 31, 2019. Refer to Note 6 - Allowance for Credit Losses for further details.

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

2020 2019 2020 2019
Revenues

Income from direct financing and sales-type leases........... $ 223,895 $ 201,549 $ 448,147 $ 397,299 
Income from operating leases.............................................  10,913  10,914  21,826  21,827 
Income from lease financing receivables and loans...........  17,026  —  29,869  — 
Other income......................................................................  733  —  1,426  — 
Golf operations...................................................................  5,335  8,283  11,635  15,622 

Revenues......................................................................  257,902  220,746  512,903  434,748 

Operating expenses
General and administrative.................................................  7,498  6,518  14,513  12,743 
Depreciation.......................................................................  1,213  1,018  2,080  1,948 
Other expenses...................................................................  736  —  1,439  — 
Golf operations...................................................................  4,139  4,848  8,509  8,940 
Change in allowance for credit losses................................  (65,480)  —  84,028  — 
Transaction and acquisition expenses................................  1,160  2,867  5,677  3,756 

Total operating expenses..............................................  (50,734)  15,251  116,246  27,387 
Operating income....................................................................  308,636  205,495  396,657  407,361 

Interest expense..................................................................  (77,693)  (54,819)  (153,786)  (108,405) 
Interest income...................................................................  1,009  4,004  6,529  9,171 
Loss from extinguishment of debt......................................  —  —  (39,059)  — 

Income before income taxes...................................................  231,952  154,680  210,341  308,127 
Income tax expense............................................................  (309)  (553)  (763)  (1,074) 

Net income..............................................................................  231,643  154,127  209,578  307,053 
Less: Net income attributable to non-controlling interest..  (2,241)  (2,078)  (4,188)  (4,155) 

Net income attributable to common stockholders ................. $ 229,402 $ 152,049 $ 205,390 $ 302,898 

Net income per common share 
Basic .................................................................................. $ 0.47 $ 0.37 $ 0.43 $ 0.74 
Diluted ............................................................................... $ 0.47 $ 0.37 $ 0.43 $ 0.74 

Weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding
Basic...................................................................................  489,012,165  412,309,577  477,094,795  409,040,025 
Diluted................................................................................  489,213,427  412,821,400  481,652,482  409,473,202 

Other comprehensive income................................................
Net income attributable to common stockholders ................. $ 229,402 $ 152,049 $ 205,390 $ 302,898 

Unrealized gain (loss) on cash flow hedges.......................  951  (30,688)  (52,187)  (47,879) 
Comprehensive income attributable to common 
stockholders............................................................................ $ 230,353 $ 121,361 $ 153,203 $ 255,019 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Common 
Stock 

Additional 
Paid-in 
Capital

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive 
Loss

Retained 
(Deficit) 
Earnings

Total VICI 
Stockholders’ 

Equity

Non-
controlling 

Interest

Total  
Stockholders’ 

Equity

Balance as of December 31, 2018.... $ 4,047 $ 6,648,430 $ (22,124) $ 187,096 $ 6,817,449 $ 83,573 $ 6,901,022 

Net income.........................................  —  —  —  150,849  150,849  2,077  152,926 
Issuance of common stock, net..........  62  128,203  —  —  128,265  —  128,265 
Distributions to non-controlling 
interest................................................  —  —  —  —  —  (2,031)  (2,031) 
Dividends declared ($0.2875 per 
common share)...................................  —  —  —  (118,154)  (118,154)  —  (118,154) 
Stock-based compensation, net of 
forfeitures...........................................  1  1,050  —  —  1,051  —  1,051 

Unrealized loss on cash flow hedges..  —  —  (17,191)  —  (17,191)  —  (17,191) 

Balance as of March 31, 2019..........  4,110  6,777,683  (39,315)  219,791  6,962,269  83,619  7,045,888 

Net income.........................................  —  —  —  152,049  152,049  2,078  154,127 

Issuance of common stock, net..........  500  1,035,780  —  —  1,036,280  —  1,036,280 
Distribution to non-controlling 
interest................................................  —  —  —  —  —  (2,011)  (2,011) 
Dividends declared ($0.2875 per 
common share)...................................  —  —  —  (132,539)  (132,539)  —  (132,539) 
Stock-based compensation, net of 
forfeitures...........................................  —  1,366  —  —  1,366  —  1,366 

Unrealized loss on cash flow hedges..  —  —  (30,688)  —  (30,688)  —  (30,688) 

Balance as of June 30, 2019............. $ 4,610 $ 7,814,829 $ (70,003) $ 239,301 $ 7,988,737 $ 83,686 $ 8,072,423 

Balance as of December 31, 2019.... $ 4,610 $ 7,817,582 $ (65,078) $ 208,069 $ 7,965,183 $ 83,806 $ 8,048,989 
Cumulative effect of adoption of 
ASC 326.............................................  —  —  —  (307,114)  (307,114)  (2,248)  (309,362) 
Net loss...............................................  —  —  —  (24,012)  (24,012)  1,947  (22,065) 
Issuance of common stock, net..........  75  199,802  —  —  199,877  —  199,877 
Distributions to non-controlling 
interest................................................  —  —  —  —  —  (2,042)  (2,042) 
Dividends declared ($0.2975 per 
common share)...................................  —  —  —  (139,413)  (139,413)  —  (139,413) 
Stock-based compensation, net of 
forfeitures...........................................  1  1,184  —  —  1,185  —  1,185 
Unrealized loss on cash flow hedges..  —  —  (53,138)  —  (53,138)  —  (53,138) 
Balance as of March 31, 2020..........  4,686  8,018,568  (118,216)  (262,470)  7,642,568  81,463  7,724,031 
Net income.........................................  —  —  —  229,402  229,402  2,241  231,643 
Issuance of common stock, net..........  650  1,275,974  —  —  1,276,624  —  1,276,624 
Distributions to non-controlling 
interest................................................  —  —  —  —  —  (2,041)  (2,041) 
Dividends declared ($0.2975 per 
common share)...................................  —  —  —  (158,767)  (158,767)  —  (158,767) 
Stock-based compensation, net of 
forfeitures...........................................  1  1,969  —  —  1,970  —  1,970 
Unrealized gain on cash flow hedges.  —  —  951  —  951  —  951 
Balance as of June 30, 2020............. $ 5,337 $ 9,296,511 $ (117,265) $ (191,835) $ 8,992,748 $ 81,663 $ 9,074,411 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Six Months Ended June 30,
2020 2019

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income....................................................................................................... $ 209,578 $ 307,053 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash flows provided by operating 
activities:

Non-cash leasing and financing adjustments .............................................  6,226  (4,789) 
Stock-based compensation..........................................................................  3,361  2,417 
Depreciation ...............................................................................................  2,080  1,948 
Amortization of debt issuance costs and original issue discount................  11,136  3,364 
Change in allowance for credit losses.........................................................  84,028  — 
Loss on extinguishment of debt..................................................................  39,059  — 

Change in operating assets and liabilities:
Other assets.................................................................................................  596  (6,924) 
Accrued interest..........................................................................................  28,675  (219) 
Deferred revenue.........................................................................................  (69,982)  (43,600) 
Other liabilities............................................................................................  3,740  3,692 

Net cash provided by operating activities..............................................  318,497  262,942 

Cash flows from investing activities
Investments in leases - financing receivables..................................................  (847,159)  — 
Investments in loans.........................................................................................  (50,343)  — 
Investments in leases - direct financing and sales-type...................................  —  (970,763) 
Principal repayments of lease financing receivables.......................................  868  — 
Capitalized transaction costs............................................................................  (1,084)  (1,105) 
Investments in short-term investments............................................................  —  (97,586) 
Maturities of short-term investments...............................................................  59,474  520,877 
Proceeds from sale of land...............................................................................  —  1,044 
Acquisition of property and equipment...........................................................  (2,187)  (1,481) 

Net cash used in investing activities......................................................  (840,431)  (549,014) 

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from offering of common stock, net.................................................  1,476,717  1,165,008 
Proceeds from February 2020 Senior Unsecured Notes..................................  2,500,000  — 
Redemption of Second Lien Notes..................................................................  (537,538)  — 
Repurchase of stock for tax withholding.........................................................  (206)  — 
Debt issuance costs..........................................................................................  (57,784)  (5,371) 
Distributions to non-controlling interest..........................................................  (4,083)  (4,042) 
Dividends paid.................................................................................................  (276,529)  (234,418) 

Net cash provided by financing activities..............................................  3,100,577  921,177 
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Net increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash...................................  2,578,643  635,105 
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of period..........................  1,101,893  598,447 
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of period.................................... $ 3,680,536 $ 1,233,552 

Supplemental cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest ...................................................................................... $ 113,974 $ 105,484 
Cash paid for income taxes.............................................................................. $ — $ 1,500 

Supplemental non-cash investing and financing activity:
Dividends declared, not paid ........................................................................... $ 158,767 $ 132,539 
Lease liabilities arising from obtaining right-of-use assets............................. $ — $ 11,133 
Deferred transaction costs payable.................................................................. $ 2,305 $ 4,454 
Equity issuance costs payable.......................................................................... $ 1,040 $ 650 
Debt issuance costs payable............................................................................. $ — $ 5,783 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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In these notes, the words “VICI,” the “Company,” “we,” “our,” and “us” refer to VICI Properties Inc. and its subsidiaries, on 
a consolidated basis, unless otherwise stated or the context requires otherwise. 

We refer to (i) our Consolidated Financial Statements as our “Financial Statements,” (ii) our Consolidated Balance Sheets as 
our “Balance Sheet,” (iii) our Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income as our “Statement of 
Operations,” and (iv) our Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows as our “Statement of Cash Flows.” References to numbered 
“Notes” refer to the Notes to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

“2025 Notes” refers to $750.0 million aggregate principal amount of 3.500% senior unsecured notes due 2025 issued by the 
Operating Partnership and VICI Note Co. Inc., as Co-Issuer, in February 2020.

“2026 Notes” refers to $1.25 billion aggregate principal amount of 4.250% senior unsecured notes due 2026 issued by the 
Operating Partnership and VICI Note Co. Inc., as Co-Issuer, in November 2019.

“2027 Notes” refers to $750.0 million aggregate principal amount of 3.750% senior unsecured notes due 2027 issued by the 
Operating Partnership and VICI Note Co. Inc., as Co-Issuer, in February 2020.

“2029 Notes” refers to $1.0 billion aggregate principal amount of 4.625% senior unsecured notes due 2029 issued by the 
Operating Partnership and VICI Note Co. Inc., as Co-Issuer, in November 2019.

“2030 Notes” refers to $1.0 billion aggregate principal amount of 4.125% senior unsecured notes due 2030 issued by the 
Operating Partnership and VICI Note Co. Inc., as Co-Issuer, in February 2020.

“Caesars” refers to Caesars Entertainment, Inc., a Delaware corporation, formerly Eldorado, following the consummation of 
the Eldorado/Caesars Merger on July 20, 2020 and Eldorado’s conversion to a Delaware corporation.

“Caesars Lease Agreements” refer collectively to (i) prior to the consummation of the Eldorado Transaction, the CPLV Lease 
Agreement, the Non-CPLV Lease Agreement, the Joliet Lease Agreement and the HLV Lease Agreement, and (ii) from and after 
the consummation of the Eldorado Transaction, the Las Vegas Master Lease Agreement, the Regional Master Lease Agreement 
and the Joliet Lease Agreement, in each case, unless the context otherwise requires.

“Century Casinos” refers to Century Casinos, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and, as the context requires, its subsidiaries.

“Century Portfolio” refers to the real estate assets associated with the (i) Mountaineer Casino, Racetrack & Resort located in 
New Cumberland, West Virginia, (ii) Century Casino Caruthersville located in Caruthersville, Missouri and (iii) Century 
Casino Cape Girardeau located in Cape Girardeau, Missouri, which we purchased on December 6, 2019.

“Century Portfolio Lease Agreement” refers to the lease agreement for the Century Portfolio, as amended from time to time.

“CEOC” refers to Caesars Entertainment Operating Company, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and its subsidiaries, prior to the 
Formation Date, and following the Formation Date, CEOC, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and, as the context 
requires, its subsidiaries. CEOC was a subsidiary of Pre-Merger Caesars, and following the consummation of the Eldorado/
Caesars Merger, is a subsidiary of Caesars.

“Co-Issuer” refers to VICI Note Co. Inc., a Delaware corporation. 

“CPLV CMBS Debt” refers to $1.55 billion of asset-level real estate mortgage financing of Caesars Palace Las Vegas, 
incurred by a subsidiary of the Operating Partnership on October 6, 2017 and repaid in full on November 26, 2019.

“CPLV Lease Agreement” refers to the lease agreement for Caesars Palace Las Vegas, as amended from time to time, which 
was combined with the HLV Lease Agreement into the Las Vegas Master Lease Agreement upon the consummation of the 
Eldorado Transaction.

“Eastside Property” refers to 18.4 acres of property located in Las Vegas, Nevada, east of Harrah’s Las Vegas that we sold to 
Caesars in December 2017.

“Eldorado” refers to Eldorado Resorts, Inc., a Nevada corporation, and, as the context requires, its subsidiaries. Following the 
consummation of the Eldorado/Caesars Merger on July 20, 2020, Eldorado converted to a Delaware corporation and changed 
its name to Caesars Entertainment, Inc.
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“Eldorado Transaction” refers to a series of transactions between us and Eldorado in connection with the Eldorado/Caesars 
Merger, including the acquisition of the Harrah’s New Orleans, Harrah’s Atlantic City and Harrah’s Laughlin properties, 
modifications to the Caesars Lease Agreements, and rights of first refusal.

“Eldorado/Caesars Merger” refers to the merger consummated on July 20, 2020 under an Agreement and Plan of Merger 
pursuant to which a subsidiary of Eldorado merged with and into Pre-Merger Caesars, with Pre-Merger Caesars surviving as 
a wholly owned subsidiary of Caesars.

“February 2020 Senior Unsecured Notes” refers collectively to the 2025 Notes, the 2027 Notes and the 2030 Notes.

“Formation Date” refers to October 6, 2017. 

“Greektown” refers to the real estate assets associated with the Greektown Casino-Hotel, located in Detroit, Michigan, which 
we purchased on May 23, 2019.

“Greektown Lease Agreement” refers to the lease agreement for Greektown, as amended from time to time.

“Hard Rock” means Hard Rock International, and, as the context requires, its subsidiary and affiliate entities.

“Hard Rock Cincinnati” refers to the casino-entitled land and real estate and related assets associated with the Hard Rock 
Cincinnati Casino, located in Cincinnati, Ohio, which we purchased on September 20, 2019 (and previously referred to in 
certain prior filings as JACK Cincinnati).

“Hard Rock Cincinnati Lease Agreement” refers to the lease agreement for Hard Rock Cincinnati, as amended from time to 
time.

“HLV Lease Agreement” refers to the lease agreement for the Harrah’s Las Vegas facilities, as amended from time to time, 
which was combined with the CPLV Lease Agreement into the Las Vegas Master Lease Agreement upon the consummation of 
the Eldorado Transaction. 

“JACK Entertainment” refers to JACK Ohio LLC, and, as the context requires, its subsidiary and affiliate entities.

“JACK Cleveland/Thistledown” refers to the casino-entitled land and real estate and related assets associated with the JACK 
Cleveland Casino located in Cleveland, Ohio, and the video lottery gaming and pari-mutuel wagering authorized land and real 
estate and related assets of JACK Thistledown Racino located in North Randall, Ohio, which we purchased on January 24, 
2020.

“JACK Cleveland/Thistledown Lease Agreement” refers to the lease agreement for JACK Cleveland/Thistledown, as amended 
from time to time.

“Joliet Lease Agreement” refers to the lease agreement for the facilities in Joliet, Illinois, as amended from time to time. 

“Las Vegas Master Lease Agreement” refers to the lease agreement for Caesars Palace Las Vegas and the Harrah’s Las Vegas 
facilities, as amended from time to time, from and after the consummation of the Eldorado Transaction.

“Lease Agreements” refer collectively to the Caesars Lease Agreements, the Penn National Lease Agreements, the Hard Rock 
Cincinnati Lease Agreement, the Century Portfolio Lease Agreement and the JACK Cleveland/Thistledown Lease Agreement, 
unless the context otherwise requires. 

“Margaritaville” refers to the real estate of Margaritaville Resort Casino, located in Bossier City, Louisiana, which we 
purchased on January 2, 2019.  

“Margaritaville Lease Agreement” refers to the lease agreement for Margaritaville, as amended from time to time.

“Master Transaction Agreement” or “MTA” refers to the master transaction agreement with Eldorado relating to the 
Eldorado Transaction. 
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“Non-CPLV Lease Agreement” refers to the lease agreement for regional properties (other than the facilities in Joliet, Illinois) 
leased to Pre-Merger Caesars prior to the consummation of the Eldorado Transaction, as amended from time to time, which 
was replaced by the Regional Master Lease Agreement upon the consummation of the Eldorado Transaction.

“November 2019 Senior Unsecured Notes” refers collectively to the 2026 Notes and the 2029 Notes.

“Operating Partnership” refers to VICI Properties L.P., a Delaware limited partnership and a wholly owned subsidiary of 
VICI.

“Penn National” refers to Penn National Gaming, Inc., a Pennsylvania Corporation, and, as the context requires, its 
subsidiaries.

“Penn National Lease Agreements” refer collectively to the Margaritaville Lease Agreement and the Greektown Lease 
Agreement, unless the context otherwise requires.

“Pre-Merger Caesars” refers to Caesars Entertainment Corporation, a Delaware corporation, and, as the context requires, its 
subsidiaries. Following the consummation of the Eldorado/Caesars Merger on July 20, 2020, Pre-Merger Caesars became a 
wholly owned subsidiary of Caesars.

“Regional Master Lease Agreement” refers to the lease agreement for the regional properties (other than the facilities in 
Joliet, Illinois) leased to Caesars, as amended from time to time, from and after the consummation of the Eldorado Transaction.

“Revolving Credit Facility” refers to the five-year first lien revolving credit facility entered into by VICI PropCo, as amended 
from time to time. 

“Second Lien Notes” refers to $766.9 million aggregate principal amount of 8.0% second priority senior secured notes due 
2023 issued by a subsidiary of the Operating Partnership in October 2017, the remaining $498.5 million aggregate principal 
amount outstanding as of December 31, 2019 of which was redeemed in full on February 20, 2020. 

“Seminole Hard Rock” means Seminole Hard Rock Entertainment, Inc.

“Term Loan B Facility” refers to the seven-year senior secured first lien term loan B facility entered into by VICI PropCo in 
December 2017, as amended from time to time.

“VICI Golf” refers to VICI Golf LLC, a Delaware limited liability company that is the owner and operator of our golf segment 
business.

“VICI PropCo” refers to VICI Properties 1 LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and an indirect wholly owned 
subsidiary of VICI.  

Note 1 — Business and Organization 

Business 

We are a Maryland corporation that is primarily engaged in the business of owning and acquiring gaming, hospitality and 
entertainment destinations, subject to long-term triple net leases. As of June 30, 2020, our national, geographically diverse 
portfolio consisted of 28 market-leading properties, including Caesars Palace Las Vegas and Harrah’s Las Vegas (and 
following the consummation of the Eldorado Transaction on July 20, 2020, our portfolio consists of 31 properties). As of 
June 30, 2020, our properties are leased to, and our tenants are, subsidiaries of Pre-Merger Caesars, Penn National, Hard Rock, 
Century Casinos and JACK Entertainment (and following the consummation of the Eldorado Transaction on July 20, 2020, 
Caesars, Penn National, Hard Rock, Century Casinos and JACK Entertainment). We also own and operate four championship 
golf courses located near certain of our properties.  

We conduct our operations as a real estate investment trust (“REIT”) for U.S. federal income tax purposes. As such, we 
generally will not be subject to U.S. federal income taxes on our taxable income to the extent that we annually distribute all of 
our net taxable income to stockholders and maintain our qualification as a REIT. We conduct our real property business through 
our Operating Partnership and our golf course business, through a taxable REIT subsidiary (a “TRS”), VICI Golf.
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Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on our Business

On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization declared the outbreak of a novel strain of coronavirus (“COVID-19”) a 
pandemic, and on March 13, 2020, the United States declared a national emergency. Among the broader public health, societal 
and global impact, the COVID-19 pandemic resulted in state governments and/or regulatory authorities issuing various 
directives, mandates, orders or similar actions, resulting in the temporary closure of our tenants’ operations at all of our 
properties. Our golf course business has also been impacted, with all four courses temporarily ceasing operations in March 2020 
as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, although our golf courses were subsequently reopened in early to mid-May 2020 in 
compliance with applicable regulations and restrictions. As of July 29, 2020, the operations of substantially all of our properties 
have reopened, subject to operating limitations set forth by the state and local governments and/or regulatory authorities. One 
property, Greektown, remains closed as the local government and regulatory authority have yet to allow it to reopen. While 
most of our tenants’ facilities at our properties have reopened, they have reopened at reduced capacity and subject to additional 
operating restrictions, and we cannot predict how long they will be required to operate subject to such operating restrictions or 
whether they will be subject to additional restrictions or forced to reclose in the future. 

The full extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic ultimately impacts us and our tenants continues to depend on future 
developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted with confidence, including the scope, severity and duration 
of the pandemic, the actions taken to contain the pandemic or mitigate its impact, and the direct and indirect economic effects of 
the pandemic and containment measures on our tenants, including the length of time our tenants’ operations at our properties 
are closed or subject to operating restrictions, including reduced capacity, any requirement for our tenants’ operations to 
reclose, our tenants’ financial performance following reopening and the extent of operating limitations and reduced capacity 
requirements upon reopening. We continue to closely monitor the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on us, our tenants and our 
pending transactions. All of our tenants have fulfilled their rent obligations in full through July 2020 and we continue to engage 
with our tenants in connection with the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and its impact on their operations, liquidity and financial 
performance. Due to the continuing uncertainty of the ultimate impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, including the impact on us 
and our tenants discussed above, there can be no assurance that our tenants will continue to fulfill their rent obligations in full.

Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted 
accounting principles (“GAAP”) for interim financial information set forth in the Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”), 
as published by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”), and with the applicable rules and regulations of the 
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). The consolidated financial statements, including the notes thereto, are 
unaudited and exclude some of the disclosures and information normally required in audited financial statements. 

We believe the disclosures made are adequate to prevent the information presented from being misleading. However, the 
accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements and related notes should be read in conjunction with the audited 
financial statements and notes thereto included in our most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K and as updated from time to 
time in our other filings with the SEC.

All adjustments (consisting of normal recurring accruals) considered necessary for a fair statement of results for the interim 
period have been included.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires us to make estimates and assumptions. These 
estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities at the date of the Financial Statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting 
periods. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

Operating results for the three and six months ended June 30, 2020 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be 
expected for the year ending December 31, 2020.
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Principles of Consolidation and Non-controlling Interest

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include our accounts and the accounts of our Operating Partnership, and 
the subsidiaries in which we or our Operating Partnership has a controlling interest, which includes a single variable interest 
entity (“VIE”) where we are the primary beneficiary. All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in 
consolidation. We consolidate all subsidiaries in which we have a controlling financial interest and VIEs for which we or one of 
our consolidated subsidiaries is the primary beneficiary. 

We present non-controlling interest and classify such interest as a component of consolidated stockholders’ equity, separate 
from VICI stockholders’ equity. Our non-controlling interest represents a 20% third-party ownership of Harrah’s Joliet LandCo 
LLC, the entity that owns the Harrah’s Joliet facility and is the lessor under the related Joliet Lease Agreement.

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

Cash consists of cash-on-hand and cash-in-bank. Any investments with an original maturity of three months or less from the 
date of purchase are considered cash equivalents and are stated at the lower of cost or market value. Investments with an 
original maturity of greater than three months and less than one year from the date of purchase are considered short-term 
investments and are stated at fair value.

As of June 30, 2020, restricted cash was solely related to funds held in escrow from the February 2020 Senior Unsecured Notes 
offering, which were subsequently released from escrow and used to consummate the Eldorado Transaction on July 20, 2020. 
As of June 30, 2019, restricted cash was primarily comprised of funds paid by us into a restricted account for a lender required 
furniture, fixtures and equipment (“FF&E”) replacement reserve for the CPLV CMBS Debt. 

The following table provides a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash reported on the Balance Sheet to the 
total of the same such amounts presented in the Statement of Cash Flows.

(In thousands) June 30, 2020 June 30, 2019

Cash and cash equivalents................................................................................................ $ 1,680,536 $ 1,205,335 
Restricted cash..................................................................................................................  2,000,000  28,217 
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash shown in the Statement of Cash Flows $ 3,680,536 $ 1,233,552 

Short-Term Investments

We generally invest our excess cash in short-term investment grade commercial paper as well as discount notes issued by 
government-sponsored enterprises including the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation and certain of the Federal Home 
Loan Banks. These investments generally have original maturities between 91 and 180 days and are accounted for as available 
for sale securities. The related income is recognized as interest income in our Statement of Operations. We had $59.5 million of 
short-term investments as of December 31, 2019. We did not have any short-term investments as of June 30, 2020.

Investments in Leases - Direct Financing and Sales-Type, Net

We account for our investments in leases under ASC 842 “Leases” (“ASC 842”). Upon lease inception or lease modification, 
we assess lease classification to determine whether the lease should be classified as a direct financing, sales-type or operating 
lease. As required by ASC 842, we separately assess the land and building components of the property to determine the 
classification of each component, unless the impact of doing so is immaterial. If the lease component is determined to be a 
direct financing or sales-type lease, we record a net investment in the lease, which is equal to the sum of the lease receivable 
and the unguaranteed residual asset, discounted at the rate implicit in the lease. Any difference between the fair value of the 
asset and the net investment in the lease is considered selling profit or loss and is either recognized upon execution of the lease 
or deferred and recognized over the life of the lease, depending on the classification of the lease. Due to the nature of our assets, 
the net investment in the lease is generally equal to the purchase price of the asset, and the land and building components of an 
investment generally have the same lease classification. 

Upon adoption of ASC 842 on January 1, 2019, we made an accounting policy election to use a package of practical expedients 
that, among other things, allow us to not reassess prior lease classifications or initial direct costs for leases that existed as of the 
balance sheet date. As such, we did not reassess the classification of our Caesars Lease Agreements, as these leases existed 
prior to our adoption of ASC 842. 
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Prior to the consummation of the Eldorado Transaction, the Caesars Lease Agreements continued to be accounted for as direct 
financing leases and were included within Investments in leases - direct financing and sales-type, net on the Balance Sheet, with 
the exception of the land component of Caesars Palace Las Vegas which was determined to be an operating lease and was 
included in Investments in leases - operating on the Balance Sheet. The income recognition for our direct financing leases 
recognized under ASC 840 was consistent with the income recognition for our sales-type lease under ASC 842.

Upon the consummation of the Eldorado Transaction on July 20, 2020, we modified the CPLV Lease Agreement, HLV Lease 
Agreement, Non-CPLV Lease Agreement and Joliet Lease Agreement, which included amending certain of the lease terms, and 
combining the CPLV Lease Agreement and HLV Lease Agreement into the Las Vegas Master Lease Agreement and replacing 
the Non-CPLV Lease Agreement with the Regional Master Lease Agreement. Upon modification, we prospectively reassessed 
the lease classification of the Las Vegas Master Lease Agreement, Regional Master Lease Agreement and Joliet Lease 
Agreement and determined the leases meet the definition of a sales-type lease, including the land component of Caesars Palace 
Las Vegas. Accordingly, we will reclassify the land component of Caesars Palace Las Vegas from Investments in leases - 
operating to Investments in leases - sales-type. Further, as a result of the reclassifications of the Caesars Lease Agreements from 
direct financing and operating leases to sales-type leases subsequent to June 30, 2020, we will be required to record the 
investments at their estimated fair values as of the modification date and recognize a gain or loss equal to the difference in fair 
value of the asset and its carrying value immediately prior to the modification. Subsequent to the consummation of the Eldorado 
Transaction, we will no longer have any leases classified as direct financing or operating and, as such, there will no longer be 
any amounts recorded through Investments in leases - operating. Refer to Note 4 - Property Transactions for further discussion 
surrounding the lease modifications.

We have determined that the land and building components of the Margaritaville Lease Agreement, the Greektown Lease 
Agreement, the Hard Rock Cincinnati Lease Agreement and the Century Portfolio Lease Agreement meet the definition of a 
sales-type lease under ASC 842.

Investments in Leases - Financing Receivables, net

For leases determined to be sales-type leases, we further assess to determine whether the transaction is considered a sale 
leaseback transaction. If we determine that the lease meets the definition for a sale leaseback transaction, the lease is considered 
a lease financing receivable and is accounted for in accordance with ASC 310 “Receivables” (“ASC 310”). The accounting for 
a lease as an investment in leases - financing receivable under ASC 310 is materially consistent with the accounting for our 
investments in leases - direct financing and sales-type under ASC 842. We determined that the land and building components of 
the JACK Cleveland/Thistledown Lease Agreement meets the definition of a sales-type lease and further meets the definition 
for a sale leaseback transaction. As such, the JACK Cleveland/Thistledown Lease Agreement is accounted for in accordance 
with ASC 310 and presented as Investments in leases - financing receivables on our Balance Sheet, net of allowance for credit 
losses.

Upon the consummation of the Eldorado Transaction on July 20, 2020, and reassessment of the classification of the Caesars 
Lease Agreements, as described above, we determined that the MTA Properties Acquisitions, as defined in Note 4 - Property 
Transaction, meet the definition of a separate contract under ASC 842. In accordance with this guidance, we are required to 
separately assess the lease classification apart from the other assets in the Regional Master Lease Agreement. We determined 
that the MTA Properties (as defined in Note 4 - Property Transactions) will meet the definition of a sales-type lease and will 
further meet the definition of a sale leaseback transaction under ASC 842. Accordingly, subsequent to July 20, 2020, the MTA 
Properties will be accounted for as Investments in leases - financing receivables in accordance with ASC 310. 

Investments in Loans, net

Investments in loans, representing our investment in the ROV Loan (as defined in Note 4 - Property Transactions), are held-for-
investment and are carried at historical cost, net of unamortized loan origination costs and fees and allowances for credit losses. 
Income is recognized on an effective interest basis at a constant rate of return over the life of the related loan. 

Lease Term

We assess the noncancelable lease term under ASC 842, which includes any reasonably assured renewal periods. All of our 
Lease Agreements provide for an initial term, with multiple tenant renewal options. We have individually assessed all of our 
Lease Agreements and concluded that the lease term includes all of the periods covered by extension options as it is reasonably 
certain our tenants will renew the Lease Agreements. We believe our tenants are economically compelled to renew the Lease 
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Agreements due to the importance of our real estate to the operation of their business, the significant capital they have invested 
in our properties and the lack of suitable replacement assets.  

Income from Leases and Lease Financing Receivables

We recognize the related income from our direct financing leases, sales-type leases and lease financing receivables on an 
effective interest basis at a constant rate of return over the terms of the applicable leases. As a result, the cash payments 
accounted for under direct financing leases, sales-type leases and lease financing receivables will not equal income from our 
Lease Agreements. Rather, a portion of the cash rent we receive is recorded as Income from direct financing and sales-type 
leases or Income from lease financing receivables and loans, as applicable, in our Statement of Operations and a portion is 
recorded as a change to Investments in leases - direct financing and sales-type, net or Investments in leases - financing 
receivables, net, as applicable. 

Under ASC 840, we determined that the land component of Caesars Palace Las Vegas was greater than 25% of the overall fair 
value of the combined land and building components. At lease inception the land was determined to be an operating lease and 
we recorded the related income on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The amount of annual minimum lease payments 
attributable to the land element after deducting executory costs, including any profit thereon, was determined by applying the 
lessee’s incremental borrowing rate to the value of the land. Revenue from this lease was recorded as Income from operating 
leases in our Statement of Operations. Upon the consummation of the Eldorado Transaction on July 20, 2020, the land 
component of Caesars Palace Las Vegas was reassessed for lease classification and determined to be a sales-type lease. 
Accordingly, subsequent to July 20, 2020, the income will be recognized as Income from sales-type leases.

Initial direct costs incurred in connection with entering into investments classified as direct financing or sales-type leases are 
included in the balance of the net investment in lease. Such amounts will be recognized as a reduction to Income from 
investments in leases over the life of the lease using the effective interest method. Costs that would have been incurred 
regardless of whether the lease was signed, such as legal fees and certain other third-party fees, are expensed as incurred to 
Transaction and acquisition expenses in our Statement of Operations. 

Loan origination fees and costs incurred in connection with entering into investments classified as lease financing receivables 
are included in the balance of the net investment and such amounts will be recognized as a reduction to Income from 
investments in loans and lease financing receivables over the life of the lease using the effective interest method.

Allowance for Credit Losses

On January 1, 2020, we adopted ASC 326 - “Credit Losses” (“ASC 326”) which requires that we measure and record current 
expected credit losses (“CECL”) for the majority of our investments, the scope of which includes our investments in leases - 
direct financing and sales-type, investment in leases - financing receivables and investments in loans. 

We have elected to use a discounted cash flow model to estimate the CECL allowance. This model requires us to develop cash 
flows which project estimated credit losses over the life of the lease or loan and discount these cash flows at the asset’s 
effective interest rate. We then record a CECL allowance equal to the difference between the amortized cost basis of the asset 
and the present value of the expected cash flows. 

Expected losses within our cash flows are determined by estimating the probability of default (“PD”) and loss given default 
(“LGD”) of our tenants and their parent guarantors over the life of each individual lease or financial asset. We have engaged a 
nationally recognized data analytics firm to assist us with estimating both the PD and LGD of our tenants and their parent 
guarantors. The PD and LGD are estimated during a reasonable and supportable period for which we believe we are able to 
estimate future economic conditions (the “R&S Period”) and a long-term period for which we revert to long-term historical 
averages (the “Long-term Period”). The PD and LGD estimates for the R&S Period are developed using the current financial 
condition of the tenant and applied to a projection of economic conditions over a two-year term. The PD and LGD for the 
Long-term Period are estimated using the average historical default rates and historical loss rates, respectively, of public 
companies over the past 35 years that have similar credit profiles or characteristics to our tenants and their parent guarantors. 
We were unable to use our historical data to estimate losses as we have no loss history to date. 

The CECL allowance is recorded as a reduction to our net Investments in leases - direct financing and sales type, Investments in 
leases - financing receivables and Investments in loans on our Balance Sheet. We are required to update our CECL allowance 
on a quarterly basis with the resulting change being recorded in the Statement of Operations for the relevant period. Finally, 
each time we make a new investment in an asset subject to ASC 326, we are required to record an initial CECL allowance for 
such asset, which will result in a non-cash charge to the Statement of Operations for the relevant period.
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To the extent we have contractual commitments to extend credit, such as those under revolving credit facilities, we are required 
to estimate a CECL allowance related to these future funding commitments. The CECL allowance related to these future 
commitments is recorded as a component of Other liabilities on our Balance Sheet. As of June 30, 2020, we did not have any 
contractual commitments to extend credit. 

Write-offs are deducted from the allowance in the period in which they are deemed uncollectible. Recoveries previously written 
off are recorded when received. There were no write-offs or recoveries for the three and six months ended June 30, 2020.

Refer to Note 6 - Allowance for Credit Losses for further information.

Impairment

We assess our investments in operating leases, land and property and equipment used in operations for impairment under ASC 
360 - “Property, Plant and Equipment” (“ASC 360”) on a quarterly basis or whenever certain events or changes in 
circumstances indicate a possible impairment of the carrying value of the asset. Events or circumstances that may occur include 
changes in management’s intended holding period or potential sale to a third party, significant changes in real estate market 
conditions or tenant financial difficulties resulting in non-payment of the lease.  

Impairments are measured as the amount by which the current book value of the asset exceeds the estimated fair value of the 
asset. With respect to estimated expected future cash flows for determining whether an asset is impaired, assets are grouped at 
the lowest level of identifiable cash flows.

Other income and Other expenses

Other income primarily represents sub-lease income related to certain ground and use leases, the cost of which is passed to our 
tenants through the Lease Agreements, which require the tenants to pay all costs associated with such ground and use leases and 
provides for their direct payment to the landlord. This income and the related expense are recorded on a gross basis in our 
Statement of Operations as required under GAAP as we are the primary obligor under the ground and use leases. 

We previously recorded the sub-lease income as a component of General and administrative expenses on a net basis with the 
sub-lease expense. In the prior quarter, we re-classified these amounts to be presented gross in Other income with an offsetting 
amount in Other expenses within the Statement of Operations. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2019, such amounts, 
included net in General and administrative expenses, were $0.7 million and $1.4 million, respectively.

Fair Value Measurements 

We measure the fair value of financial instruments based on assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset 
or liability. As a basis for considering market participant assumptions in fair value measurements, a fair value hierarchy 
distinguishes between market participant assumptions based on market data obtained from sources independent of the reporting 
entity and the reporting entity’s own assumptions about market participant assumptions. In accordance with the fair value 
hierarchy, Level 1 assets/liabilities are valued based on quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets, Level 2 assets/
liabilities are valued based on quoted prices in active markets for similar instruments, on quoted prices in less active or inactive 
markets or on other “observable” market inputs, and Level 3 assets/liabilities are valued based significantly on “unobservable” 
market inputs.

Refer to Note 10 - Fair Value for further information. 

Derivative Financial Instruments 

We record our derivative financial instruments as either Other assets or Other liabilities on our Balance Sheet at fair value.

The accounting for changes in the fair value of derivatives depends on the intended use of the derivative, whether we elected to 
designate a derivative in a hedging relationship and apply hedge accounting and whether the hedging relationship has satisfied 
the criteria necessary to apply hedge accounting. Derivatives designated and qualifying as a hedge of the exposure to variability 
in expected future cash flows are considered cash flow hedges. We formally document our hedge relationships and designation 
at the contract’s inception. This documentation includes the identification of the hedging instruments and the hedged items, its 
risk management objectives, strategy for undertaking the hedge transaction and our evaluation of the effectiveness of its hedged 
transaction.

On a quarterly basis, we also assess whether the derivative we designated in each hedging relationship is expected to be, and 
has been, highly effective in offsetting changes in the value or cash flows of the hedged items. If it is determined that a 
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derivative is not highly effective at hedging the designated exposure, hedge accounting is discontinued and the changes in fair 
value of the instrument are included in net income prospectively. If the hedge relationship is terminated, then the value of the 
derivative is recorded in Accumulated other comprehensive income and recognized in earnings when the cash flows that were 
hedged affect earnings. Changes in the fair value of our derivative instruments that qualify as hedges are reported as a 
component of Accumulated other comprehensive loss on our consolidated financial statements. 

We use derivative instruments to mitigate the effects of interest rate volatility inherent in our variable rate debt, which could 
unfavorably impact our future earnings and forecasted cash flows. We do not use derivative instruments for speculative or 
trading purposes.

Concentrations of Credit Risk 

Pre-Merger Caesars was the guarantor of all the lease payment obligations of the tenants under the respective leases of the 
properties that it leases from us, with the exception of Harrah’s Las Vegas, which was guaranteed by a subsidiary of Pre-Merger 
Caesars. In connection with the consummation of the Eldorado Transaction, Caesars replaced Pre-Merger Caesars as guarantor 
of all of the Caesars Lease Agreements. Revenue from the Caesars Lease Agreements represented 80% and 81% of our lease 
revenues for the three and six months ended June 30, 2020, respectively, and 95% and 96% of our lease revenues for the three 
and six months ended June 30, 2019, respectively. Additionally, our properties on the Las Vegas Strip generated approximately 
28% and 29% of our lease revenue for the three and six months ended June 30, 2020, respectively, and 34% and 34% of our 
lease revenue for the three and six months ended June 30, 2019, respectively. Other than having a single tenant from which we 
derive and will continue to derive a substantial portion of our revenue and our concentration in the Las Vegas market, we do not 
believe there are any other significant concentrations of credit risk.

Note 3 — Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements 

Accounting Pronouncements Recently Adopted

Accounting Standard Update (“ASU”) No. 2016-13 - Financial Instruments-Credit Losses (Topic 326) - June 2016 (as 
amended through February 2020): This amended guidance changes how entities measure credit losses for most financial assets 
and certain other instruments, including direct financing and sales-type leases, that are not measured at fair value through net 
income. The guidance replaces the current “incurred loss” model with an “expected loss” approach, which will generally result 
in earlier recognition of allowance for credit losses. 

As a result of the guidance, we are required to estimate and record non-cash credit losses related to our Investments in leases - 
direct financing and sales-type, Investments in lease - financing receivables and loans and expand our credit quality disclosures. 
The new standard did not materially impact any of our other financial assets or instruments that we currently have on our 
Balance Sheet. 

We adopted the guidance on January 1, 2020 using the modified retrospective approach method of adoption. Under this method 
we recorded a cumulative-effect adjustment to our opening Balance Sheet as a reduction in our Investments in leases - direct 
financing and sales-type and a corresponding charge to retained (deficit) earnings. Such amount was determined by applying 
our methodology for estimating allowances for credit losses to our existing Investments in leases - direct financing and sales-
type as of January 1, 2020, which resulted in a $309.4 million cumulative adjustment, representing a 2.88% credit allowance 
upon adoption. Periods prior to the adoption date that are presented for comparative purposes are not adjusted.

Each time we enter into a new direct financing or sales-type lease, lease financing receivable or loan, we will be required to 
estimate a credit allowance which will result in a non-cash charge to the Statement of Operations and a corresponding reduction 
in our net investment in the asset. Finally, each reporting period we are required to update the estimated allowance for any 
estimated changes in the credit loss, with the resulting change being recorded on the Statement of Operations and a 
corresponding change in our net investment in the asset.

Table of Contents
VICI PROPERTIES INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(UNAUDITED)

16



Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

ASU No. 2020-04 - Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848) - March 2020: This amended guidance contains practical expedients 
for reference rate reform related activities that impact debt, leases, derivatives and other contracts. Specifically, the amendment 
provides accounting expedients related to probability and the assessments of effectiveness for future LIBOR-indexed cash 
flows to assume that the index upon which future hedged transactions will be based matches the index on the corresponding 
derivatives. Application of these expedients preserves the presentation of derivatives consistent with past presentation. The 
guidance in ASU 2020-04 is optional and may be elected over time as reference rate reform activities occur. We continue to 
evaluate the impact of the guidance and may apply the elections as and when applicable. 

Note 4 — Property Transactions 

2020 Transactions

Our significant activities in 2020, in reverse chronological order, are as follows:

Consummation of the Eldorado Transaction

Subsequent to June 30, 2020, on July 20, 2020, concurrent with the consummation of the Eldorado/Caesars Merger, we 
consummated the Eldorado Transaction contemplated by the MTA and the MTA Property Purchase Agreements (as defined 
below). We funded the Eldorado Transaction with a combination of cash on hand, the proceeds from the physical settlement of 
the June 2019 Forward Sale Agreements on June 2, 2020, as described in Note 12 - Stockholders’ Equity, and the proceeds 
from our February 2020 Senior Unsecured Notes offering previously held in escrow. Any references to Caesars in the 
subsequent transaction discussion refer to the combined Eldorado/Caesars subsequent to the consummation of the Eldorado/
Caesars Merger.

The closing of the Eldorado Transaction includes the consummation of the transactions contemplated by the following 
agreements:

• Acquisition of the MTA Properties. We acquired all of the land and real estate assets associated with Harrah’s New 
Orleans, Harrah’s Laughlin and Harrah’s Atlantic City (collectively, the “MTA Properties”) for an aggregate 
purchase price of $1,823.5 million (the “MTA Properties Acquisitions”). The Regional Master Lease Agreement was 
amended to, among other things, include each such property, with initial aggregate total annual rent payable to us 
increased by $154.0 million to $621.7 million, and to extend the initial term to July 2035 and to adjust certain 
minimum capital expenditure requirements and other related terms and conditions as a result of the MTA Properties 
being included in the Regional Master Lease Agreement as further described in “—Lease Amendments and 
Terminations” below. We completed the MTA Properties Acquisitions pursuant to the following agreements: (i) a 
Purchase and Sale Agreement (the “Harrah’s New Orleans Purchase Agreement”) pursuant to which we agreed to 
acquire, and Eldorado agreed to cause to be sold, all of the fee and leasehold interests in the land and real property 
improvements associated with Harrah’s New Orleans in New Orleans, Louisiana (“Harrah’s New Orleans”) for a cash 
purchase price of $789.5 million, (ii) a Purchase and Sale Agreement (the “Harrah’s Atlantic City Purchase 
Agreement”) pursuant to which we agreed to acquire, and Eldorado agreed to cause to be sold, all of the land and real 
property improvements associated with Harrah’s Resort Atlantic City and Harrah’s Atlantic City Waterfront 
Conference Center in Atlantic City, New Jersey for a cash purchase price of $599.3 million; and (iii) a Purchase and 
Sale Agreement (the “Harrah’s Laughlin Purchase Agreement” and, collectively with the Harrah’s New Orleans 
Purchase Agreement and the Harrah’s Atlantic City Purchase Agreement, the “MTA Property Purchase Agreements”) 
pursuant to which we agreed to acquire, and Eldorado agreed to cause to be sold, all of the equity interests in a newly 
formed entity that acquired the land and real property improvements associated with Harrah’s Laughlin Hotel & 
Casino in Laughlin, Nevada for a cash purchase price of $434.8 million. Each of our existing call options on the 
MTA Properties terminated upon the closing of the MTA Properties Acquisitions.

On July 20, 2020, in connection with the completion of the purchase of Harrah’s New Orleans, the tenant’s leasehold 
interest in that certain Second Amended and Restated Lease Agreement (the “Ground Lease”) dated as of April 3, 
2020, by and among Jazz Casino Company, L.L.C., a Louisiana limited liability company (“JCC”), New Orleans 
Building Corporation (“NOBC”) and the City of New Orleans, was assigned by JCC to us. The Ground Lease sets 
forth the terms and conditions pursuant to which we lease from NOBC a portion of the land upon which Harrah’s 
New Orleans is located. Simultaneous with entering into the assignment of the Ground Lease, we subleased our 
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interest in the Ground Lease to Caesars in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Regional Master Lease 
Agreement.  

Pursuant to the Regional Master Lease Agreement, Caesars is required to perform our obligations as tenant under the 
Ground Lease, which include the obligation to construct a new hotel intended to be located on the ground-leased 
premises and to expend at least $325.0 million in connection with the construction of such hotel. The Ground Lease 
contains certain rights in our favor should Caesars fail to perform our obligations thereunder, including providing us 
with additional cure periods to cure defaults. If we are unable to cure a Caesars default during any such additional 
cure period, then, subject to certain conditions more particularly set forth in the Ground Lease, we will have a further 
additional period (up to 12-24 months) to seek to terminate Caesars as tenant and to enter into a replacement sublease 
with a new operator with respect to the leased premises. If we fail to cure such default at the end of such additional 
cure period, NOBC would have the right to exercise remedies, including termination of the Ground Lease, in which 
case we would no longer have any right, title or interest to the leased premises or the improvements located thereon.

• Creation of Las Vegas Master Lease. In consideration of a payment by us to (i) the tenant under the CPLV Lease 
Agreement of $1,189.9 million (the “CPLV Lease Amendment Payment”) and (ii) the tenant under the HLV Lease 
Agreement of $213.8 million (the “HLV Lease Amendment Payment”), upon the consummation of the Eldorado 
Transaction, (a) the CPLV Lease Agreement was amended to (A) combine the CPLV Lease Agreement and the HLV 
Lease Agreement into a single Las Vegas Master Lease Agreement, (B) increase the annual rent payable to us 
thereunder associated with Caesars Palace Las Vegas by $83.5 million (the “CPLV Additional Rent Acquisition”), 
(C) increase the annual rent previously payable to us with respect to the Harrah’s Las Vegas property by 
$15.0 million (the “HLV Additional Rent Acquisition”) under the Las Vegas Master Lease Agreement and (D) to 
provide for the amended terms described below, and (b) the HLV Lease Agreement and the related lease guaranty 
were terminated. As a result of such amendments, the Harrah’s Las Vegas property is also now subject to the higher 
rent escalator under the Las Vegas Master Lease Agreement. 

• Lease Amendments and Terminations. Each of the Caesars Lease Agreements was amended to, among other things, 
(i) remove the rent coverage floors, which coverage floors served to reduce the rent escalators under such leases in 
the event that the “EBITDAR to Rent Ratio” (as defined in the applicable Caesars Lease Agreements) coverage was 
below the stated floor and (ii) extend the term of each such lease by such additional period of time as necessary to 
ensure that each lease will have a full 15-year initial lease term following the consummation of the Eldorado 
Transaction. The Regional Master Lease Agreement was also amended to, among other things: (a) permit the tenant 
under the Regional Master Lease Agreement to cause facilities subject to the Regional Master Lease Agreement that 
in the aggregate represent up to five percent of the aggregate EBITDAR of (A) all of the facilities under such 
Regional Master Lease Agreement and (B) the Harrah’s Joliet facility, for the 2018 fiscal year (defined as the “2018 
EBITDAR Pool” in the Regional Master Lease Agreement, without giving effect to any increase in the 2018 
EBITDAR Pool as a result of a facility being added to the Regional Master Lease Agreement) to be sold (whereby the 
tenant and landlord under the Regional Master Lease Agreement would sell the operations and real estate, 
respectively, with respect to such facility), provided, among other things, that (1) we and Caesars mutually agree to 
the split of proceeds from such sales, (2) such sales do not result in any impairment(s)/asset write down(s) by us, (3) 
rent under the Regional Master Lease Agreement remains unchanged following such sale and (4) the sale does not 
result in us recognizing certain taxable gain; (b) restrict the ability of the tenant thereunder to transfer and sell the 
operating business of Harrah’s New Orleans and Harrah’s Atlantic City to replacement tenants without our consent 
and remove such restrictions with respect to Horseshoe Southern Indiana (in connection with the restrictions applying 
to Harrah’s New Orleans) and Horseshoe Bossier City (in connection with the restrictions applying to Harrah’s 
Atlantic City), provided that the tenant under the Regional Master Lease Agreement may only sell such properties if 
certain terms and conditions are met, including that replacement tenants meet certain criteria provided in the Regional 
Master Lease Agreement; and (c) require that the tenant under the Regional Master Lease Agreement complete and 
pay for all capital improvements and other payments, costs and expenses related to the extension of the existing 
operating license with respect to Harrah’s New Orleans, including, without limitation, any such payments, costs and 
expenses required to be made to the City of New Orleans, the State of Louisiana or any other governmental body or 
agency. 

Caesars has executed new guaranties with respect to the Las Vegas Master Lease Agreement (the “Las Vegas Lease 
Guaranty”), the Regional Master Lease Agreement (the “Regional Lease Guaranty”) and the Joliet Lease Agreement 
(the “Joliet Lease Guaranty” and, together with the Las Vegas Lease Guaranty and the Regional Lease Guaranty, the 

Table of Contents
VICI PROPERTIES INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(UNAUDITED)

18



“Caesars Guaranties”), guaranteeing the prompt and complete payment and performance in full of: (i) all monetary 
obligations of the tenants under the Caesars Lease Agreements, including all rent and other sums payable by the 
tenants under the Caesars Lease Agreements and any obligation to pay monetary damages in connection with any 
breach and to pay any indemnification obligations of the tenants under the Caesars Lease Agreements; and (ii) the 
performance when due of all other covenants, agreements and requirements to be performed and satisfied by the 
tenants under the Caesars Lease Agreements.

In connection with entering into the amendments to the Caesars Lease Agreements and the Caesars Guaranties 
described above, we and Caesars terminated the Management and Lease Support Agreements, dated as of October 6, 
2017, with respect to each of the Caesars Lease Agreements, pursuant to which, among other things, Pre-Merger 
Caesars previously guaranteed the tenants’ monetary obligations under the Caesars Lease Agreements and the 
Guaranty of Lease dated as of December 22, 2017 pursuant to which, among other things, a subsidiary of Pre-Merger 
Caesars guaranteed the tenant’s obligations under the HLV Lease Agreement.

• Centaur Properties Put-Call Agreement. Prior to the consummation of the Eldorado Transaction, we were party to a 
right of first refusal agreement with affiliates of Pre-Merger Caesars with respect to two gaming facilities in Indiana - 
Harrah’s Hoosier Park and Indiana Grand (together, the “Centaur Properties”). Upon the consummation of the 
Eldorado Transaction, the Second Amended and Restated Right of First Refusal Agreement between us and Pre-
Merger Caesars terminated in accordance with its terms, which included the right of first refusal that we had with 
respect to the Centaur Properties, and we entered into a Put-Call Right Agreement with Caesars (the “Centaur Put-
Call Agreement”), whereby (i) we have the right to acquire all of the land and real estate assets associated with the 
Centaur Properties at a price equal to 13.0x the initial annual rent of each facility (determined as provided below), and 
to simultaneously lease back each such property to a subsidiary of Caesars for initial annual rent equal to the 
property’s trailing four quarters EBITDA at the time of acquisition divided by 1.3 (i.e., the initial annual rent will be 
set at 1.3x rent coverage) and (ii) Caesars will have the right to require us to acquire the Centaur Properties at a price 
equal to 12.5x the initial annual rent of each facility, and to simultaneously lease back each such Centaur Property to 
a subsidiary of Caesars for initial annual rent equal to the property’s trailing four quarters EBITDA at the time of 
acquisition divided by 1.3 (i.e., the initial annual rent will be set at 1.3x rent coverage). Either party will be able to 
trigger its respective put or call, as applicable, beginning on January 1, 2022 and ending on December 31, 2024. The 
Centaur Put-Call Agreement provides that the leaseback of the Centaur Properties will be implemented through the 
addition of the Centaur Properties to the Regional Master Lease Agreement.

• Amended and Restated Caesars Forum Convention Center Put-Call Agreement. Upon the consummation of the 
Eldorado Transaction, we entered into an Amended and Restated Put-Call Right Agreement (the “A&R Convention 
Center Put-Call Agreement”) with Caesars amending and restating that certain put-call agreement related 
approximately 28 acres of land upon which the Caesars Forum Convention Center is built and/or otherwise used in 
connection with or necessary for the operation of the Caesars Forum Convention Center (collectively, the “Caesars 
Forum Convention Center”). The A&R Convention Center Put-Call Agreement provides (i) a put right in favor of 
Caesars, which, if exercised, would result in the sale by Caesars to us and simultaneous leaseback by us to Caesars, of 
the Caesars Forum Convention Center (the “Convention Center Put Right”), which may be exercised by Caesars 
between January 1, 2024 and December 31, 2024 at a price equal to 13.0x the initial annual rent for Caesars Forum 
Convention Center as proposed by Caesars (which shall be between $25.0 million and $35.0 million), (ii) if Caesars 
exercises the Convention Center Put Right and, among other things, the sale of the Caesars Forum Convention Center 
to us does not close for certain reasons more particularly described in the A&R Convention Center Put-Call 
Agreement, a repurchase right in favor of Caesars, which, if exercised, would result in the sale of Harrah’s Las Vegas 
by us to Caesars (the “HLV Repurchase Right”), which may be exercised by Caesars during a one-year period 
commencing on the date upon which the closing under the Convention Center Put Right transaction does not occur 
and ending on the day immediately preceding the one-year anniversary thereof for a price equal to 13.0x the rent of 
Harrah’s Las Vegas for the most recently ended annual period for which Caesars’ financial statements are available as 
of Caesars’ election to exercise the HLV Repurchase Right and (iii) a call right in our favor, which, if exercised, 
would result in the sale by Caesars to us and simultaneous leaseback by us to Caesars of the Caesars Forum 
Convention Center (the “Convention Center Call Right”), which currently may be exercised by us between January 1, 
2027 and December 31, 2027 at a price equal to 13.0x the initial annual rent for Caesars Forum Convention Center as 
proposed by Caesars (which shall be between $25.0 million and $35.0 million). In addition, in connection with the 
consummation of the Forum Convention Center Mortgage Loan described below, we will amend the A&R 
Convention Center Put-Call Agreement to, among other things, accelerate the exercise date of the Convention Center 
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Call Right to begin on the scheduled maturity date of the Forum Convention Center Mortgage Loan, as described 
below in “—Caesars Forum Convention Center Mortgage Loan and Las Vegas Land Acquisition”. 

• Las Vegas Strip Assets ROFR. Upon the consummation of the Eldorado Transaction, we entered into a right of first 
refusal agreement with Caesars (the “Las Vegas Strip ROFR Agreement”) pursuant to which we have the first right, 
with respect to the first two Las Vegas Strip assets described below that Caesars proposes to sell, whether pursuant to 
a sale leaseback or a WholeCo sale, to a third party, to acquire any such asset (it being understood that we will have 
the opportunity to find an operating company should Caesars elect to pursue a WholeCo sale). The Las Vegas Strip 
assets subject to the Las Vegas Strip ROFR Agreement are the land and real estate assets associated (i) with respect to 
the first such asset subject to the Las Vegas Strip ROFR Agreement, the Flamingo Las Vegas, Paris Las Vegas, 
Planet Hollywood and Bally’s Las Vegas gaming facilities, and (ii) with respect to the second asset subject to the Las 
Vegas Strip ROFR Agreement, the foregoing assets plus The LINQ gaming facility. If we enter into a sale leaseback 
transaction with Caesars on any of these facilities, the leaseback may be implemented through the addition of such 
properties to the Las Vegas Master Lease Agreement.

• Horseshoe Baltimore ROFR. Upon the consummation of the Eldorado Transaction, we entered into a right of first 
refusal agreement with Caesars pursuant to which we will have the first right to enter into a sale leaseback transaction 
with respect to the land and real estate assets associated with the Horseshoe Baltimore gaming facility (subject to any 
consent required from Caesars’ joint venture partners with respect to this asset).

• CPLV CMBS Refinancing. We were obligated to cause the CPLV CMBS Debt to be repaid in full prior to the 
consummation of the Eldorado/Caesars Merger. In November 2019, we repaid the CPLV CMBS Debt in full 
resulting in a prepayment penalty of $110.8 million, of which $55.4 million was reimbursed by Caesars upon the 
consummation of the Eldorado Transaction in accordance with the MTA as follows: $31.0 million was paid to us in 
cash, $20.5 million was credited to us as a reduction in the CPLV Lease Amendment Payment and $3.9 million was 
credited to us as a reduction in the HLV Lease Amendment Payment.

• Eldorado Bridge Facilities. On June 24, 2019, in connection with the Eldorado Transaction, VICI PropCo entered 
into a commitment letter (the “Commitment Letter”) with Deutsche Bank Securities Inc. and Deutsche Bank AG 
Cayman Islands Branch (collectively, the “Bridge Lender”), pursuant to which and subject to the terms and 
conditions set forth therein, the Bridge Lender has agreed to provide (i) a 364-day first lien secured bridge facility of 
up to $3.3 billion in the aggregate (the “Eldorado Senior Bridge Facility”) and (ii) a 364-day second lien secured 
bridge facility of up to $1.5 billion in the aggregate (the “Eldorado Junior Bridge Facility,” and, together with the 
Eldorado Senior Bridge Facility, the “Bridge Facilities”), for the purpose of providing a portion of the financing 
necessary to fund the Eldorado Transaction. The commitments under the Bridge Facilities were fully terminated at 
our election in June 2020.

JACK Lease Agreement Amendment and Amended and Restated ROV Loan

Subsequent to June 30, 2020, on July 16, 2020, we and JACK Entertainment entered into an amendment to the JACK 
Cleveland/Thistledown Lease Agreement (the “JACK Lease Agreement Amendment”), pursuant to which, among other things, 
we agreed to fund $18.0 million for the construction of a new gaming patio amenity at JACK Thistledown Racino, which will 
be leased by JACK Entertainment pursuant to the JACK Lease Agreement Amendment. In connection with the construction of 
the gaming patio, commencing on April 1, 2022, rent under the JACK Cleveland/Thistledown Lease Agreement (as amended 
by the JACK Lease Agreement Amendment) will be increased by an incremental $1.8 million. The JACK Lease Agreement 
Amendment also provides for relief with respect to certain existing covenants through March 31, 2022, adds an additional five 
years to the initial lease term, with the tenant under the JACK Cleveland/Thistledown Lease Agreement having three (rather 
than four) five-year renewal options as a result of such extension of the initial lease term, and provides for rent escalation to 
begin in 2022 rather than 2021. The JACK Lease Agreement Amendment does not provide for a reduction or deferral of the 
tenant’s rent obligations. The tenant’s obligations under the JACK Lease Agreement Amendment are guaranteed by Rock Ohio 
Ventures LLC (“Rock Ohio Ventures”). Pursuant to the Jack Lease Agreement Amendment, the relief provided thereunder is 
conditioned upon (i) the tenant’s timely payment of rent obligations under the JACK Cleveland/Thistledown Lease Agreement 
and (ii) no tenant event of default occurring under the JACK Cleveland/Thistledown Lease Agreement during the compliance 
period set forth in the JACK Lease Agreement Amendment.

Simultaneously with entry into the JACK Lease Agreement Amendment, we and affiliates of Rock Ohio Ventures entered into 
an amendment and restatement of our existing $50.0 million term loan agreement with such affiliates of Rock Ohio Ventures 
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(the “Amended and Restated ROV Loan”), pursuant to which, among other things, we increased our existing term loan to 
$70.0 million, which bears interest at a rate of 9.0% per annum (which interest, at the option of JACK Entertainment, may be 
paid-in-kind through April 30, 2021 with any paid-in-kind interest required to be paid in cash in eleven equal monthly 
installments ending March 31, 2022), and added a $25.0 million revolving credit facility, which bears interest at a rate of 
LIBOR plus 2.75% per annum. A commitment fee of 0.50% per annum calculated on the unused portion of the revolving credit 
facility is payable quarterly. The Amended and Restated ROV Loan, which includes the term loan and revolving credit facility, 
matures in January 2025 which maturity date may be extended at the borrower’s election for up to two additional years if 
certain conditions are satisfied. In connection with the amendment and restatement, we received additional collateral, including 
an additional land parcel in proximity to JACK Cleveland so that the loan is now secured by a first priority lien on substantially 
all gaming and non-gaming real and personal property of JACK Entertainment, including the furniture, fixtures and equipment 
associated with the properties. The amendment and restatement also provides the obligors with relief with respect to certain 
existing financial covenants through March 31, 2022.

Caesars Forum Convention Center Mortgage Loan and Las Vegas Land Acquisition 

On June 15, 2020, we entered into a non-binding letter of intent with Eldorado (the “Mortgage and Land Acquisition 
Agreement”) pursuant to which we intend to (i) lend $400.0 million to a subsidiary of Caesars (the “Forum Convention Center 
Borrower”) for a term of five years, with such loan secured by, among other things, a first priority fee mortgage on the Caesars 
Forum Convention Center (the “Forum Convention Center Mortgage Loan”) and (ii) purchase approximately 23 acres of land 
in the vicinity of, or adjacent to, The LINQ Hotel & Casino, Bally’s Las Vegas, Paris Las Vegas and Planet Hollywood gaming 
facilities (the “Las Vegas Land”) for a purchase price of $4.5 million per acre (the “Las Vegas Land Acquisition”).

Each of the Forum Convention Center Mortgage Loan and the Las Vegas Land Acquisition is cross-conditioned on the 
consummation of the other. In addition, the Forum Convention Center Mortgage Loan and the Las Vegas Land Acquisition are 
each subject to, among other things, the completion of due diligence and negotiation of definitive documentation and is 
expected to close in the third quarter of 2020. However, we can provide no assurances that the Forum Convention Center 
Mortgage Loan or the Las Vegas Land Acquisition will close in the anticipated timeframe, on the contemplated terms or at all. 
We intend to fund the Forum Convention Center Mortgage Loan and the Las Vegas Land Acquisition with the proceeds from 
the expected physical settlement of the June 2020 Forward Sale Agreement.

Forum Convention Center Mortgage Loan

The Forum Convention Center Mortgage Loan will be in an amount of $400.0 million and will have a term of five years. The 
interest rate on the Forum Convention Center Mortgage Loan initially will be 7.7% per annum, with payments subject to 2.0% 
annual escalation, with interest paid monthly in cash in arrears. Except as provided below, no prepayments will be permitted 
during the first two years of the term of the Forum Convention Center Mortgage Loan. During the third and fourth years of the 
term of the Forum Convention Center Mortgage Loan, the Forum Convention Center Borrower may prepay the Forum 
Convention Center Mortgage Loan, in each case in full but not in part, at 102% of par in year three and 101% of par in year 
four. During the fifth year of the term of the Forum Convention Center Mortgage Loan, the Forum Convention Center 
Borrower may prepay the Forum Convention Center Mortgage Loan in full but not in part at par. However, the Forum 
Convention Center Mortgage Loan may be prepaid at any time at par, without penalty or make-whole, in connection with our 
acquisition of the land and real estate assets associated with the Caesars Forum Convention Center and an OpCo sale and 
conversion to an OpCo/PropCo structure, subject to our consent, which may be withheld in our sole discretion. 

The Forum Convention Center Mortgage Loan will be secured by a first priority mortgage on the Caesars Forum Convention 
Center that is currently owned by Caesars, including, without limitation the Caesars Forum Convention Center, as well as a first 
priority lien on the equity interests in the Forum Convention Center Borrower, a first priority security interest in all of the 
Forum Convention Center Borrower’s interest in furniture, fixtures and equipment used, owned or related to the operation of 
the Caesars Forum Convention Center, and a first priority assignment of the Forum Convention Center Borrower’s interest in 
leases and rents, including a collateral assignment of the Forum Convention Center Borrower’s interest in the lease on the 
Caesars Forum Convention Center pursuant to which the Forum Convention Center Borrower will lease the Caesars Forum 
Convention Center to a subsidiary of Caesars (the “Caesars Tenant”), which lease will be fully subordinate to the Forum 
Convention Center Mortgage Loan. In addition, if the Forum Convention Center Borrower defaults on the Forum Convention 
Center Mortgage Loan and we take possession of the Caesars Forum Convention Center, we may, at our option under certain 
circumstances, assume the lease with the Caesars Tenant (which lease will be guaranteed by Caesars and have an initial annual 
rent of $33.9 million, subject to annual increases equal to the greater of 2% and the annual consumer price index increase).
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In connection with the Forum Convention Center Mortgage Loan, we will amend the A&R Convention Center Put-Call 
Agreement to include the following terms:

• The Convention Center Call Right, which is currently exercisable for the one-year period beginning January 1, 2027, 
will instead be exercisable beginning on the scheduled maturity date of the Forum Convention Center Mortgage Loan 
until December 31, 2026; and 

• If there is an event of default on the Forum Convention Center Mortgage Loan, (i) the Convention Center Put Right, 
which is currently exercisable for the one-year period commencing on January 1, 2024, will not be exercisable, and (ii) 
we, at our option, may accelerate the Convention Center Call Right so that it is exercisable from the date of such event 
of default until December 31, 2026 (in addition to any other remedies available to us in connection with such event of 
default).

Las Vegas Land Acquisition

We have agreed to purchase the Las Vegas Land for a purchase price of $4.5 million per acre. After we acquire the Las Vegas 
Land, we will grant subsidiaries of Caesars a revocable license to continue to use the property; provided, that the subsidiaries of 
Caesars will continue to pay real property taxes, insurance costs, security costs and other operating costs related to the Las 
Vegas Land (“Las Vegas Land Operating Costs”) (or such portion of the Las Vegas Land that subsidiaries of Caesars continue 
to occupy). These obligations will be guaranteed by Caesars. Upon six months’ prior written notice, we will have the right to 
require that the subsidiaries of Caesars vacate the Las Vegas Land (or any portion thereof). Upon six months’ prior written 
notice to us, the subsidiaries of Caesars may vacate the Las Vegas Land (or any portion thereof). In each case upon such 
vacancy, the subsidiaries of Caesars will no longer be responsible for Las Vegas Land Operating Costs with respect to the 
portion of the Las Vegas Land vacated. 

Omnibus Lease Amendment

On June 1, 2020, we entered into an Omnibus Amendment to Leases (the “Omnibus Amendment”) with Pre-Merger Caesars. 
Pursuant to the Omnibus Amendment, Pre-Merger Caesars, and after the consummation of the Eldorado Transaction, Caesars, 
will be granted certain relief with respect to a portion of their capital expenditure obligations under the Caesars Lease 
Agreements conditioned upon (i) funding by Caesars of certain minimum capital expenditures in fiscal year 2020 (which 
represent a reduction of the minimum capital expenditure amounts currently set forth in the Caesars Lease Agreements), (ii) 
timely payment of Caesars’ rent obligations under the Caesars Lease Agreements during the compliance period set forth in the 
Omnibus Amendment, and (iii) no tenant event of default occurring under any of the Caesars Lease Agreements during the 
compliance period set forth in the Omnibus Amendment. Caesars will receive credit for certain deemed capital expenditure 
amounts, which credit may be used to satisfy certain of their capital expenditure obligations in the 2020, 2021 and 2022 fiscal 
years, provided that the foregoing conditions are satisfied. If Caesars fails to satisfy any of the foregoing conditions, Caesars 
will be required to satisfy the capital expenditure obligations set forth in the Caesars Lease Agreements or, in certain cases, to 
deposit amounts in respect thereof into a capital expenditure reserve in accordance with the Omnibus Amendment.

Sale of Bally’s Atlantic City

On April 24, 2020, we and Caesars entered into definitive agreements to sell the Bally’s Atlantic City Hotel & Casino for 
$25.0 million to a subsidiary of Twin River Worldwide Holdings, Inc. We are entitled to receive approximately $19.0 million 
of the proceeds from the sale and Caesars is entitled to approximately $6.0 million of the proceeds. The annual rent payments 
under the Regional Master Lease Agreement will remain unchanged following completion of the disposition, which we 
anticipate will close by the end of the year and remains subject to regulatory approval and customary closing conditions.

Closing of Purchase of JACK Cleveland/Thistledown

On January 24, 2020, we completed the previously announced transaction to acquire the casino-entitled land and real estate and 
related assets of the JACK Cleveland Casino (“JACK Cleveland”), located in Cleveland, Ohio and the JACK Thistledown 
Racino (“JACK Thistledown”) located in North Randall, Ohio (the “JACK Cleveland/Thistledown Acquisition”) from JACK 
Entertainment, for approximately $843.3 million. Simultaneous with the closing of the JACK Cleveland/Thistledown 
Acquisition, we entered into a master triple-net lease agreement for JACK Cleveland and JACK Thistledown with a subsidiary 
of JACK Entertainment. The lease has an initial total annual rent of $65.9 million and an initial term of 15 years, with four five-
year tenant renewal options. The tenant’s obligations under the lease are guaranteed by Rock Ohio Ventures. Additionally, we 
made a $50.0 million loan (the “ROV Loan”) to affiliates of Rock Ohio Ventures secured by, among other things, certain non-
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gaming real estate assets owned by such affiliates and guaranteed by Rock Ohio Ventures. The terms of the JACK Cleveland/
Thistledown Lease Agreement and the Amended and Restated ROV Loan were subsequently amended on July 16, 2020 as 
described above under “— JACK Lease Agreement Amendment and the Amended and Restated ROV Loan.” We determined 
that the land and building components of the JACK Cleveland/Thistledown Acquisition meet the definition of a sales-type lease 
and further meet the definition of a sale leaseback transaction as defined in ASC 842. Accordingly, we have classified these 
assets as Investments in leases - financing receivables on our Balance Sheet as a sale leaseback transaction that is accounted for 
as a lease financing receivable under ASC 310. 

2019 Transactions

Our significant activities in 2019, in reverse chronological order, are as follows:

Sale of Harrah’s Reno

On December 31, 2019, we and Caesars entered into a definitive agreement to sell the Harrah’s Reno asset to a third party, 
which agreement was amended on May 29, 2020. The purchase price for Harrah’s Reno is $41.5 million (which reflects a 
purchase price adjustment of $8.5 million). We are entitled to receive 75% of the proceeds of the sale and Caesars is entitled to 
receive 25% of the proceeds. The annual rent payments under the Regional Master Lease Agreement will remain unchanged 
following completion of the disposition, which we anticipate will close by the end of the year and remains subject to customary 
closing conditions.

Closing of Purchase of Century Portfolio

On December 6, 2019, we completed the previously announced transaction to acquire the Century Portfolio, comprised of the 
land and real estate assets of (i) Mountaineer Casino, Racetrack & Resort located in New Cumberland, West Virginia, (ii) Lady 
Luck Casino Caruthersville located in Caruthersville, Missouri, and (iii) Isle Casino Cape Girardeau located in Cape Girardeau, 
Missouri from affiliates of Eldorado, for approximately $277.8 million, and a subsidiary of Century Casinos acquired the 
operating assets of the Century Portfolio for approximately $107.2 million (together, the “Century Portfolio Acquisition”). 
Simultaneous with the closing of the Century Portfolio Acquisition, we entered into a master triple-net lease agreement for the 
Century Portfolio with a subsidiary of Century Casinos. The Century Portfolio Lease Agreement has an aggregate initial total 
annual rent of $25.0 million and an initial term of 15 years, with four five-year tenant renewal options. The tenants’ obligations 
under the Century Portfolio Lease Agreement are guaranteed by Century Casinos. We determined that the land and building 
components of the Century Portfolio Lease Agreement meet the definition of a sales-type lease and have recorded the 
corresponding asset, including related transaction and acquisition costs, in Investments in leases - direct financing and sales-
type on our Balance Sheet. 

Closing of Purchase of Hard Rock Cincinnati

On September 20, 2019, we completed the previously announced transaction to acquire the casino-entitled land and real estate 
and related assets of Hard Rock Cincinnati, located in Cincinnati, Ohio from affiliates of JACK Entertainment LLC, for 
approximately $558.3 million, and a subsidiary of Hard Rock acquired the operating assets of the Hard Rock Cincinnati Casino 
for $186.5 million (together, the “Hard Rock Cincinnati Acquisition”). Simultaneous with the closing of the Hard Rock 
Cincinnati Acquisition, we entered into a triple-net lease agreement for Hard Rock Cincinnati with a subsidiary of Hard Rock. 
The Hard Rock Cincinnati Lease Agreement has an initial total annual rent of $42.8 million and an initial term of 15 years, with 
four five-year tenant renewal options. The tenant’s obligations under the Hard Rock Cincinnati Lease Agreement are 
guaranteed by Seminole Hard Rock Entertainment, Inc. We determined that the land and building components of the Hard Rock 
Cincinnati Lease Agreement meet the definition of a sales-type lease and have recorded the corresponding asset, including 
related acquisition and transaction costs, in Investments in leases - direct financing and sales-type on our Balance Sheet. 

Closing of Purchase of Greektown

On May 23, 2019, we completed the previously announced transaction to acquire from affiliates of JACK Entertainment LLC 
all of the land and real estate assets associated with Greektown, for $700.0 million in cash, and an affiliate of Penn National 
acquired the operating assets of Greektown for $300.0 million in cash (together, the “Greektown Acquisition”). Simultaneous 
with the closing of the Greektown Acquisition, we entered into a triple-net lease agreement for Greektown with a subsidiary of 
Penn National. The Greektown Lease Agreement has an initial total annual rent of $55.6 million and an initial term of 15 years, 
with four five-year tenant renewal options. The tenant’s obligations under the Greektown Lease Agreement are guaranteed by 
Penn National and certain of its subsidiaries. We determined that the land and building components of the Greektown Lease 
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Agreement meet the definition of a sales-type lease and have recorded the corresponding asset, including related acquisition and 
transaction costs, in Investments in leases - direct financing and sales-type on our Balance Sheet.

Closing of Purchase of Margaritaville

On January 2, 2019, we completed the previously announced transaction to acquire the land and real estate assets of 
Margaritaville for $261.1 million. Penn National acquired the operating assets of Margaritaville for $114.9 million. 
Simultaneous with the closing of this transaction, we entered into a triple-net lease agreement with a subsidiary of Penn 
National. The Margaritaville Lease Agreement has an initial annual rent of $23.2 million and an initial term of 15 years, with 
four five-year tenant renewal options. The tenant’s obligations under the Margaritaville Lease Agreement are guaranteed by 
Penn National and certain of its subsidiaries. We determined that the land and building components of the Margaritaville Lease 
Agreement meet the definition of a sales-type lease and have recorded the corresponding asset, including related acquisition and 
transaction costs, in Investments in leases - direct financing and sales-type on our Balance Sheet. 

Note 5 — Real Estate Portfolio 

As of June 30, 2020, our real estate portfolio consisted of the following:

• Investments in leases - direct financing and sales-type, representing our investment in 26 casino assets leased on a 
triple net basis to our tenants, Caesars, Penn National, Hard Rock and Century Casinos, under eight separate lease 
agreements;

• Investments in leases - operating, representing the portion of land separately classified and accounted for under the 
operating lease model associated with our investment in Caesars Palace Las Vegas and certain operating land parcels 
contained in the Non-CPLV Lease Agreement; 

• Investments in leases - financing receivables, representing our investment in two casino assets leased on a triple net 
basis to our tenant JACK Entertainment;

• Investments in loans, representing our investment in the ROV Loan; and

• Land, representing our investment in the Eastside Property and certain non-operating, vacant land parcels contained in 
the Non-CPLV Lease Agreement.

The following is a summary of the balances of our real estate portfolio as of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019:

(In thousands) June 30, 2020 December 31, 2019
Minimum lease payments receivable under direct financing and sales-type 
leases (1)................................................................................................................ $ 31,006,569 $ 31,460,712 
Estimated residual values of leased property (not guaranteed)............................  2,525,469  2,525,469 
Gross investment in direct financing and sales-type leases.................................  33,532,038  33,986,181 
Unamortized initial direct costs............................................................................  42,712  42,819 
Less: Unearned income........................................................................................  (22,846,758)  (23,294,755) 
Less: Allowance for credit losses.........................................................................  (355,336)  — 

Investments in leases - direct financing and sales-type, net............................  10,372,656  10,734,245 
Investments in leases - operating.........................................................................  1,086,658  1,086,658 
Investments in leases - financing receivables, net................................................  812,636  — 

Total investments in leases, net.......................................................................  12,271,950  11,820,903 
Investments in loans, net......................................................................................  49,876  — 
Land......................................................................................................................  94,711  94,711 

Total Real estate portfolio............................................................................... $ 12,416,537 $ 11,915,614 
____________________
(1) Minimum lease payments do not include contingent rent, as discussed below, that may be received under the Lease Agreements.
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The following table details the components of our income from direct financing, sales-type and operating leases and lease 
financing receivables:

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
(In thousands) 2020 2019 2020 2019
Income from direct financing and sales-type leases, 
excluding contingent rent (1).................................................... $ 223,809 $ 201,549 $ 448,004 $ 397,299 
Income from operating leases (2).............................................  10,913  10,914  21,826  21,827 
Income from lease financing receivables (1) (3)........................  15,924  —  27,944  — 

Total revenue, excluding contingent rent ..........................  250,646  212,463  497,774  419,126 
Contingent rent (1)...................................................................  86  —  143  — 

Total lease revenue.............................................................  250,732  212,463  497,917  419,126 
Non-cash adjustment (4)...........................................................  3,809  (2,277)  7,063  (4,789) 
     Total contractual lease revenue.......................................... $ 254,541 $ 210,186 $ 504,980 $ 414,337 

____________________
(1) At lease inception (or upon modification), we determine the minimum lease payments under ASC 842 (or ASC 840), which exclude amounts determined to 
be contingent rent. Contingent rent is generally amounts in excess of our specified floors or the variable rent portion of our leases. The minimum lease 
payments are recognized on an effective interest basis at a constant rate of return over the life of the lease and the contingent rent portion of the lease payments 
are recognized as earned, both in accordance with ASC 842. As of June 30, 2020, we have only recognized contingent rent on our Margaritaville Lease 
Agreement in relation to the variable rent portion of the lease. Refer to the Lease Overview section below for information regarding contingent rent on each 
lease. 
(2) Represents the portion of land separately classified and accounted for under the operating lease model associated with our investment in Caesars Palace 
Las Vegas and certain operating land parcels contained in the Non-CPLV Lease Agreement. Upon the consummation of the Eldorado Transaction on July 20, 
2020, the land component of Caesars Palace Las Vegas and certain operating land parcels were reassessed for lease classification and determined to be a 
sales-type lease. Accordingly, subsequent to July 20, 2020, such income will be recognized as Income from sales-type leases.
(3) Represents the JACK Cleveland/Thistledown Lease Agreement which, in accordance with ASC 842, was determined to meet both the definition of a sales-
type lease and sale leaseback transaction and, as a result, is accounted for as a financing under ASC 310. 
(4) Amounts represent the non-cash adjustment to the minimum lease payments from direct financing leases, sales-type leases and lease financing receivables 
in order to recognize income on an effective interest basis at a constant rate of return over the term of the leases. 

At June 30, 2020, minimum lease payments owed to us for each of the five succeeding years under direct financing, sales-type 
and operating leases, as well as leases accounted for as financing receivables, are as follows:

Minimum Lease Payments (1) (2)

Investments in Leases

(In thousands)
Direct Financing and 

Sales-Type Operating
Financing 
Receivables Total 

2020 (remaining).................. $ 456,152 $ 21,827 $ 32,940 $ 510,919 
2021......................................  916,720  43,653  66,484  1,026,857 
2022......................................  927,351  43,653  67,149  1,038,153 
2023......................................  942,285  43,653  68,128  1,054,066 
2024......................................  954,569  43,653  68,212  1,066,434 
2025......................................  954,765  43,653  68,212  1,066,630 
Thereafter..............................  25,854,727  1,171,362  1,983,840  29,009,929 
Total..................................... $ 31,006,569 $ 1,411,454 $ 2,354,965 $ 34,772,988 

Weighted Average Lease 
Term (2).................................... 32.5 32.3 34.6 32.7

____________________
(1)  Minimum lease payments do not include contingent rent, as discussed below, that may be received under the Lease Agreements.
(2) The minimum lease payments and weighted average remaining lease term assumes the exercise of all tenant renewal options, consistent with our 
conclusions under ASC 842 and ASC 310. Upon the consummation of the Eldorado Transaction, the lease term was extended by three years and as such, 
subsequent to June 30, 2020, the weighted average lease term will increase accordingly, as applicable. 
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Lease Provisions

Caesars Lease Agreements - Overview

The following is a summary of the material lease provisions of our Caesars Lease Agreements (both prior and subsequent to the 
modifications that occurred on July 20, 2020 as a result of the consummation of the Eldorado Transaction):

($ In thousands)

Non-CPLV Lease 
Agreement and Joliet 

Lease Agreement

Regional Master Lease 
Agreement and Joliet 

Lease Agreement
CPLV Lease 
Agreement

HLV Lease 
Agreement

Las Vegas 
Master Lease 

Agreement

Lease Provision (1) Prior to Amendment As Amended
Prior to 

Amendment
Prior to 

Amendment As Amended
Initial Term (2) 15 years 18 years 15 years 15 years 18 years
Initial Term maturity (2) 10/31/2032 7/31/2035 10/31/2032 12/31/2032 7/31/2035

Renewal Terms Four, five-year terms Four, five-year terms Four, five-year 
terms

Four, five-year 
terms

Four, five-year 
terms

Current annual rent (3) $508,534 $662,534 $207,745 $89,157 $395,401

Escalator (4)

Lease years 2-5 - 
1.5%
Lease years 6-15 - 
Consumer price index 
(“CPI”) subject to 2% 
floor

Lease years 2-5 - 
1.5%
Lease years 6-end of 
term - CPI subject to 
2.0% floor

> 2% / Change 
in CPI

Lease years 
2-5 - 1%
Lease years 
6-15 - > 2% 
floor / change 
in CPI

> 2% / change 
in CPI

EBITDAR to Rent Ratio 
floor (5)

1.2x commencing 
lease year 8 None

1.7x 
commencing 
lease year 8

1.6x 
commencing 
lease year 6

None

Variable Rent 
adjustment

Year 8: 70% base 
rent / 30% variable 
rent
Year 11: 80% base 
rent / 20% variable 
rent

Year 8: 70% base 
rent / 30% variable 
rent
Years 11 & 16: 80% 
base rent / 20% 
variable rent

Years 8 & 11: 
80% base 
rent / 20% 
variable rent

Year 8 & 11: 
80% base 
rent / 20% 
variable rent

Years 8, 11 & 
16: 80% base 
rent / 20% 
variable rent

Variable Rent 
adjustment calculation (6)

4% of revenue 
increase/decrease:
Year 8: Avg. of years 
5-7 less avg. of years 
0-2
Year 11: Avg. of 
years 8-10 less avg. of 
years 5-7

4% of revenue 
increase/decrease:
Year 8: Avg. of years 
5-7 less avg. of years 
0-2
Year 11: Avg. of 
years 8-10 less avg. of 
years 5-7
Year 16: Avg. of 
years 13-15 less avg. 
of years 8-10

4% of revenue 
increase/
decrease:
Year 8: Avg. 
of years 5-7 
less avg. of 
years 0-2
Year 11: Avg. 
of years 8-10 
less avg. of 
years 5-7

4% of revenue 
increase/
decrease:
Year 8: Avg. 
of years 5-7 
less avg. of 
years 0-2
Year 11: Avg. 
of years 8-10 
less avg. of 
years 5-7

4% of revenue 
increase/
decrease:
Year 8: Avg. 
of years 5-7 
less avg. of 
years 0-2
Year 11: Avg. 
of years 8-10 
less avg. of 
years 5-7
Year 16: Avg. 
of years 13-15 
less avg. of 
years 8-10

____________________
(1) All capitalized terms used without definition herein have the meanings detailed in the applicable Caesars Lease Agreements.
(2) Upon the consummation of the Eldorado Transaction, the Caesars Lease Agreements were extended such that each lease will have a full 15-year initial 
lease term remaining.
(3) Prior to amendment, with respect to the Non-CPLV Lease Agreement, Joliet Lease Agreement and CPLV Lease Agreement, the amount represents the 
current annual base rent payable for the current lease year which is the period from November 1, 2019 through October 31, 2020. In relation to the HLV Lease 
Agreement, the amount represents current annual base rent payable for the current lease year which is the period from January 1, 2020 through December 31, 
2020. Subsequent to the consummation of the Eldorado Transaction and the amendments in connection therewith, (i) with respect to the Regional Master Lease 
Agreement, the amounts represent the current annual base rent payable for the current lease year, inclusive of the additional rent associated with the MTA 
Properties and (ii) with respect to the Las Vegas Master Lease Agreement, the amounts represent the current annual base rent payable for the current lease 
year, inclusive of the CPLV Additional Rent Acquisition and HLV Additional Rent Acquisition. 
(4) Any amounts representing rents in excess of the CPI floors specified above are considered contingent rent in accordance with GAAP. No such rent has been 
recognized for the three months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019.
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(5) The coverage floors, which coverage floors would have served to reduce the rent escalators under the Caesars Lease Agreements in the event that the 
“EBITDAR to Rent Ratio” coverage was below the stated floor, were removed upon execution of the amendments to the Caesars Lease Agreements upon the 
consummation of the Eldorado Transaction.
(6) Variable Rent is not subject to the Escalator.

Penn National Lease Agreements - Overview

The following is a summary of the material lease provisions of our Penn National Lease Agreements:

($ In thousands)

Lease Provision Margaritaville Lease Agreement Greektown Lease Agreement
Initial term 15 years 15 years
Renewal terms Four, five-year terms Four, five-year terms
Current annual rent (1) $23,544 $55,556

Escalation commencement (2) Lease year two Lease year four

Escalation 2% of Building base rent, subject to the 
net revenue to rent ratio floor

2% of Building base rent, subject to the 
net revenue to rent ratio floor

Performance to rent ratio floor (2) 6.1x net revenue commencing lease year 
two

Net revenue ratio to be mutually agreed 
upon prior to the commencement of lease 
year four

Percentage rent (3) $3,000 (fixed for lease year one and two) $6,384 (fixed for lease year one and two)

Percentage rent reset Lease year three and each and every 
other lease year thereafter

Lease year three and each and every 
other lease year thereafter

Percentage rent multiplier

The product of (i) 4% and (ii) the excess 
(if any) of (a) the average annual net 
revenue of a trailing two-year period 
preceding such reset year over (b) a 
threshold amount (defined as 50% of 
LTM net revenues prior to acquisition)

The product of (i) 4% and (ii) the excess 
(if any) of (a) the average annual net 
revenue of a trailing two-year period 
preceding such reset year over (b) a 
threshold amount (defined as 50% of 
LTM net revenues prior to acquisition)

____________________
(1) In relation to the Margaritaville Lease Agreement, the amount represents current annual base rent payable for the current lease year which is the period 
from February 1, 2020 through January 31, 2021. In relation to the Greektown Lease Agreement, the amount represents current annual base rent payable for 
the current lease year which is the period from May 23, 2019 through May 31, 2020. 
(2) In the event that the net revenue to rent ratio coverage, as applicable, is below the stated floor, the escalation will be reduced to such amount to achieve the 
stated net revenue to rent ratio coverage, as applicable, provided that the amount shall never result in a decrease to the prior year’s rent. In relation to the 
Greektown Lease Agreement, in May 2020, the lease was adjusted to remove the escalation for lease years 2 and 3 and to provide for a net revenue to rent 
ratio coverage floor to be mutually agreed upon by both parties prior to the commencement of lease year four. 
(3) Percentage rent is subject to the percentage rent multiplier. After the percentage rent reset in lease year three, any amounts related to percentage rent are 
considered contingent rent in accordance with GAAP. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2020, we recognized approximately $0.1 million and 
$0.1 million, respectively, in contingent rent in relation to the Margaritaville Lease Agreement escalation. No such rent has been recognized for the three and 
six months ended June 30, 2019. In relation to the Greektown Lease Agreement, no such rent has been recognized for the three and six months ended June 30, 
2020 and 2019.
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Hard Rock Cincinnati Lease Agreement - Overview

The following is a summary of the material lease provisions of our Hard Rock Cincinnati Lease Agreement:

($ In thousands)

Lease Provision Term
Initial term 15 years
Renewal terms Four, five-year terms
Current base rent (1) $42,750
Escalator commencement Lease year two

Escalator (2)
Lease years 2-4 - 1.5%
Lease years 5-15 - The greater of 2% or the change in CPI unless the change in CPI 
is less than 0.5%, in which case there is no escalation in rent for such lease year

Variable rent commencement/reset Lease year 8
Variable rent split (3) 80% base rent and 20% variable rent
Variable rent percentage (3) 4%
____________________
(1) The amount represents the current annual base rent payable for the current lease year which is the period from September 20, 2019 through September 30, 
2020.
(2) Any amounts representing rents in excess of the CPI floors specified above are considered contingent rent in accordance with GAAP. No such rent has been 
recognized for the three and six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019.
(3) Variable rent is not subject to the escalator and is calculated as an increase or decrease of the average of net revenues for lease years 5 through 7 
compared to the average net revenue for lease years 1 through 3, multiplied by the Variable rent percentage. 

Century Portfolio Lease Agreement - Overview

The following is a summary of the material lease provisions of our Century Portfolio Lease Agreement:

($ In thousands)

Lease Provision Term
Initial term 15 years
Renewal terms Four, five-year terms
Current annual rent (1) $25,000
Escalator commencement Lease year two

Escalator (2) Lease years 2-3 - 1.0%
Lease years 4-15 - The greater of 1.25% or the change in CPI

Net revenue to rent ratio floor 7.5x commencing lease year six - if the coverage ratio is below the stated amount the 
escalator will be reduced to 0.75%

Variable rent commencement/reset Lease year 8 and 11
Variable rent split (3) 80% Base Rent and 20% Variable Rent
Variable rent percentage (3) 4%
____________________
(1) The amount represents the current annual base rent payable for the current lease year which is the period from December 6, 2019 through December 31, 
2020.
(2) Any amounts representing rents in excess of the CPI floors specified above are considered contingent rent in accordance with GAAP. No such rent has been 
recognized for the three and six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019.
(3) Variable rent is not subject to the escalator and is calculated for lease year 8 as an increase or decrease of the average of net revenues for lease years 5 
through 7 compared to the average net revenue for lease years 1 through 3 and for lease year 11 as an increase or decrease of the average of net revenues for 
lease years 8 through 10 compared to the average net revenue for lease years 5 through 7, in each case multiplied by the Variable rent percentage.
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JACK Cleveland/Thistledown Lease Agreement - Overview

The following is a summary of the material lease provisions of our JACK Cleveland/Thistledown Lease Agreement, as 
amended on July 16, 2020:

($ In thousands)

Lease Provision Term
Initial term 20 years
Renewal terms Three, five-year terms
Current annual rent (1) $65,880
Escalator commencement Lease year three

Escalator (2)
Lease years 3-4 - 1.0%
Lease years 5-7 - 1.5%
Lease years 8-15 - The greater of 1.5% or the change in CPI capped at 2.5%

Net revenue to rent ratio floor 4.9x in any lease year (commencing in lease year 6) - if the coverage ratio is below 
the stated amount, there is no escalation in rent for such lease year

Variable rent commencement/reset Lease year 8, 11 and 16
Variable rent split (3) 80% Base Rent and 20% Variable Rent
Variable rent percentage (3) 4%
____________________
(1) The amount represents the current annual base rent payable for the current lease year which is the period from January 24, 2020 through January 31, 
2021.
(2) Any amounts representing rents in excess of the CPI floors specified above are considered contingent rent in accordance with GAAP. No such rent has been 
recognized for the three and six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019.
(3) Variable rent is not subject to the escalator and is calculated (i) for lease year 8 as an increase or decrease of the average of net revenues for lease years 5 
through 7 compared to the average net revenue for lease years 1 through 3, (ii) for lease year 11 as an increase or decrease of the average of net revenues for 
lease years 8 through 10 compared to the average net revenue for lease years 5 through 7, and (iii) for lease year 16 as an increase or decrease of the average 
of net revenues for lease years 13 through 15 compared to the average net revenue for lease years 8 through 10, in each case multiplied by the Variable rent 
percentage.

Capital Expenditure Requirements

We manage our residual asset risk through protective covenants in our Lease Agreements, which require the tenant to, among 
other things, hold specific insurance coverage, engage in ongoing maintenance of the property and invest in capital 
improvements. With respect to the capital improvements, the Lease Agreements specify certain minimum amounts that our 
tenants must spend on capital expenditures that constitute installation, restoration and repair or other improvements of items 
with respect to the leased properties. 

The following table summarizes the capital expenditure requirements of the respective tenants under the Caesars Lease 
Agreements, as amended following the consummation of the Eldorado Transaction, which amendments increased the existing 
capital expenditure requirements in proportion to the overall increase in the tenant’s net revenue arising from the MTA 
Properties:

Provision
Regional Master Lease Agreement 

and Joliet Lease Agreement Las Vegas Master Lease Agreement

Yearly minimum expenditure 1% of net revenues (1) 1% of net revenues for CPLV (commencing 
in 2022 with respect to HLV) (1)

Rolling three-year minimum (2) $334 million $84 million

Initial minimum capital expenditure N/A
$171 million (2017 - 2021) (with respect 

solely to HLV)
____________________
(1) The lease agreements require a $120.9 million floor on annual capital expenditures for CPLV, Joliet and the Regional Lease properties in the aggregate. 
Additionally, annual building & improvement capital improvements must be equal to or greater than 1% of prior year net revenues.
(2) CEOC is required to spend $427.7 million on capital expenditures (excluding gaming equipment) over a rolling three-year period, with $333.6 million 
allocated to the regional assets, $84.0 million allocated to CPLV and the remaining balance of $10.1 million to facilities covered by any Formation Lease 
Agreement in such proportion as CEOC may elect. Additionally, CEOC is required to expend a minimum of $598.4 million on capital expenditures (including 
gaming equipment) across certain of its affiliates and other assets, together with the $427.7 million requirement. 
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In connection with the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and its impact on operations and financial performance, we have agreed 
with Pre-Merger Caesars, and after the consummation of the Eldorado Transaction, Caesars, to provide limited relief with 
respect to a portion of their capital expenditure obligations under the CPLV Lease Agreement, the Non-CPLV Lease 
Agreement and the Joliet Lease Agreement (and following the consummation of the Eldorado Transaction, the Las Vegas 
Master Lease Agreement, the Regional Master Lease Agreement and the Joliet Lease Agreement). This relief is conditioned 
upon (i) expenditures by Caesars of certain minimum capital expenditures, (ii) timely payment of Caesars’ rent obligations 
under the Caesars Lease Agreements and (iii) no event of default occurring under any of the Caesars Lease Agreements during 
the applicable compliance period. If Caesars fails to satisfy any of the foregoing conditions, Caesars will be required to satisfy 
the capital expenditure obligations currently set forth in the CPLV Lease Agreement, the Non-CPLV Lease Agreement and the 
Joliet Lease Agreement (and following the consummation of the Eldorado Transaction, the Las Vegas Master Lease 
Agreement, the Regional Master Lease Agreement and the Joliet Lease Agreement). 

The following table summarizes the capital expenditure requirements of the respective tenants under the Penn National Lease 
Agreements, Hard Rock Cincinnati Lease Agreement, Century Portfolio Lease Agreement and JACK Cleveland/Thistledown 
Lease Agreement:

Provision
Penn National 

Lease Agreements

Hard Rock 
Cincinnati Lease 

Agreement
Century Portfolio 
Lease Agreement

JACK Cleveland/
Thistledown Lease 

Agreement

Yearly minimum expenditure
1% of net revenues 

based on rolling 
four-year basis

1% of net revenues 1% of net gaming 
revenues (1)

Initial minimum of 
$30 million (2)

Thereafter - 1% of 
net revenues on a 
rolling three-year 

basis
____________________
(1) Minimum of 1% of net gaming revenue on a rolling three-year basis for each individual facility and 1% of net gaming revenues per fiscal year for the 
facilities collectively. In May 2020, in connection with the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and its impact on operations and financial performance, we agreed to 
waive Century’s capital expenditure requirements for 2020 and defer to not later than December 31, 2021 certain other expenditures contemplated in 
connection with the underwriting of the acquired casino properties, conditioned upon (i) Century’s timely payment of rent obligations under the Century 
Portfolio Lease Agreement during the compliance period set forth in the amendment and (ii) no tenant event of default occurring under the Century Portfolio 
Lease Agreement during the compliance period set forth in the amendment. If Century fails to satisfy any of the foregoing conditions, Century will be required 
to satisfy the capital expenditure obligations set forth in the Century Portfolio Lease Agreement or, in certain cases, to deposit amounts in respect thereof into a 
capital expenditure reserve for expenditure in accordance with the amendment.
(2) Initial minimum required to be spent from the period commencing April 1, 2019 through December 31, 2022, which shall include $18.0 million to be 
advanced by us and expended by JACK Entertainment for the construction of the new gaming patio amenity at JACK Thistledown Racino.

Note 6 — Allowance for Credit Losses

Adoption of ASC 326

On January 1, 2020, we adopted ASC 326 and, as a result, we are required to estimate and record non-cash credit losses related 
to our historical and any future investments in direct financing and sales-type leases, lease financing receivables and loans. 
Upon adoption, we recorded a $309.4 million cumulative adjustment, representing a 2.88% CECL allowance. Such amount was 
recorded as a cumulative-effect adjustment to our opening balance sheet with a reduction in our Investments in leases - direct 
financing and sales-type and a corresponding charge to retained (deficit) earnings. Periods prior to the adoption date that are 
presented for comparative purposes are not adjusted or disclosed.

Allowance for Credit Losses

During the three months ended June 30, 2020, we recognized a $65.5 million decrease in our allowance for credit losses. This 
decrease was primarily driven by a decrease in the R&S Period PD of our tenants and their parent guarantors as a result of an 
improvement in their economic outlook due to the reopening of a majority of their gaming operations.

During the six months ended June 30, 2020, we recognized an $84.0 million increase in our allowance for credit losses. The 
increase in the CECL allowance was primarily driven by (i) an increase in the R&S Period PD and LGD of our tenants and their 
parent guarantors due to decreases in the equity market capitalization of the stock of the parent public-entities of certain of our 
tenants as well as the utilization of forecasted scenarios that incorporate the expected negative impact of the COVID-19 
pandemic on the economy and (ii) an increase in the Long-term Period PD of our tenants due to downgrades on certain of the 
credit ratings of our tenants’ senior secured debt. Additionally, $22.2 million of the $84.0 million increase related to our initial 
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investment in JACK Cleveland/Thistledown and the ROV Loan in January 2020. This increase was partially offset by a 
decrease in the R&S Period PD of our tenants and their parent guarantors as a result of an improvement in their economic 
outlook due to the reopening of a majority of their gaming operations during the second quarter of 2020.

The credit loss standard does not require retrospective application and as such there is no corresponding charge for the three and 
six months ended June 30, 2019.

As of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, and since our Formation Date, all of our Lease Agreements and the ROV Loan 
are current in payment of their obligations to us and no investments are on non-accrual status. Additionally, to the best of our 
knowledge, none of our tenants were in contravention of any of the Lease Agreements. 

The following tables detail the allowance for credit losses included as a component in our investments in leases - direct 
financing and sales-type, Investments in leases - financing receivables and investments in loans as of June 30, 2020 and January 
1, 2020, the date of adoption:

June 30, 2020

(In thousands, except for %) Amortized Cost Allowance Net Investment
Allowance as a % of 

Amortized Cost
Investments in leases - direct financing and sales-type $ 10,727,992 $ (355,336) $ 10,372,656  3.31 %
Investments in leases - financing receivables...............  850,253  (37,617)  812,636  4.42 %
Investments in loans.....................................................  50,313  (437)  49,876  0.87 %

Totals....................................................................... $ 11,628,558 $ (393,390) $ 11,235,168  3.38 %

January 1, 2020

(In thousands, except for %) Amortized Cost Allowance Net Investment
Allowance as a % of 

Amortized Cost
Investments in leases - direct financing and sales-type $ 10,734,245 $ (309,362) $ 10,424,883  2.88 %
Investments in leases - financing receivables...............  —  —  —  — %
Investments in loans.....................................................  —  —  —  — %

Totals....................................................................... $ 10,734,245 $ (309,362) $ 10,424,883  2.88 %

The following chart reflects the roll-forward of the allowance for credit losses on our real estate portfolio for the six months 
ended June 30, 2020:

(In thousands)
Six Months Ended June 30, 

2020

Beginning Balance December 31, 2019............................................................................................................. $ — 
Initial allowance upon adoption..........................................................................................................  309,362 
Initial allowance from current period acquisitions.............................................................................  22,158 
Current period change in credit allowance.........................................................................................  61,870 
Write-offs............................................................................................................................................  — 
Recoveries...........................................................................................................................................  — 
Ending Balance June 30, 2020........................................................................................................................... $ 393,390 

Impact of Eldorado Transaction on CECL Allowance

In the third quarter of 2020, we will be required to record a CECL allowance related to our $1.8 billion investment in the MTA 
Properties, as well as our aggregate $1.4 billion increased investment in the CPLV Lease Agreement and HLV Lease 
Agreement as a result of the respective CPLV Additional Rent Acquisition and HLV Additional Rent Acquisition which, 
following the consummation of the Eldorado Transaction, are reflected in the Las Vegas Master Lease Agreement. We expect 
the initial CECL allowance percentage related to these investments to be materially consistent with our current CECL 
allowance percentage as of June 30, 2020.
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Credit Quality Indicators

We assess the credit quality of our investments through the credit ratings of the senior secured debt of the guarantors of our 
leases, as we believe that our Lease Agreements have a similar credit profile to a senior secured debt instrument. The credit 
quality indicators are reviewed by us on a quarterly basis as of quarter-end. In instances where the guarantor of one of our 
Lease Agreements does not have senior secured debt with a credit rating, we use either a comparable proxy company or the 
overall corporate credit rating, as applicable. We also use this credit rating to determine the Long-term Period PD when 
estimating credit losses for each investment. 

The following tables detail the amortized cost basis of our investments by the credit quality indicator we assigned to each lease 
or loan guarantor as of June 30, 2020 and January 1, 2020, the date of adoption:

June 30, 2020

(In thousands) Ba2 Ba3 B1 B2 B3 Total
Investments in leases - 
direct financing, sales-
type and financing 
receivable and 
investments in loans...... $ — $ 561,116 $ 9,886,007 $ 900,566 $ 280,869 $ 11,628,558 

January 1, 2020

(In thousands) Ba2 Ba3 B1 B2 B3 Total
Investments in leases - 
direct financing, sales-
type and financing 
receivable and 
investments in loans...... $ 1,527,776 $ — $ 8,926,229 $ 280,240 $ — $ 10,734,245 

Note 7 — Other Assets and Other Liabilities 

Other Assets

The following table details the components of our other assets as of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019:

(In thousands) June 30, 2020 December 31, 2019
Property and equipment used in operations, net.................................................. $ 70,274 $ 70,406 
Other receivables..................................................................................................  56,656  60,111 
Right of use asset.................................................................................................  17,815  17,738 
Debt financing costs.............................................................................................  10,205  14,575 
Deferred acquisition costs....................................................................................  9,492  11,134 
Sales-type sub-leases............................................................................................  8,629  8,688 
Tenant receivables................................................................................................  3,001  — 
Prepaid expenses..................................................................................................  1,140  3,252 
Interest receivable................................................................................................  307  1,626 
Other.....................................................................................................................  3,042  1,108 

Total other assets............................................................................................. $ 180,561 $ 188,638 
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Property and equipment used in operations, included within other assets, is primarily attributable to the land, building and 
improvements of our golf operations and consists of the following as of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019: 

(In thousands) June 30, 2020 December 31, 2019
Land and land improvements............................................................................... $ 59,117 $ 59,346 
Buildings and improvements................................................................................  14,679  14,805 
Furniture and equipment .....................................................................................  6,457  4,523 

Total property and equipment used in operations............................................  80,253  78,674 
Less: accumulated depreciation...........................................................................  (9,979)  (8,268) 

Total property and equipment used in operations, net..................................... $ 70,274 $ 70,406 

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
(In thousands) 2020 2019 2020 2019
Depreciation expense.............................................................. $ 1,213 $ 1,018 $ 2,080 $ 1,948 

Other Liabilities

The following table details the components of our other liabilities as of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019:

(In thousands) June 30, 2020 December 31, 2019
Derivative liability................................................................................................ $ 117,265 $ 65,078 
Lease liability.......................................................................................................  17,815  17,738 
Other accrued expenses........................................................................................  12,373  21,023 
Finance sub-lease liabilities.................................................................................  8,643  8,688 
Accrued payroll and other compensation.............................................................  3,367  7,369 
Deferred income taxes..........................................................................................  3,342  3,382 
Accounts payable.................................................................................................  841  640 

Total other liabilities........................................................................................ $ 163,646 $ 123,918 
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Note 8— Debt 

The following tables detail our debt obligations as of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019:

($ in thousands) June 30, 2020

Description of Debt
Final

Maturity
Interest 

Rate Face Value
Carrying 
Value(1)

VICI PropCo Senior Secured Credit Facilities
Revolving Credit Facility (2)............................................................. 2024 L + 2.00% $ — $ — 
Term Loan B Facility (3)................................................................... 2024 L + 1.75%  2,100,000  2,078,545 

Senior Unsecured Notes (4)

2025 Notes....................................................................................... 2025 3.500%  750,000  739,165 
2026 Notes....................................................................................... 2026 4.250%  1,250,000  1,231,692 
2027 Notes....................................................................................... 2027 3.750%  750,000  738,899 
2029 Notes....................................................................................... 2029 4.625%  1,000,000  984,930 
2030 Notes....................................................................................... 2030 4.125%  1,000,000  984,901 

Total Debt...................................................................................................................................... $ 6,850,000 $ 6,758,132 

($ in thousands) December 31, 2019

Description of Debt
Final

Maturity
Interest 

Rate Face Value
Carrying 
Value(1)

VICI PropCo Senior Secured Credit Facilities
Revolving Credit Facility (2)............................................................. 2024 L + 2.00% $ — $ — 
Term Loan B Facility (3)................................................................... 2024 L + 2.00%  2,100,000  2,076,962 
Second Lien Notes (5)........................................................................ 2023 8.00%  498,480  498,480 

Senior Unsecured Notes (4)

2026 Notes....................................................................................... 2026 4.250%  1,250,000  1,231,227 
2029 Notes....................................................................................... 2029 4.625%  1,000,000  984,894 

Total Debt...................................................................................................................................... $ 4,848,480 $ 4,791,563 
____________________
(1) Carrying value is net of unamortized original issue discount and unamortized debt issuance costs incurred in conjunction with debt.
(2) Interest on any outstanding balance is payable monthly. On May 15, 2019, we amended our Revolving Credit Facility to, among other things, increase 

borrowing capacity by $600.0 million to a total of $1.0 billion and extend the maturity date to May 2024. After giving effect to the amendments executed 
on May 15, 2019, borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility will bear interest at a rate based on a leverage-based pricing grid with a range of 
1.75% to 2.00% over LIBOR, or between 0.75% and 1.00% over the base rate depending on our total net debt to adjusted total assets ratio. Additionally, 
after giving effect to the amendments executed on May 15, 2019, the commitment fee under the Revolving Credit Facility is calculated on a leverage-
based pricing grid with a range of 0.375% to 0.5%, in each case depending on our total net debt to adjusted total assets ratio. For the three and six 
months ended June 30, 2020, the commitment fee was 0.375%. 

(3) Interest on any outstanding balance is payable monthly. In connection with the repricing of the Term Loan B Facility in January 2020, the interest rate 
was decreased to LIBOR plus 1.75%. As of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, we had six interest rate swap agreements outstanding with third-party 
financial institutions having an aggregate notional amount of $2.0 billion at a blended LIBOR rate of 2.7173%.

(4) Interest is payable semi-annually.
(5) The Second Lien Notes were redeemed in full on February 20, 2020 with a portion of the proceeds from the February 2020 Senior Unsecured Notes 

offering. 
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The following table is a schedule of future minimum payments of our debt obligations as of June 30, 2020:

(In thousands)
Future Minimum 

Payments
2020 (remaining)....................................................................................................................................... $ — 
2021...........................................................................................................................................................  — 
2022...........................................................................................................................................................  10,000 
2023...........................................................................................................................................................  22,000 
2024...........................................................................................................................................................  2,068,000 
2025...........................................................................................................................................................  750,000 
Thereafter...................................................................................................................................................  4,000,000 
Total minimum repayments....................................................................................................................... $ 6,850,000 

Senior Unsecured Notes

On November 26, 2019, the Operating Partnership and the Co-Issuer (together with the Operating Partnership, the “Issuers”), 
wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company issued (i) $1,250.0 million in aggregate principal amount of 2026 Notes under an 
indenture dated as of November 26, 2019 (the “2026 Notes Indenture”), among the Issuers, the subsidiary guarantors party 
thereto and UMB Bank, National Association, as trustee (the “Trustee”), and (ii) $1,000.0 million in aggregate principal amount 
of 2029 Notes under an indenture dated as of November 26, 2019 (the “2029 Notes Indenture” and, together with the 2026 
Notes Indenture, the “2019 Senior Unsecured Notes Indentures”), among the Issuers, the subsidiary guarantors party thereto 
and the Trustee. We used a portion of the net proceeds of the offering to repay in full the CPLV CMBS Debt, and pay certain 
fees and expenses including the net prepayment penalty of $55.4 million. On January 24, 2020, the remaining net proceeds 
were used to pay for a portion of the purchase price of the JACK Cleveland/Thistledown Acquisition. The 2026 Notes will 
mature on December 1, 2026, and the 2029 Notes will mature on December 1, 2029. Interest on the 2026 Notes will accrue at a 
rate of 4.250% per annum, and interest on the 2029 Notes will accrue at a rate of 4.625% per annum. 

On February 5, 2020, the Issuers issued (i) $750.0 million in aggregate principal amount of 2025 Notes under an indenture 
dated as of February 5, 2020 (the “2025 Notes Indenture”), among the Issuers, the subsidiary guarantors party thereto and the 
Trustee, (ii) $750.0 million in aggregate principal amount of 2027 Notes under an indenture dated as of February 5, 2020 (the 
“2027 Notes Indenture”), among the Issuers, the subsidiary guarantors party thereto and the Trustee and (iii) $1.0 billion in 
aggregate principal amount of 2030 Notes under an indenture dated as of February 5, 2020 (the “2030 Notes Indenture” and, 
together with the 2025 Notes Indenture and the 2027 Notes Indenture, the “2020 Senior Unsecured Notes Indentures”), among 
the Issuers, the subsidiary guarantors party thereto and the Trustee. The 2020 Senior Unsecured Notes Indentures, together with 
the 2019 Senior Unsecured Notes Indentures, are referred to as the “Senior Unsecured Notes Indentures”. We placed 
$2.0 billion of the net proceeds of the February 2020 Senior Unsecured Notes offering into escrow pending the consummation 
of the Eldorado Transaction (which was subsequently released from escrow and used to fund a portion of the purchase price of 
the Eldorado Transaction on July 20, 2020), and used the remaining net proceeds from the 2025 Notes, together with cash on 
hand, to redeem in full the outstanding $498.5 million in aggregate principal amount of the Second Lien Notes plus the Second 
Lien Notes Applicable Premium (as defined in the Second Lien Notes indenture), for a total redemption cost of approximately 
$537.5 million. The 2025 Notes will mature on February 15, 2025, the 2027 Notes will mature on February 15, 2027 and the 
2030 Notes will mature on August 15, 2030. Interest on the 2025 Notes accrues at a rate of 3.500% per annum, interest on the 
2027 Notes accrues at a rate of 3.750% per annum and interest on the 2030 Notes accrues at a rate of 4.125% per annum. 

The November 2019 Senior Unsecured Notes and the February 2020 Senior Unsecured Notes (together, the “Senior Unsecured 
Notes”) were sold in the United States only to accredited investors pursuant to an exemption from the Securities Act of 1933, as 
amended (the “Securities Act”), and subsequently resold to persons reasonably believed to be qualified institutional buyers 
pursuant to Rule 144A under the Securities Act and to non-U.S. persons in accordance with Regulation S under the Securities 
Act.

Interest on the November 2019 Senior Unsecured Notes is payable semi-annually in cash in arrears on June 1 and December 1 
of each year, commencing on June 1, 2020. Interest on the February 2020 Senior Unsecured Notes is payable semi-annually in 
cash in arrears on February 15 and August 15 of each year, commencing on August 15, 2020. The Senior Unsecured Notes are 
fully and unconditionally guaranteed, jointly and severally, on a senior unsecured basis by each existing and future direct and 
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indirect wholly owned material domestic subsidiary of the Operating Partnership that incurs or guarantees certain bank 
indebtedness or any other material capital market indebtedness, other than certain excluded subsidiaries and the Co-Issuer.

The Operating Partnership and its subsidiaries represent our “Real Property Business” segment, with the “Golf Course 
Business” segment corresponding to the portion of our business operated through entities that are not direct or indirect 
subsidiaries of the Operating Partnership or obligors of the Senior Unsecured Notes. Refer to “Note 15 - Segment Information” 
for more information about our segments. 

The Issuers may redeem the 2025 Notes at any time prior to February 15, 2022, in whole or in part, at a redemption price equal 
to 100% of the accrued principal amount thereof plus unpaid interest, if any, to the redemption date plus a make-whole 
premium. The Issuers may redeem the 2025 Notes, in whole or in part, at any time on or after February 15, 2022, at a 
redemption price of (i) 101.750% of the principal amount should such redemption occur before February 15, 2023, (ii) 
100.875% of the principal amount should such redemption occur before February 15, 2024 and (iii) 100% of the principal 
amount should such redemption occur on or after February 15, 2024, in each case plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, 
but excluding, the redemption date. The Issuers may redeem the 2026 Notes at any time prior to December 1, 2022, in whole or 
in part, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the accrued principal amount thereof plus unpaid interest, if any, to the 
redemption date plus a make-whole premium. The Issuers may redeem the 2026 Notes, in whole or in part, at any time on or 
after December 1, 2022 at the redemption price of (i) 102.125% of the principal amount should such redemption occur before 
December 1, 2023, (ii) 101.063% of the principal amount should such redemption occur before December 1, 2024 and (iii) 
100% of the principal amount should such redemption occur on or after December 1, 2024, in each case plus accrued and 
unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the redemption date. The Issuers may redeem the 2027 Notes at any time prior to 
February 15, 2023, in whole or in part, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the accrued principal amount thereof plus unpaid 
interest, if any, to the redemption date plus a make-whole premium. The Issuers may redeem the 2027 Notes, in whole or in 
part, at any time on or after February 15, 2023, at a redemption price of (i) 101.875% of the principal amount should such 
redemption occur before February 15, 2024, (ii) 100.938% of the principal amount should such redemption occur before 
February 15, 2025 and (iii) 100% of the principal amount should such redemption occur on or after February 15, 2025, in each 
case plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the redemption date. The Issuers may redeem the 2029 Notes at 
any time prior to December 1, 2024, in whole or in part, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the accrued principal amount 
thereof plus unpaid interest, if any, to the redemption date plus a make-whole premium. The Issuers may redeem the 2029 
Notes, in whole or in part, at any time on or after December 1, 2024 at the redemption price of (i) 102.313% of the principal 
amount should such redemption occur before December 1, 2025, (ii) 101.541% of the principal amount should such redemption 
occur before December 1, 2026, (iii) 100.771% of the principal amount should such redemption occur before December 1, 2027 
and (iv) 100% of the principal amount should such redemption occur on or after December 1, 2027, in each case plus accrued 
and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the redemption date. The Issuers may redeem the 2030 Notes at any time prior to 
February 15, 2025, in whole or in part, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the accrued principal amount thereof plus unpaid 
interest, if any, to the redemption date plus a make-whole premium. The Issuers may redeem the 2030 Notes, in whole or in 
part, at any time on or after February 15, 2025, at a redemption price of (i) 102.063% of the principal amount should such 
redemption occur before February 15, 2026, (ii) 101.375% of the principal amount should such redemption occur before 
February 15, 2027, (iii) 100.688% of the principal amount should such redemption occur before February 15, 2028 and (iv) 
100% of the principal amount should such redemption occur on or after February 15, 2028, in each case plus accrued and 
unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the redemption date.

In addition, before December 1, 2022, the Issuers may redeem up to 40% of the November 2019 Senior Unsecured Notes with 
the net cash proceeds from certain equity offerings (i) at a redemption price of 104.250% of the principal amount redeemed in 
the case of the 2026 Notes and (ii) at a redemption price of 104.625% of the principal amount redeemed in the case of the 2029 
Notes. However, the Issuers may only make such redemptions if at least 60% of the aggregate principal amount of the series of 
November 2019 Senior Unsecured Notes issued under the applicable 2019 Senior Unsecured Notes Indenture remains 
outstanding after the occurrence of such redemption. Before February 15, 2022, the Issuers may redeem up to 40% of the 2025 
Notes with the net cash proceeds from certain equity offerings at a redemption price of 103.500% of the principal amount 
redeemed. Before February 15, 2023, the Issuers may redeem up to 40% of each of the 2027 Notes and the 2030 Notes, as 
applicable, with the net cash proceeds from certain equity offerings (i) at a redemption price of 103.750% of the principal 
amount redeemed in the case of the 2027 Notes and (ii) at a redemption price of 104.125% of the principal amount redeemed in 
the case of the 2030 Notes. However, the Issuers may only make such redemptions if at least 60% of the aggregate principal 
amount of the series of February 2020 Senior Unsecured Notes issued under the applicable February 2020 Senior Unsecured 
Notes Indenture remains outstanding after the occurrence of such redemption.
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The 2027 Notes, the 2030 Notes and the portion of the 2025 Notes in excess of the amount applied to redeem the Second Lien 
Notes were previously subject to special mandatory redemption in accordance with the terms of the applicable Indentures, 
which terms were satisfied in connection with the closing of the transactions pursuant to the MTA (other than the MTA 
Properties Acquisitions). As such, the 2027 Notes, the 2030 Notes and the 2025 Notes are no longer subject to a special 
mandatory redemption.

The Senior Unsecured Notes Indentures contain covenants that limit the Issuers’ and their restricted subsidiaries’ ability to, 
among other things: (i) incur additional debt; (ii) pay dividends on or make other distributions in respect of their capital stock or 
make other restricted payments; (iii) make certain investments; (iv) sell certain assets; (v) create or permit to exist dividend and/
or payment restrictions affecting their restricted subsidiaries; (vi) create liens on certain assets to secure debt; (vii) consolidate, 
merge, sell or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of their assets; (viii) enter into certain transactions with their affiliates; 
and (ix) designate their subsidiaries as unrestricted subsidiaries. These covenants are subject to a number of exceptions and 
qualifications, including the ability to declare or pay any cash dividend or make any cash distribution to VICI to the extent 
necessary for VICI to fund a dividend or distribution by VICI that it believes is necessary to maintain its status as a REIT or to 
avoid payment of any tax for any calendar year that could be avoided by reason of such distribution, and the ability to make 
certain restricted payments not to exceed 95% of our cumulative Funds From Operations (as defined in the Senior Unsecured 
Notes Indentures), plus the aggregate net proceeds from (i) the sale of certain equity interests in, (ii) capital contributions to, 
and (iii) certain convertible indebtedness of the Operating Partnership. As of June 30, 2020, the restricted net assets of the 
Operating Partnership were approximately $7.6 billion.

Senior Secured Credit Facilities

In December 2017, VICI PropCo entered into a credit agreement (the “Credit Agreement”) comprised of a $2.2 billion Term 
Loan B Facility and a $400.0 million Revolving Credit Facility (the Term Loan B Facility and the Revolving Credit Facility, as 
amended as discussed below, are referred to together as the “Senior Secured Credit Facilities”). The Senior Secured Credit 
Facilities initially bore interest at LIBOR plus 2.25%. Upon our initial public offering, on February 5, 2018, the interest rate 
was reduced to LIBOR plus 2.00%, as contemplated by the Credit Agreement. 

On May 15, 2019, VICI PropCo, entered into Amendment No. 2 (“Amendment No. 2”) to the Credit Agreement, pursuant to 
which certain lenders agreed to provide VICI PropCo with incremental revolving credit commitments and availability under the 
revolving credit facility in the aggregate principal amount of $600.0 million on the same terms as VICI Propco’s current 
revolving credit facility under the Revolving Credit Facility. After giving effect to Amendment No. 2, the Credit Agreement, 
provided total borrowing capacity pursuant to the revolving credit commitments in the aggregate principal amount of $1.0 
billion.

On May 15, 2019, immediately after giving effect to Amendment No. 2, VICI Propco entered into Amendment No. 3 
(“Amendment No. 3”, together with Amendment No. 2, the “Amendments”) to the Credit Agreement, which amended and 
restated the Credit Agreement in its entirety as of May 15, 2019 ( the “Amended and Restated Credit Agreement”) to, among 
other things, (i) refinance the Revolving Credit Facility in whole with a new class of revolving commitments, (ii) extend the 
maturity date to May 15, 2024, which represents an extension of the December 22, 2022 maturity date of the Revolving Credit 
Facility, (iii) provide that borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility will bear interest at a rate based on a leverage-based 
pricing grid with a range of between 1.75% to 2.00% over LIBOR, or between 0.75% and 1.00% over the base rate, in each 
case depending on our total net debt to adjusted total assets ratio, (iv) provide that the commitment fee payable under the 
Revolving Credit Facility will bear interest at a rate based on a leverage-based pricing grid with a range of between 0.375% to 
0.50% depending on our total net debt to adjusted total assets ratio, (v) amend the existing springing financial covenant, which 
previously required VICI Propco to maintain a total net debt to adjusted asset ratio of not more than 0.75 to 1.00 if there was 
30% utilization of the Revolving Credit Facility, to require that, only with respect to the Revolving Credit Facility commencing 
with the first full fiscal quarter ending after the effectiveness of Amendment No. 3, VICI Propco maintain a maximum total net 
debt to adjusted asset ratio of not more than 0.65 to 1.00 as of the last day of any fiscal quarter (or, during any fiscal quarter in 
which certain permitted acquisitions were consummated and the three consecutive fiscal quarters thereafter, not more than 0.70 
to 1.00), and (vi) include a new financial covenant only with respect to the Revolving Credit Facility, requiring VICI Propco to 
maintain, commencing with the first full fiscal quarter after the effectiveness of Amendment No. 3, an interest coverage ratio 
(defined as EBITDA to interest charges) of not less than 2.00 to 1.00 as of the last day of any fiscal quarter. The Revolving 
Credit Facility is available to be used for working capital purposes, capital expenditures, permitted acquisitions, permitted 
investments, permitted restricted payments and for other lawful corporate purposes. The Amended and Restated Credit 
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Agreement provides for capacity to add incremental loans in an aggregate amount of: (x) $1.2 billion to be used solely to 
finance certain acquisitions; plus (y) an unlimited amount, subject to VICI Propco not exceeding certain leverage ratios.

On January 24, 2020, VICI PropCo entered into Amendment No. 1 to the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, which, 
among other things, reduced the interest rate on the Term Loan B Facility from LIBOR plus 2.00% to LIBOR plus 1.75%.

The Amended and Restated Credit Agreement provides that, in the event the LIBOR Rate is no longer in effect, a comparable 
or successor rate approved by the Administrative Agent under such facility shall be utilized, provided that such approved rate 
shall be applied in a manner consistent with market practice.

The Amended and Restated Credit Agreement contains customary covenants that are consistent with those set forth in the 
Credit Agreement (except as to the financial covenants described above), which, among other things, limit the ability of VICI 
PropCo and its restricted subsidiaries to: (i) incur additional indebtedness; (ii) merge with a third party or engage in other 
fundamental changes; (iii) make restricted payments; (iv) enter into, create, incur or assume any liens; (v) make certain sales 
and other dispositions of assets; (vi) enter into certain transactions with affiliates; (vii) make certain payments on certain other 
indebtedness; (viii) make certain investments; and (ix) incur restrictions on the ability of restricted subsidiaries to make certain 
distributions, loans or transfers of assets to VICI PropCo or any restricted subsidiary. These covenants are subject to a number 
of exceptions and qualifications, including, with respect to the restricted payments covenant, the ability to make unlimited 
restricted payments to maintain our REIT status and to avoid the payment of federal or state income or excise tax, the ability to 
make restricted payments in an amount not to exceed 95% of our Funds from Operations (as defined in the Amended and 
Restated Credit Agreement) subject to no event of default under the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement and pro forma 
compliance with the financial covenant pursuant to the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, and the ability to make 
additional restricted payments in an aggregate amount not to exceed the greater of 0.6% of Adjusted Total Assets or 
$30.0 million. We are also subject to the financial covenants under the Revolving Credit Facility, as previously described 
above. 

The Senior Secured Credit Facilities are secured by a first priority lien on substantially all of VICI PropCo’s and its existing 
and subsequently acquired wholly owned material domestic restricted subsidiaries’ material assets, including mortgages on their 
respective real estate, subject to customary exclusions. None of VICI nor certain subsidiaries of VICI PropCo, including CPLV 
Borrower, are subject to the covenants of the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement or are guarantors of the Senior Secured 
Credit Facilities. The Term Loan B Facility may be voluntarily prepaid at VICI PropCo’s option, in whole or in part, at any 
time, and is subject to mandatory prepayment in the event of receipt by VICI PropCo or any of its restricted subsidiaries of the 
proceeds from the occurrence of certain events, including asset sales, casualty events and issuance of certain indebtedness. 

In February 2018, we completed an initial public offering resulting in net proceeds of approximately $1.3 billion. We used a 
portion of those proceeds to pay down the $300.0 million outstanding on the Revolving Credit Facility and to repay $100.0 
million of the principal amount outstanding on the Term Loan B Facility. Under the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, 
the Term Loan B Facility is subject to amortization of 1.0% of principal per annum payable in equal quarterly installments on 
the last business day of each calendar quarter. However, as a result of prepaying $100.0 million of the Term Loan B Facility in 
February 2018 the next principal payment due on the Term Loan B Facility is September 2022. 

Refer to Note 9 - Derivatives for a discussion of our interest rate swap agreements related to the Term Loan B Facility.
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Bridge Facilities

On June 24, 2019, in connection with the Eldorado Transaction, VICI PropCo entered into the Commitment Letter with the 
Bridge Lender, pursuant to which and subject to the terms and conditions set forth therein, the Bridge Lender agreed to provide 
(i) a 364-day first lien secured bridge facility of up to $3.3 billion in the aggregate and (ii) a 364-day second lien secured bridge 
facility of up to $1.5 billion in the aggregate, for the purpose of providing a portion of the financing necessary to fund the 
consideration to be paid pursuant to the terms of the Eldorado Transaction documents and related fees and expenses. The 
Bridge Facilities were subject to a tiered commitment fee based on the period the commitment is outstanding and a structuring 
fee. The commitment fee was equal to, with respect to any commitments that are terminated prior to July 22, 2019, 0.25% of 
such commitments, with respect to any commitments that are outstanding on July 22, 2019 and are terminated prior to June 24, 
2020, 0.50% of such commitments, with respect to any commitments that are outstanding on June 24, 2020 and are terminated 
prior to September 24, 2020, 0.75% of such commitments, and with respect to any commitments that are outstanding on 
September 24, 2020, 1.00% of such commitments. The structuring fee was equal to 0.10% of the total aggregate commitments 
at the date of the Commitment Letter and is payable as such commitments are terminated. For the three and six months ended 
June 30, 2020, we have recognized $0.5 million and $3.1 million, respectively, of fees related to the Bridge Facilities in Interest 
expense on our Statement of Operations.

Following the November 2019 Senior Unsecured Notes offering, the commitments under the Bridge Facilities were reduced by 
$1.6 billion, to $3.2 billion. Following the February 2020 Senior Unsecured Notes offering, we placed $2.0 billion of the net 
proceeds of the offering into escrow pending the consummation of the Eldorado Transaction and the commitments under the 
Bridge Facilities were further reduced by $2.0 billion to $1.2 billion. The commitments under the Bridge Facilities were fully 
terminated at our election in June 2020. 

Second Lien Notes

The Second Lien Notes were issued on October 6, 2017, pursuant to an indenture by and among VICI PropCo and its wholly 
owned subsidiary, VICI FC Inc., the subsidiary guarantors party thereto, and UMB Bank National Association, as trustee. On 
February 20, 2020 we used a portion of the proceeds from the issuance of the 2025 Notes, together with cash on hand, to 
redeem in full the Second Lien Notes at a redemption price of 100% of the principal amount of the Second Lien Notes then 
outstanding plus the Second Lien Notes Applicable Premium, for a total redemption cost of $537.5 million. In connection with 
the full redemption, we recognized a loss on extinguishment of debt of $39.1 million. 

Financial Covenants

As described above, our debt obligations are subject to certain customary financial and protective covenants that restrict the 
Operating Partnership, VICI PropCo and its subsidiaries’ ability to incur additional debt, sell certain asset and restrict certain 
payments, among other things. These covenants are subject to a number of exceptions and qualifications, including the ability 
to make restricted payments to maintain our REIT status. At June 30, 2020, we are in compliance with all financial covenants 
under our debt obligations.

Note 9 — Derivatives 

On April 24, 2018, we entered into four interest rate swap agreements with third-party financial institutions having an aggregate 
notional amount of $1.5 billion. On January 3, 2019, we entered into two additional interest rate swap agreements with third-
party financial institutions having an aggregate notional amount of $500.0 million. The interest rate swap transactions are 
designated as cash flow hedges that effectively fix the LIBOR component of the interest rate on a portion of the outstanding 
debt under the Term Loan B Facility at 2.8297% and 2.3802%, respectively. Subsequent to the effectiveness and for the 
duration of the interest rate swap transactions, we are only subject to interest rate risk on $100.0 million of variable rate debt.
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The following tables detail our outstanding interest rate derivatives that were designated as cash flow hedges of interest rate risk 
as of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019:

($ in thousands) June 30, 2020

Instrument
Number of 
Instruments

Fixed 
Rate Notional Index Maturity

Interest Rate Swaps 4 2.8297% $ 1,500,000 USD LIBOR April 22, 2023
Interest Rate Swaps 2 2.3802% $ 500,000 USD LIBOR January 22, 2021

($ in thousands) December 31, 2019

Instrument
Number of 
Instruments

Fixed 
Rate Notional Index Maturity

Interest Rate Swaps 4 2.8297% $ 1,500,000 USD LIBOR April 22, 2023
Interest Rate Swaps 2 2.3802% $ 500,000 USD LIBOR January 22, 2021

As of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the interest rate swaps are in net unrealized loss positions and are recorded within 
Other liabilities. The following table presents the effect of our derivative financial instruments on our Statement of Operations:

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
(In thousands) 2020 2019 2020 2019
Unrealized gain (loss) recorded in other comprehensive 
income.................................................................................... $ 951 $ (30,688) $ (52,187) $ (47,879) 
Interest recorded in interest expense...................................... $ 11,114 $ 1,280 $ 16,694 $ 2,430 

Note 10 — Fair Value 

The following tables summarize our assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of June 30, 2020 and 
December 31, 2019:

June 30, 2020

(In thousands) Fair Value

Carrying Amount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Financial assets:

Short-term investments (1)................................ $ — $ — $ — $ — 
Financial liabilities:

Derivative instruments - interest rate swaps (2) $ 117,265 $ — $ 117,265 $ — 

December 31, 2019

(In thousands) Fair Value

Carrying Amount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Financial assets:

Short-term investments (1)................................. $ 59,474 $ — $ 59,474 $ — 
Financial liabilities:

Derivative instruments - interest rate swaps (2). $ 65,078 $ — $ 65,078 $ — 
___________________
(1) The carrying value of these investment is equal to their fair value due to the short-term nature of the investments as well as their credit quality.
(2) The fair values of our interest rate swap derivative instruments were estimated using advice from a third-party derivative specialist, based on contractual 
cash flows and observable inputs comprising interest rate curves and credit spreads, which are Level 2 measurements as defined under ASC 820.
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The estimated fair values of our financial instruments as of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019 for which fair value is only 
disclosed are as follows:

June 30, 2020 December 31, 2019

(In thousands)
Carrying 
Amount Fair Value

Carrying 
Amount Fair Value

Financial assets:
Investments in leases - financing receivables (1)..................... $ 812,636 $ 843,300 $ — $ — 
Investments in loans (1)............................................................  49,876  50,000  —  — 
Cash and cash equivalents......................................................  1,680,536  1,680,536  1,101,893  1,101,893 
Restricted cash........................................................................  2,000,000  2,000,000  —  — 

Financial liabilities:
Debt (2)

   Revolving Credit Facility.................................................... $ — $ — $ — $ — 
   Term Loan B Facility..........................................................  2,078,545  1,974,000  2,076,962  2,110,500 
   Second Lien Notes...............................................................  —  —  498,480  538,358 

2025 Notes..........................................................................  739,165  705,000  —  — 
2026 Notes..........................................................................  1,231,692  1,193,750  1,231,227  1,287,500 
2027 Notes..........................................................................  738,899  708,750  —  — 
2029 Notes..........................................................................  984,930  975,000  984,894  1,045,000 
2030 Notes..........................................................................  984,901  950,000  —  — 

____________________
(1) These investments represent the JACK Cleveland/Thistledown Lease Agreement and the ROV Loan, respectively, which were acquired on January 24, 

2020. Given the proximity of the date of our investment to the date of the financial statements, we determined that the fair value materially approximates 
the purchase price of the acquisition of these financial assets.

(2) The fair value of our debt instruments was estimated using quoted prices for identical or similar liabilities in markets that are not active and, as such, 
these fair value measurements are considered Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

Note 11 — Commitments and Contingent Liabilities 

Litigation

In the ordinary course of business, from time to time, we may be subject to legal claims and administrative proceedings. As of 
June 30, 2020, we are not subject to any litigation that we believe could have, individually or in the aggregate, a material 
adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations, liquidity or cash flows.

Operating Lease Commitments

We are liable under various operating leases for: (i) land at the Cascata golf course, which expires in 2038 and (ii) offices in 
New Orleans, LA and New York, NY, which expire in 2020 and 2030, respectively. The weighted average remaining lease 
term as of June 30, 2020 under our operating leases was 15.9 years. Our Cascata ground lease has three 10-year extension 
options. The rent of such options would be the in-place rent at the time of renewal.

Total rental expense, included in golf operations and general and administrative expenses in our Statement of Operations and 
contractual rent expense under these agreements were as follows:

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
(In thousands) 2020 2019 2020 2019
Rent expense........................................................................... $ 505 $ 414 $ 1,003 $ 779 
Contractual rent....................................................................... $ 345 $ 318 $ 668 $ 636 

On May 10, 2019 we entered into a lease agreement for new office space in New York, NY for our corporate headquarters. The 
lease has a 10-year term, with one 5-year extension option and requires a fixed annual rent of $0.9 million. We determined the 
lease was an operating lease and the discount rate for the lease was determined to be 5.3% based on the yield of our current 
secured borrowings, adjusted to match borrowings of similar terms. 

Table of Contents
VICI PROPERTIES INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(UNAUDITED)

41



On January 1, 2019, upon adoption of ASC 842, we recorded an $11.1 million right of use asset and a corresponding lease 
liability within Other assets and Other liabilities, respectively, on our Balance Sheet, related to the ground lease of the land at 
the Cascata Golf Course. The discount rate for the lease was determined to be 5.5% and was based on the yield of our current 
secured borrowings, adjusted to match borrowings of similar terms. 

As of June 30, 2020, we have a $17.8 million right of use asset and corresponding lease liability recorded in Other assets and 
Other liabilities, respectively, on our Balance Sheet related to our operating lease commitments for which we are the lessee.

The future minimum lease commitments relating to the base lease rent portion of noncancelable operating leases at June 30, 
2020 are as follows: 

(In thousands) Lease Commitments
2020 (remaining)................................................................................................................................ $ 902 
2021....................................................................................................................................................  1,790 
2022....................................................................................................................................................  1,808 
2023....................................................................................................................................................  1,827 
2024....................................................................................................................................................  1,847 
2025....................................................................................................................................................  1,908 
Thereafter...........................................................................................................................................  19,074 

Total minimum lease commitments............................................................................................... $ 29,156 
Discounting factor..............................................................................................................................  11,341 
Lease liability.....................................................................................................................................  17,815 

Finance Lease Commitments

Certain of our acquisitions necessitate that we assume, as the lessee, ground and use leases, the cost of which is passed to our 
tenants through the Lease Agreements, which require the tenants to pay all costs associated with such ground and use leases and 
provides for their direct payment to the landlord. 

We have determined we are the primary obligor of the ground and use leases and, accordingly, have presented these leases on a 
gross basis on our Balance Sheet and Statement of Operations. Further, we assessed the classification of the sub-lease to our 
tenant through the Lease Agreements, and our obligation as primary obligor of the ground and use leases and determined that 
they meet the definition of a sales-type lease and finance lease, respectively. The following table details the balance and 
location in our Balance Sheet of the ground and use leases as of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019:

(In thousands) June 30, 2020 December 31, 2019
Others assets (sales-type sub-lease)...................................................................... $ 8,629 $ 8,688 
Other liabilities (finance sub-lease liability)........................................................  8,643  8,688 

Total rental income and rental expense, included in Other income and Other expenses, respectively, in our Statement of 
Operations and contractual rent expense under these agreements were as follows:

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
(In thousands) 2020 2019 2020 2019
Rental income and expense (1)................................................. $ 138 $ 81 $ 277 $ 132 
Contractual rent....................................................................... $ 154 $ 88 $ 308 $ 144 

____________________
(1) For the three and six months ended June 30, 2020, these amounts are presented gross in Other income with an offsetting amount in Other expenses within 

the Statement of Operations. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2019, we recorded such amounts as a component of General and administrative 
expenses on a net basis as these charges were not material to the Statement of Operations.
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The future minimum lease commitments relating to the ground and use leases at June 30, 2020 are as follows: 

(In thousands) Lease Commitments
2020 (remaining)................................................................................................................................ $ 308 
2021....................................................................................................................................................  616 
2022....................................................................................................................................................  616 
2023....................................................................................................................................................  616 
2024....................................................................................................................................................  616 
2025....................................................................................................................................................  616 
Thereafter...........................................................................................................................................  18,653 
Total minimum lease commitments................................................................................................... $ 22,041 
Discounting factor..............................................................................................................................  13,398 
Finance sub-lease liability.................................................................................................................. $ 8,643 

The discount rate for the ground and use leases was determined based on the yield of our current secured borrowings, adjusted 
to match borrowings of similar terms and are between 6% and 7%. The weighted average remaining lease term as of June 30, 
2020 under our finance leases was 35.8 years.

Note 12 — Stockholders' Equity 

Stock

Authorized

We have the authority to issue 750,000,000 shares of stock, consisting of 700,000,000 shares of Common Stock, $0.01 par 
value per share and 50,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock, $0.01 par value per share.

June 2020 Offering

On June 17, 2020, we completed a primary follow-on offering of 29,900,000 shares of common stock (inclusive of 3,900,000 
shares sold pursuant to the exercise in full of the underwriters’ option to purchase additional common stock) at an offering price 
of $22.15 per share for an aggregate offering value of $662.3 million, all of which are subject to a forward sale agreement to be 
settled by September 17, 2020 (the “June 2020 Forward Sale Agreement”). We did not initially receive any proceeds from the 
sale of the shares of common stock in the offering, which were sold to the underwriters by the forward purchaser or its 
affiliates. We determined that the June 2020 Forward Sale Agreement meets the criteria for equity classification and is therefore 
exempt from derivative accounting. We recorded the June 2020 Forward Sale Agreement at fair value at inception, which we 
determined to be zero. Subsequent changes to fair value are not required under equity classification. 

We expect to settle the June 2020 Forward Sale Agreement entirely by the physical delivery by us of 29,900,000 shares of our 
common stock in exchange for cash proceeds, although we may elect cash settlement or net share settlement for all or a portion 
of our obligations under the June 2020 Forward Sale Agreement. The physical settlement of the June 2020 Forward Sale 
Agreement is calculated based on the initial forward sale price per share of $21.37 as adjusted for a floating interest rate factor 
and other fixed amounts based on the passage of time, as specified in the June 2020 Forward Sale Agreement. As of June 30, 
2020, based on these adjustments, the forward share price was $21.07 and would result in us receiving approximately 
$630.1 million in cash proceeds if we were to physically settle the June 2020 Forward Sale Agreement. Alternatively, if we 
were to net cash settle the June 2020 Forward Sale Agreement, it would result in a cash inflow of $26.4 million or, if we were 
to net share settle the June 2020 Forward Sale Agreement, it would result in us receiving approximately 1.3 million shares. As 
of June 30, 2020, we have not settled any portion of the June 2020 Forward Sale Agreement.

Further, the shares of common stock issuable upon settlement of the June 2020 Forward Sale Agreement will be reflected in our 
diluted earnings per share calculations using the treasury stock method. Under this method, the number of shares of our 
common stock used in calculating diluted earnings per share is deemed to be increased by the excess, if any, of the number of 
shares of common stock that would be issued upon full physical settlement of the June 2020 Forward Sale Agreement over the 
number of shares of common stock that could be purchased by us in the market (based on the average market price during the 
period) using the proceeds receivable upon full physical settlement (based on the adjusted forward sales price at the end of the 
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reporting period). If and when we physically settle the June 2020 Forward Sale Agreement, the delivery of shares of our 
common stock will result in an increase in the number of shares of common stock outstanding and dilution to our earnings per 
share. We intend to use the net proceeds upon settlement of the June 2020 Forward Sale Agreement to fund the Forum 
Convention Center Mortgage Loan and the purchase price of the Las Vegas Land and for general corporate purposes, which 
may include our other pending transactions, the acquisition and improvement of properties, capital expenditures, working 
capital and the repayment of indebtedness. 

June 2019 Offering

On June 28, 2019, we completed a primary follow-on offering of (i) 50,000,000 shares of common stock (including 15,000,000 
shares sold pursuant to the exercise in full of the underwriters’ option to purchase additional common stock) at an offering price 
of $21.50 per share for an aggregate offering value of $1.1 billion, resulting in net proceeds, after the deduction of the 
underwriting discount and expenses, of $1.0 billion and (ii) 65,000,000 shares of common stock that were subject to forward 
sale agreements to be settled by September 26, 2020 (collectively the “June 2019 Forward Sale Agreements”). We did not 
initially receive any proceeds from the sale of the shares of common stock subject to the June 2019 Forward Sale Agreements 
that were sold by the forward purchasers or their respective affiliates. We determined that the June 2019 Forward Sale 
Agreements meet the criteria for equity classification and are therefore exempt from derivative accounting. We recorded the 
June 2019 Forward Sale Agreements at fair value at inception, which we determined to be zero. Subsequent changes to fair 
value were not required under equity classification. 

On June 2, 2020, we physically settled the June 2019 Forward Sale Agreements in full by delivering 65,000,000 shares of our 
common stock to the forward purchasers, in exchange for total net proceeds of approximately $1.3 billion. The physical 
settlement of the June 2019 Forward Sale Agreements was calculated based on the forward sale price of $19.64 per share. The 
proceeds were used to consummate the Eldorado Transaction.

At-the-Market Offering Program

We have entered into an equity distribution agreement, as amended (the “ATM Agreement”), pursuant to which we may sell, 
from time to time, up to an aggregate sales price of $750.0 million of our common stock (the “ATM Program”). Sales of 
common stock, if any, made pursuant to the ATM Agreement may be sold in negotiated transactions or transactions that are 
deemed to be “at the market” offerings, as defined in Rule 415 of the Securities Act. Actual sales under the ATM Program will 
depend on a variety of factors including market conditions, the trading price of our common stock, our capital needs, and our 
determination of the appropriate sources of funding to meet such needs. During the six months ended June 30, 2020, we sold a 
total of 7,500,000 shares under the ATM Program for net proceeds of $200.0 million. During the year ended December 31, 
2019, we sold a total of 6,107,633 shares under the ATM Program for net proceeds of $128.3 million. We have no obligation to 
sell the remaining shares available for sale under the ATM Program.

The following table details the issuance of outstanding shares of common stock, including restricted common stock:

Six Months Ended June 30,

Common Stock Outstanding 2020 2019

Beginning Balance January 1, (1)...................................................................................  461,004,742  404,729,616 
Issuance of common stock in primary follow-on offerings................................  —  50,000,000 
Issuance of common stock upon physical settlement of forward sale 
agreements (1)......................................................................................................  65,000,000  — 
Issuance of common stock under the at-the-market offering program...............  7,500,000  6,107,633 
Issuance of restricted and unrestricted common stock under the stock 
incentive program, net of forfeitures (2)...............................................................  163,013  167,297 
Ending Balance June 30,................................................................................................  533,667,755  461,004,546 

____________________
(1) Excludes the 29,900,000 shares subject to June 2020 Forward Sale Agreement as the shares are not yet settled. 
(2) The six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 excludes 239,437 share units and 157,512 share units, respectively, issued under the performance-based 

stock incentive program. 
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Dividends

Dividends declared (on a per share basis) during the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 were as follows:

Six Months Ended June 30, 2020

Declaration Date Record Date Payment Date Period Dividend
March 12, 2020 March 31, 2020 April 9, 2020 January 1, 2020 - March 31, 2020 $ 0.2975 
June 11, 2020 June 30, 2020 July 10, 2020 April 1, 2020 - June 30, 2020 $ 0.2975 

Six Months Ended June 30, 2019

Declaration Date Record Date Payment Date Period Dividend
March 14, 2019 March 29, 2019 April 11, 2019 January 1, 2019 - March 31, 2019 $ 0.2875 
June 13, 2019 June 28, 2019 July 12, 2019 April 1, 2019 - June 30, 2019 $ 0.2875 

Note 13 — Earnings Per Share 

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income attributable to common stockholders by the weighted-average 
number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period, excluding net income attributable to participating securities 
(unvested restricted stock awards). Diluted earnings per share reflects the additional dilution for all potentially dilutive 
securities such as stock options, unvested restricted shares, unvested performance-based restricted shares and the shares to be 
issued by us upon settlement of the June 2020 Forward Sale Agreement. The shares issuable upon settlement of the June 2020 
Forward Sale Agreement, as described in Note 12 - Stockholders' Equity, are reflected in the diluted earnings per share 
calculations using the treasury stock method. Under this method, the number of shares of our common stock used in calculating 
diluted earnings per share is deemed to be increased by the excess, if any, of the number of shares of common stock that would 
be issued upon full physical settlement of the June 2020 Forward Sale Agreement over the number of shares of common stock 
that could be purchased by us in the market (based on the average market price during the period) using the proceeds receivable 
upon full physical settlement (based on the adjusted forward sales price at the end of the reporting period). If and when we 
physically or net share settle the June 2020 Forward Sale Agreement, the delivery of shares of common stock would result in an 
increase in the number of shares outstanding and dilution to earnings per share. 

The following tables reconcile the weighted-average shares of common stock outstanding used in the calculation of basic 
earnings per share to the weighted-average shares of common stock outstanding used in the calculation of diluted earnings per 
share:

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
(In thousands) 2020 2019 2020 2019
Determination of shares:  

Weighted-average shares of common stock outstanding...  489,012  412,310  477,095  409,040 
Assumed conversion of restricted stock (1).........................  198  321  232  363 
Assumed settlement of forward sale agreements...............  3  190  4,326  70 
Diluted weighted-average shares of common stock 
outstanding.........................................................................  489,213  412,821  481,652  409,473 

____________________
(1) For the three and six months ended June 30, 2020, certain unvested restricted shares and unvested performance-based restricted shares were excluded 

from the computation of diluted EPS because the effect of doing so was anti-dilutive. 
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Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
(In thousands, except per share data) 2020 2019 2020 2019
Basic:

Net income attributable to common stockholders.............. $ 229,402 $ 152,049 $ 205,390 $ 302,898 
Weighted-average shares of common stock outstanding....  489,012  412,310  477,095  409,040 
Basic EPS........................................................................... $ 0.47 $ 0.37 $ 0.43 $ 0.74 

 
Diluted:

Net income attributable to common stockholders.............. $ 229,402 $ 152,049 $ 205,390 $ 302,898 
Diluted weighted-average shares of common stock 
outstanding..........................................................................  489,213  412,821  481,652  409,473 
Diluted EPS........................................................................ $ 0.47 $ 0.37 $ 0.43 $ 0.74 

Note 14 — Stock-Based Compensation 

The 2017 Stock Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) is designed to provide long-term equity-based compensation to our directors and 
employees. It is administered by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors. Awards under the Plan may be 
granted with respect to an aggregate of 12,750,000 shares of common stock and may be issued in the form of: (a) incentive 
stock options, (b) non-qualified stock options, (c) stock appreciation rights, (d) dividend equivalent rights, (e) restricted stock, 
(f) restricted stock units or (g) unrestricted stock. In addition, the Plan limits the total number of shares of common stock with 
respect to which awards may be granted to any employee or director during any one calendar year. At June 30, 2020, 
11,478,446 shares of common stock remained available for issuance by us as equity awards under the Plan.

The following table details the stock-based compensation expense recorded as General and administrative expense in the 
Statement of Operations:

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
(In thousands) 2020 2019 2020 2019
Stock-based compensation expense........................................ $ 2,012 $ 1,366 $ 3,361 $ 2,417 

The following table details the activity of our time-based restricted stock and performance-based restricted stock units:

Six Months Ended June 30, 2020 Six Months Ended June 30, 2019

 (In thousands, except per share data) Shares
Weighted Average 

Grant Date Fair Value Shares
Weighted Average 

Grant Date Fair Value
Outstanding at beginning of period  601 $ 21.16  398 $ 19.60 
Granted  421  19.51  336  22.03 
Vested  (116)  21.08  (93)  19.41 
Forfeited  (25)  21.21  (12)  20.78 
Canceled  —  —  —  — 
Outstanding at end of period  881 $ 20.38  629 $ 20.90 

As of June 30, 2020, there was $13.5 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested stock-based 
compensation arrangements under the Plan. This cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 2.0 years.
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Note 15 — Segment Information 

Our real property business and our golf course business represent two reportable segments. The real property business segment 
consists of leased real property and represents the substantial majority of our business. The golf course business segment 
consists of four golf courses, with each being operating segments that are aggregated into one reportable segment.

The results of each reportable segment presented below are consistent with the way our management assesses these results and 
allocates resources. The following table presents certain information with respect to our segments:

Three Months Ended June 30, 2020 Three Months Ended June 30, 2019

(In thousands)
Real Property 

Business
Golf Course 

Business
VICI 

Consolidated
Real Property 

Business
Golf Course 

Business
VICI 

Consolidated
Revenues.......................... $ 252,567 $ 5,335 $ 257,902 $ 212,463 $ 8,283 $ 220,746 
Operating income.............  308,622  14  308,636  203,077  2,418  205,495 
Interest expense................  (77,693)  —  (77,693)  (54,819)  —  (54,819) 
Loss on extinguishment 
of debt...............................  —  —  —  —  —  — 
Income before income 
taxes..................................  231,935  17  231,952  152,186  2,494  154,680 
Income tax expense..........  (257)  (52)  (309)  —  (553)  (553) 
Net income (loss).............  231,678  (35)  231,643  152,186  1,941  154,127 

Depreciation.....................  31  1,182  1,213  2  1,016  1,018 

Total assets....................... $ 16,188,235 $ 89,399 $ 16,277,634 $ 12,423,049 $ 98,997 $ 12,522,046 
Total liabilities.................. $ 7,186,916 $ 16,307 $ 7,203,223 $ 4,434,057 $ 15,566 $ 4,449,623 

Six Months Ended June 30, 2020 Six Months Ended June 30, 2019

(In thousands)
Real Property 

Business
Golf Course 

Business
VICI 

Consolidated
Real Property 

Business
Golf Course 

Business
VICI 

Consolidated
Revenues.......................... $ 501,268 $ 11,635 $ 512,903 $ 419,126 $ 15,622 $ 434,748 
Operating income.............  395,555  1,102  396,657  402,623  4,738  407,361 
Interest expense................  (153,786)  —  (153,786)  (108,405)  —  (108,405) 
Loss on extinguishment 
of debt...............................  (39,059)  —  (39,059)  —  —  — 
Income before income 
taxes..................................  209,222  1,119  210,341  303,276  4,851  308,127 
Income tax expense..........  (514)  (249)  (763)  —  (1,074)  (1,074) 
Net income.......................  208,708  870  209,578  303,276  3,777  307,053 

Depreciation.....................  54  2,026  2,080  5  1,943  1,948 

Total assets....................... $ 16,188,235 $ 89,399 $ 16,277,634 $ 12,423,049 $ 98,997 $ 12,522,046 
Total liabilities.................. $ 7,186,916 $ 16,307 $ 7,203,223 $ 4,434,057 $ 15,566 $ 4,449,623 
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Note 16 — Subsequent Events 

We have evaluated subsequent events and, except for the payment of dividends on July 10, 2020 (as described in Note 12 - 
Stockholders' Equity), the entry into the JACK Lease Agreement Amendment and the entry into the Amended and Restated 
ROV Loan on July 16, 2020 (as described in Note 4 – Property Transactions) and the consummation of the Eldorado 
Transaction (as described in Note 4 – Property Transactions), there were no other events relative to the Financial Statements 
that require additional disclosure.
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Item 2.  Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations

The following discussion and analysis of the financial position and operating results of VICI Properties Inc. for the three and 
six months ended June 30, 2020 should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and related notes 
thereto and other financial information contained elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and the audited 
consolidated financial statements and related notes for the year ended December 31, 2019, which were included in our Annual 
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019. All defined terms included herein have the same meaning as those 
set forth in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contained within this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. 

CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including statements such as “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” 
“expect,” “intend,” “plan,” “project,” “target,” “can,” “could,” “may,” “should,” “will,” “would” or similar expressions, 
constitute “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the federal securities law. Forward-looking statements are based 
on our current plans, expectations and projections about future events. We caution you therefore against relying on any of these 
forward-looking statements. They give our expectations about the future and are not guarantees. These statements involve 
known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results, performance and achievements to 
materially differ from any future results, performance and achievements expressed in or implied by such forward-looking 
statements.

Currently, one of the most significant factors that could cause actual outcomes to differ materially from our forward-looking 
statements is the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and 
performance of the Company and its tenants. The extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic impacts the Company, its tenants 
and its pending transactions, will largely depend on future developments that are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted with 
confidence, including the impact of the actions taken to contain the pandemic or mitigate its impact, and the direct and indirect 
economic effects of the pandemic and containment measures on our tenants, including various state governments and/or 
regulatory authorities issuing directives, mandates, orders or similar actions restricting freedom of movement and business 
operations, such as travel restrictions, border closures, business closures, limitations on public gatherings, quarantines and 
“shelter-at-home” orders that resulted in the temporary closure of our tenants’ operations at our properties, the ability of the 
Company’s tenants to successfully operate their businesses following reopening of their respective facilities, including the costs 
of complying with regulatory requirements necessary to keep the facilities open, including compliance with restrictions and 
reduced capacity requirements, the need to close any of the facilities after reopening as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, and 
the effects of the negotiated capital expenditure reductions and other amendments to the Lease Agreements that the Company 
agreed to with certain of its tenants in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. Each of the foregoing could have a material 
adverse effect on our tenants’ ability to satisfy their obligations under their leases with us, including their continued ability to 
pay rent in a timely manner, or at all, and/or to fund capital expenditures or make other payments required under their leases. In 
addition, changes and instability in global, national and regional economic activity and financial markets as a result of the 
COVID-19 pandemic could negatively impact consumer discretionary spending and travel, which could have a material adverse 
effect on our tenants’ businesses. Investors are cautioned to interpret many of the risks identified under the section entitled 
“Risk Factors” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019 as being heightened as a result of the 
ongoing and numerous adverse impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic. 

The forward-looking statements included herein are based upon our current expectations, plans, estimates, assumptions and 
beliefs that involve numerous risks and uncertainties. Assumptions relating to the foregoing involve judgments with respect to, 
among other things, future economic, competitive and market conditions and future business decisions, all of which are difficult 
or impossible to predict accurately and many of which are beyond our control. Although we believe that the expectations 
reflected in such forward-looking statements are based on reasonable assumptions, our actual results, performance and 
achievements could differ materially from those set forth in the forward-looking statements and may be affected by a variety of 
risks and other factors, including, among others: the impact of changes in general economic conditions, including low consumer 
confidence, unemployment levels and depressed real estate prices resulting from the severity and duration of any downturn in 
the U.S. or global economy (including stemming from the COVID-19 pandemic and changes in economic conditions as a result 
of the COVID-19 pandemic); our dependence on subsidiaries of Caesars, Penn National, Hard Rock, Century Casinos and 
JACK Entertainment as tenants of our properties and Caesars, Penn National, Seminole Hard Rock, Century Casinos and Rock 
Ohio Ventures LLC or certain of their respective subsidiaries as guarantors of the lease payments and the negative 
consequences any material adverse effect on their respective businesses could have on us; our dependence on the gaming 
industry; our ability to pursue our business and growth strategies may be limited by our substantial debt service requirements 
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and by the requirement that we distribute 90% of our REIT taxable income in order to qualify for taxation as a REIT and that 
we distribute 100% of our REIT taxable income in order to avoid current entity-level U.S. Federal income taxes; the impact of 
extensive regulation from gaming and other regulatory authorities; the ability of our tenants to obtain and maintain regulatory 
approvals in connection with the operation of our properties; the possibility that our tenants may choose not to renew the Lease 
Agreements following the initial or subsequent terms of the leases; restrictions on our ability to sell our properties subject to the 
Lease Agreements; Caesars’, Penn National’s, Hard Rock’s, Century Casinos’ and JACK Entertainment’s historical results may 
not be a reliable indicator of their future results; our substantial amount of indebtedness and ability to service, refinance and 
otherwise fulfill our obligations under such indebtedness; limits on our operational and financial flexibility imposed by our debt 
agreements; our historical financial information may not be reliable indicators of our future results of operations, financial 
condition and cash flows; the possibility that our pending transactions, specifically the Forum Convention Center Mortgage 
Loan and Las Vegas Land Acquisition (each as defined herein), may not be completed or that completion may be unduly 
delayed; the possibility that we identify significant environmental, tax, legal or other issues that materially and adversely impact 
the value of properties acquired (or other benefits we expect to receive) in any of our pending or recently completed 
transactions; the effects of our recently completed and pending transactions on us, including the future impact on our financial 
condition, financial and operating results, cash flows, strategy and plans; the possibility our separation from CEOC fails to 
qualify as a tax-free spin-off, which could subject us to significant tax liabilities; the impact of changes to the U.S. Federal 
income tax laws; the possibility of foreclosure on our properties if we are unable to meet required debt service payments; the 
impact of a rise in interest rates on us; our inability to successfully pursue investments in, and acquisitions of, additional 
properties; the impact of natural disasters, war, political and public health conditions or uncertainty or civil unrest, violence or 
terrorist activities or threats on our properties and changes in economic conditions or heightened travel security and health 
measures instituted in response to these events; the loss of the services of key personnel; the inability to attract, retain and 
motivate employees; the costs and liabilities associated with environmental compliance; failure to establish and maintain an 
effective system of integrated internal controls; the costs of operating as a public company; our inability to operate as a stand-
alone company; our inability to maintain our qualification for taxation as a REIT; our reliance on distributions received from 
the Operating Partnership to make distributions to our stockholders; the potential impact on the amount of our cash distributions 
if we were to sell any of our properties in the future; our ability to continue to make distributions to holders of our common 
stock or maintain anticipated levels of distributions over time; competition for acquisition opportunities, including from other 
REITs, investment companies, private equity and hedge fund investors, sovereign funds, lenders, gaming companies and other 
investors that may have greater resources and access to capital and a lower cost of capital or different investment parameters 
than us; and additional factors discussed herein and listed from time to time as “Risk Factors” in our filings with the SEC, 
including without limitation, in our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and Current Reports on 
Form 8-K.

Any of the assumptions underlying forward-looking statements could be inaccurate. You are cautioned not to place undue 
reliance on any forward-looking statements. All forward-looking statements are made as of the date of this Quarterly Report on 
Form 10-Q and the risk that actual results, performance and achievements will differ materially from the expectations expressed 
herein will increase with the passage of time. Except as otherwise required by the Federal securities laws, we undertake no 
obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events, 
changed circumstances or any other reason. In light of the significant uncertainties inherent in forward-looking statements, the 
inclusion of such forward-looking statements should not be regarded as a representation by us.

OVERVIEW

We are an owner and acquirer of experiential real estate assets across leading gaming, hospitality, entertainment and leisure 
destinations. Our national, geographically diverse portfolio currently consists of 31 market leading properties, including 
Caesars Palace Las Vegas and Harrah’s Las Vegas, two of the most iconic entertainment facilities on the Las Vegas Strip. Our 
entertainment facilities are leased to leading brands that seek to drive consumer loyalty and value with guests through superior 
services, experiences, products and continuous innovation. Across over 50 million square feet, our well-maintained properties 
are currently located across urban, destination and drive-to markets in twelve states, contain approximately 20,200 hotel rooms 
and feature over 200 restaurants, bars and nightclubs. 

Our portfolio also includes approximately 34 acres of undeveloped or underdeveloped land on and adjacent to the Las Vegas 
Strip that is leased to Caesars, which we may look to monetize as appropriate. We also own and operate four championship golf 
courses located near certain of our properties, two of which are in close proximity to the Las Vegas Strip. 
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The following chart summarizes our current portfolio of properties, our pending transactions and our properties subject to the 
right of first refusal agreements and put/call agreement with Caesars:

We lease our properties to subsidiaries of Caesars, Penn National, Hard Rock, Century Casinos and JACK Entertainment. As of 
the consummation of the Eldorado Transaction, Caesars is our largest tenant. We believe we have a mutually beneficial 
relationship with Caesars, Penn National, Hard Rock, Century Casinos and JACK Entertainment, all of which are leading 
owners and operators of gaming, entertainment and leisure properties. Our long-term triple-net Lease Agreements with 
subsidiaries of Caesars, Penn National, Hard Rock, Century Casinos and JACK Entertainment provide us with a highly 
predictable revenue stream with embedded growth potential. We believe our geographic diversification limits the effect of 
changes in any one market on our overall performance. We are focused on driving long-term total returns through managing 
experiential asset growth and allocating capital diligently, maintaining a highly productive tenant base, and optimizing our 
capital structure to support external growth. As a growth focused public real estate investment trust with long-term investments, 
we expect our relationship with our partners will position us for the acquisition of additional properties across leisure and 
hospitality over the long term. Given current market conditions and the ongoing impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, we 
anticipate more limited acquisition activity in the near term and we will prioritize our existing tenant relationships and assets, as 
well as our financial strength and liquidity over the near- to medium-term. However, we will continue to evaluate and may 
opportunistically pursue accretive acquisitions that may arise as a result of the current turbulence in the market.

Our portfolio is competitively positioned and well-maintained. Pursuant to the terms of the Lease Agreements, which generally 
require our tenants to invest in our properties (subject in certain cases to temporary relief we granted certain tenants on a portion 
of their capital expenditure obligations), and in line with our tenants’ commitment to build guest loyalty, we anticipate our 
tenants will continue to make strategic value-enhancing investments in our properties over time, helping to maintain their 
competitive position. In addition, given our scale and deep industry knowledge, we believe we are well-positioned to execute 

Table of Contents

51



highly complementary single-asset and portfolio acquisitions to augment growth as market conditions allow and with a focus on 
disciplined capital allocation given the ongoing impact of the COVID-19 pandemic.

We conduct our operations as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes. We generally will not be subject to U.S. federal 
income taxes on our taxable income to the extent that we annually distribute all of our net taxable income to stockholders and 
maintain our qualification as a REIT. We believe our election of REIT status combined with the income generation from the 
Lease Agreements will enhance our ability to make distributions to our stockholders, providing investors with current income 
as well as long-term growth, subject to the current macroeconomic impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and market conditions 
more broadly. We conduct our real property business through our Operating Partnership and our golf course business through a 
TRS, VICI Golf.

The financial information included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q is our consolidated results (including the real 
property business and the golf course business) for the three and six months ended June 30, 2020. 

Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Our Business 

On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization declared COVID-19 a pandemic, and on March 13, 2020, the United States 
declared a national emergency. Among the broader public health, societal and global impact, the COVID-19 pandemic resulted 
in state governments and/or regulatory authorities issuing various directives, mandates, orders or similar actions, resulting in the 
temporary closure of our tenants’ operations at all of our properties. Our golf course business has also been impacted, with all 
four courses temporarily ceasing operations in March 2020 as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, although our golf courses 
were subsequently reopened in early to mid-May 2020 in compliance with applicable regulations and restrictions. As of July 29, 
2020, the operations of substantially all of our properties have reopened, subject to operating limitations set forth by the state 
and local governments and/or regulatory authorities. One property, Greektown, remains closed as the local government and 
regulatory authority have yet to allow it to reopen. While most of our tenants’ facilities at our properties have reopened, they 
have reopened at reduced capacity and subject to additional operating restrictions, and we cannot predict how long they will be 
required to operate subject to such operating restrictions or whether they will be subject to additional restrictions or forced to 
close again in the future. The full extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic ultimately impacts us and our tenants continues to 
depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted with confidence, including the scope, 
severity and duration of the pandemic, the actions taken to contain the pandemic or mitigate its impact, and the direct and 
indirect economic effects of the pandemic and containment measures on our tenants, including our tenants’ financial 
performance following reopening and the extent of operating limitations and reduced capacity requirements upon reopening. 
We continue to closely monitor the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on us, our tenants and our pending transactions. 

In addition to the closure and restriction of their operations, our tenants have experienced a substantial number of cancellations 
and reductions in future events and reservations in connection with the uncertain duration of the COVID-19 pandemic and 
business closures. Following the reopening of our tenants’ businesses, they may face additional challenges with respect to 
restoring operations and financial performance, in particular as a result of changes in customer engagement. The COVID-19 
pandemic and the actions taken to contain the pandemic or mitigate its impact are generally expected to trigger a period of 
economic slowdown or a global economic recession, which may continue well beyond the lifting of governmental restrictions 
related to COVID-19 and the reopening of our tenants’ businesses and change consumer behavior, thereby negatively affecting 
an economic recovery in the gaming sector. Historically, economic indicators such as GDP growth, consumer confidence and 
employment are correlated with demand for gaming, entertainment and leisure properties, and economic recessions have led to 
a decrease in gaming revenue, although the impact of such recessions have generally been less volatile than the impact on retail 
revenue and S&P 500 sales. 

All of our tenants have fulfilled their rent obligations through July 2020 and we continue to engage with our tenants in 
connection with the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and its impact on operations, liquidity and financial performance. However, 
in connection with the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and its impact on our tenants’ operations and financial performance, we 
have provided certain relief under the applicable Lease Agreements to some of our tenants. While the relief we have provided 
has not deferred or reduced rent obligations for any of our tenants, due to these factors and the continuing uncertainty of the 
ultimate impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, there can be no assurance that our tenants will continue to fulfill their rent 
obligations in full or that our tenants will make anticipated capital expenditures to maintain or improve our properties. Further, 
future or current economic conditions could impact our tenants’ ability to meet capital improvement requirements or other 
obligations required in our Lease Agreements that could result in a decrease in value of our properties. We continue to actively 
engage in dialogues with our tenants regarding how best to respond to the COVID-19 pandemic and the closure and restriction 
of their businesses, including with respect to its impact on their respective financial and operating situations, liquidity needs and 
contingency planning. Although all of our tenants have fulfilled their rent obligation in full through July 2020, we cannot 
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predict with confidence when our tenants’ operations at our properties will reopen or operate without restriction, or, once 
reopened, whether they will be forced to close again in the future, or if and when they will return to pre-pandemic performance 
levels, and as the duration of the pandemic and operational restrictions lengthens, our tenants’ liquidity positions may become 
more stressed and it may cause one or more of our tenants to be unwilling or unable to meet their obligations to us in full, or at 
all, or to otherwise seek modifications to such obligations. As a triple-net lessor, we believe we are generally in a strong 
creditor position and structurally insulated from operational and performance impacts of our tenants, both positive and negative. 
However, given the unprecedented nature of the COVID-19 pandemic, we understand that working with our tenants in the short 
term to ensure their long-term financial health and performance may become necessary and should provide meaningful benefits 
to us as well over the long-term.

Given the significant impact on global economic activity to date, including the debt and equity markets, we expect the 
COVID-19 pandemic may adversely impact our ability to pursue additional material acquisitions as well as acquisition and 
similar transactional activity in the gaming sector, for an undetermined period of time.

As described herein, the full extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic ultimately impacts us and our tenants will depend on 
future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted with confidence, including the scope, severity and 
duration of the pandemic, the actions taken to contain the pandemic or mitigate its impact, the direct and indirect economic 
effects of the pandemic and containment measures on our tenants, the length of time our tenants’ operations at our properties 
remain closed or restricted, or close again in the future, our tenants’ financial performance during the closure and following 
reopening and any operating limitations upon reopening. These uncertainties make it difficult to predict our operating results for 
the remainder of 2020. We will continue to closely monitor the impact of COVID-19 on us, our tenants and our pending 
transactions. For more information, refer to “Part II – Item 1A. Risk Factors” included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on 
Form 10-Q.

SIGNIFICANT ACTIVITIES DURING 2020

Our significant activities in 2020, in reverse chronological order, are as follows:

Consummation of the Eldorado Transaction

Subsequent to June 30, 2020, on July 20, 2020, concurrent with the consummation of the Eldorado/Caesars Merger, we 
consummated the Eldorado Transaction contemplated by the MTA and the MTA Property Purchase Agreements (as defined 
below). We funded the Eldorado Transaction with a combination of cash on hand, the proceeds from the physical settlement of 
the June 2019 Forward Sale Agreements, as described in Note 12 - Stockholders’ Equity, and the proceeds from our February 
2020 Senior Unsecured Notes offering previously held in escrow. Any references to Caesars in the subsequent transaction 
discussion refer to the combined Eldorado/Caesars subsequent to the consummation of the Eldorado/Caesars Merger.

The closing of the Eldorado Transaction includes the consummation of the transactions contemplated by the following 
agreements:

• Acquisition of the MTA Properties. We acquired all of the land and real estate assets associated with Harrah’s New 
Orleans, Harrah’s Laughlin and Harrah’s Atlantic City (collectively, the “MTA Properties”) for an aggregate 
purchase price of $1,823.5 million (the “MTA Properties Acquisitions”). The Regional Master Lease Agreement was 
amended to, among other things, include each such property, with initial aggregate total annual rent payable to us 
increased by $154.0 million to $621.7 million, and to extend the initial term to July 2035 and to adjust certain 
minimum capital expenditure requirements and other related terms and conditions as a result of the MTA Properties 
being included in the Regional Master Lease Agreement as further described in “—Lease Amendments and 
Terminations” below. We completed the MTA Properties Acquisitions pursuant to the following agreements: (i) a 
Purchase and Sale Agreement (the “Harrah’s New Orleans Purchase Agreement”) pursuant to which we agreed to 
acquire, and Eldorado agreed to cause to be sold, all of the fee and leasehold interests in the land and real property 
improvements associated with Harrah’s New Orleans in New Orleans, Louisiana (“Harrah’s New Orleans”) for a cash 
purchase price of $789.5 million, (ii) a Purchase and Sale Agreement (the “Harrah’s Atlantic City Purchase 
Agreement”) pursuant to which we agreed to acquire, and Eldorado agreed to cause to be sold, all of the land and real 
property improvements associated with Harrah’s Resort Atlantic City and Harrah’s Atlantic City Waterfront 
Conference Center in Atlantic City, New Jersey for a cash purchase price of $599.3 million and (iii) a Purchase and 
Sale Agreement (the “Harrah’s Laughlin Purchase Agreement” and, collectively with the Harrah’s New Orleans 
Purchase Agreement and the Harrah’s Atlantic City Purchase Agreement, the “MTA Property Purchase Agreements”) 
pursuant to which we agreed to acquire, and Eldorado agreed to cause to be sold, all of the equity interests in a newly 
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formed entity that acquired the land and real property improvements associated with Harrah’s Laughlin Hotel & 
Casino in Laughlin, Nevada for a cash purchase price of $434.8 million. Each of our existing call options on the 
MTA Properties terminated upon the closing of the MTA Properties Acquisitions.

In connection with the completion of the purchase of Harrah’s New Orleans, the tenant’s leasehold interest in that 
certain Second Amended and Restated Lease Agreement (the “Ground Lease”) dated as of April 3, 2020, by and 
among Jazz Casino Company, L.L.C., a Louisiana limited liability company (“JCC”), New Orleans Building 
Corporation (“NOBC”) and the City of New Orleans was assigned by JCC to us. The Ground Lease sets forth the 
terms and conditions pursuant to which we lease from NOBC a portion of the land upon which Harrah’s New Orleans 
is located. Simultaneous with entering into the assignment of the Ground Lease, we subleased our interest in the 
Ground Lease to Caesars in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Regional Master Lease Agreement.  

Pursuant to the Regional Master Lease, Caesars is required to perform our obligations as tenant under the Ground 
Lease, which include the obligation to construct a new hotel intended to be located on the ground-leased premises and 
to expend at least $325.0 million in connection with the construction of such hotel. The Ground Lease contains 
certain rights in our favor should Caesars fail to perform our obligations thereunder, including providing us with 
additional cure periods. If we are unable to cure a Caesars default during any such additional cure period, then, 
subject to certain conditions more particularly set forth in the Ground Lease, we will have a further additional period 
(up to 12-24 months) to seek to terminate Caesars as tenant and enter into a replacement sublease with a new operator 
with respect to the leased premises. If we fail to cure such default at the end of such additional cure period, NOBC 
would have the right to exercise remedies, including termination of the Ground Lease, in which case we would no 
longer have any right, title or interest to the leased premises or the improvements located thereon.

• Creation of Las Vegas Master Lease. In consideration of a payment by us to (i) the tenant under the CPLV Lease 
Agreement of $1,189.9 million (the “CPLV Lease Amendment Payment”) and (ii) the tenant under the HLV Lease 
Agreement of $213.8 million (the “HLV Lease Amendment Payment”), upon the consummation of the Eldorado 
Transaction, (a) the CPLV Lease Agreement was amended to (A) combine the CPLV Lease Agreement and the HLV 
Lease Agreement into a single Las Vegas Master Lease Agreement, (B) increase the annual rent payable to us 
thereunder associated with Caesars Palace Las Vegas by $83.5 million (the “CPLV Additional Rent Acquisition”), 
(C) increase the annual rent previously payable to us with respect to the Harrah’s Las Vegas property by $15.0 
million (the “HLV Additional Rent Acquisition”) under the Las Vegas Master Lease Agreement and (D) provide for 
the amended terms described below, and (b) the HLV Lease Agreement and the related lease guaranty were 
terminated. As a result of such amendments, the Harrah’s Las Vegas property is also now subject to the higher rent 
escalator under the Las Vegas Master Lease Agreement.

• Lease Amendments and Terminations. Each of the Caesars Lease Agreements was amended to, among other things, 
(i) remove the rent coverage floors, which coverage floors served to reduce the rent escalators under such leases in 
the event that the “EBITDAR to Rent Ratio” (as defined in the applicable Caesars Lease Agreements) coverage was 
below the stated floor and (ii) extend the term of each such lease by such additional period of time as necessary to 
ensure that, each lease will have a full 15-year initial lease term following the consummation of the Eldorado 
Transaction. The Regional Master Lease Agreement was also amended to, among other things: (a) permit the tenant 
under the Regional Master Lease Agreement to cause facilities subject to the Regional Master Lease Agreement that 
in the aggregate represent up to five percent of the aggregate EBITDAR of (A) all of the facilities under such 
Regional Master Lease Agreement and (B) the Harrah’s Joliet facility, for the 2018 fiscal year (defined as the “2018 
EBITDAR Pool” in the Regional Master Lease Agreement, without giving effect to any increase in the 2018 
EBITDAR Pool as a result of a facility being added to the Regional Master Lease Agreement) to be sold (whereby the 
tenant and landlord under the Regional Master Lease Agreement would sell the operations and real estate, 
respectively, with respect to such facility), provided, among other things, that (1) we and Caesars mutually agree to 
the split of proceeds from such sales, (2) such sales do not result in any impairment(s)/asset write down(s) by us, (3) 
rent under the Regional Master Lease Agreement remains unchanged following such sale and (4) the sale does not 
result in us recognizing certain taxable gain; (b) restrict the ability of the tenant thereunder to transfer and sell the 
operating business of Harrah’s New Orleans and Harrah’s Atlantic City to replacement tenants without our consent 
and remove such restrictions with respect to Horseshoe Southern Indiana (in connection with the restrictions applying 
to Harrah’s New Orleans) and Horseshoe Bossier City (in connection with the restrictions applying to Harrah’s 
Atlantic City), provided that the tenant under the Regional Master Lease Agreement may only sell such properties if 
certain terms and conditions are met, including that replacement tenants meet certain criteria provided in the Regional 
Master Lease Agreement; and (c) require that the tenant under the Regional Master Lease Agreement complete and 
pay for all capital improvements and other payments, costs and expenses related to the extension of the existing 
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operating license with respect to Harrah’s New Orleans, including, without limitation, any such payments, costs and 
expenses required to be made to the City of New Orleans, the State of Louisiana or any other governmental body or 
agency. 

Caesars has executed new guaranties with respect to the Las Vegas Master Lease Agreement (the “Las Vegas Lease 
Guaranty”), the Regional Master Lease Agreement (the “Regional Lease Guaranty”) and the Joliet Lease Agreement 
(the “Joliet Lease Guaranty” and, together with the Las Vegas Lease Guaranty and the Regional Lease Guaranty, the 
“Caesars Guaranties”), guaranteeing the prompt and complete payment and performance in full of: (i) all monetary 
obligations of the tenants under the Caesars Lease Agreements, including all rent and other sums payable by the 
tenants under the Caesars Lease Agreements and any obligation to pay monetary damages in connection with any 
breach and to pay any indemnification obligations of the tenants under the Caesars Lease Agreements; and (ii) the 
performance when due of all other covenants, agreements and requirements to be performed and satisfied by the 
tenants under the Caesars Lease Agreements.

In connection with entering into the amendments to the Caesars Lease Agreements and the Caesars Guaranties 
described above, we and Caesars terminated the Management and Lease Support Agreements, dated as of October 6, 
2017 with respect to each of the Caesars Lease Agreements, pursuant to which, among other things, Pre-Merger 
Caesars previously guaranteed the tenants’ monetary obligations under the Caesars Lease Agreements and the 
Guaranty of Lease dated as of December 22, 2017 pursuant to which, among other things, a subsidiary of Pre-Merger 
Caesars guaranteed the tenant’s obligations under the HLV Lease Agreement.

• Centaur Properties Put-Call Agreement. Prior to the consummation of the Eldorado Transaction, we were party to a 
right of first refusal agreement with affiliates of Pre-Merger Caesars with respect to two gaming facilities in Indiana - 
Harrah’s Hoosier Park and Indiana Grand (together, the “Centaur Properties”). Upon the consummation of the 
Eldorado Transaction, the Second Amended and Restated Right of First Refusal Agreement between us and Pre-
Merger Caesars terminated in accordance with its terms, which included the right of first refusal that we had with 
respect to the Centaur Properties and we entered into a Put-Call Right Agreement with Caesars (the “Centaur Put-Call 
Agreement”), whereby (i) we have the right to acquire all of the land and real estate assets associated with the 
Centaur Properties at a price equal to 13.0x the initial annual rent of each facility (determined as provided below), and 
to simultaneously lease back each such property to a subsidiary of Caesars for initial annual rent equal to the 
property’s trailing four quarters EBITDA at the time of acquisition divided by 1.3 (i.e., the initial annual rent will be 
set at 1.3x rent coverage) and (ii) Caesars will have the right to require us to acquire the Centaur Properties at a price 
equal to 12.5x the initial annual rent of each facility, and to simultaneously lease back each such Centaur Property to 
a subsidiary of Caesars for initial annual rent equal to the property’s trailing four quarters EBITDA at the time of 
acquisition divided by 1.3 (i.e., the initial annual rent will be set at 1.3x rent coverage). Either party will be able to 
trigger its respective put or call, as applicable, beginning on January 1, 2022 and ending on December 31, 2024. The 
Centaur Put-Call Agreement provides that the leaseback of the Centaur Properties will be implemented through the 
addition of the Centaur Properties to the Regional Master Lease Agreement.

• Amended and Restated Caesars Forum Convention Center Put-Call Agreement. Upon the consummation of the 
Eldorado Transaction, we entered into an Amended and Restated Put-Call Right Agreement (the “A&R Convention 
Center Put-Call Agreement”) with Caesars amending and restating that certain put-call agreement related to the 
approximately 28 acres of land upon which the Caesars Forum Convention Center is built and/or otherwise used in 
connection with or necessary for the operation of the Caesars Forum Convention Center (collectively, the “Caesars 
Forum Convention Center”). The A&R Convention Center Put-Call Agreement provides (i) a put right in favor of 
Caesars, which, if exercised, would result in the sale by Caesars to us and simultaneous leaseback by us to Caesars of 
the Caesars Forum Convention Center (the “Convention Center Put Right”). which may be exercised by Caesars 
between January 1, 2024 and December 31, 2024 at a price equal to 13.0x the initial annual rent for Caesars Forum 
Convention Center as proposed by Caesars (which shall be between $25.0 million and $35.0 million), (ii) if Caesars 
exercises the Convention Center Put Right and, among other things, the sale of the Caesars Forum Convention Center 
to us does not close for certain reasons more particularly described in the A&R Convention Center Put-Call 
Agreement, a repurchase right in favor of Caesars, which, if exercised, would result in the sale of Harrah’s Las Vegas 
by us to Caesars (the “HLV Repurchase Right”). which may be exercised by Caesars during a one-year period 
commencing on the date upon which the closing under the Convention Center Put Right transaction does not occur 
and ending on the day immediately preceding the one-year anniversary thereof for a price equal to 13.0x the rent of 
Harrah’s Las Vegas for the most recently ended annual period for which Caesars’ financial statements are available as 
of Caesars’ election to exercise the HLV Repurchase Right and (iii) a call right in our favor, which, if exercised, 
would result in the sale by Caesars to us and simultaneous leaseback by us to Caesars of the Caesars Forum 
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Convention Center (the “Convention Center Call Right”). which currently may be exercised by us between January 1, 
2027 and December 31, 2027 at a price equal to 13.0x the initial annual rent for Caesars Forum Convention Center as 
proposed by Caesars (which shall be between $25.0 million and $35.0 million). In addition, in connection with the 
consummation of the Forum Convention Center Mortgage Loan described below, we will amend the A&R 
Convention Center Put-Call Agreement to, among other things, accelerate the exercise date of the Convention Center 
Call Right to begin on the scheduled maturity date of the Forum Convention Center Mortgage Loan, as described 
below in “—Caesars Forum Convention Center Mortgage Loan and Las Vegas Land Acquisition”.

• Las Vegas Strip Assets ROFR. Upon the consummation of the Eldorado Transaction, we entered into a right of first 
refusal agreement with Caesars (the “Las Vegas Strip ROFR Agreement”) pursuant to which we have the first right, 
with respect to the first two Las Vegas Strip assets described below that Caesars proposes to sell, whether pursuant to 
a sale leaseback or a WholeCo sale, to a third party, to acquire any such asset (it being understood that we will have 
the opportunity to find an operating company should Caesars elect to pursue a WholeCo sale). The Las Vegas Strip 
assets subject to the Las Vegas Strip ROFR Agreement are the land and real estate assets associated (i) with respect to 
the first such asset subject to the Las Vegas Strip ROFR Agreement, the Flamingo Las Vegas, Paris Las Vegas, 
Planet Hollywood and Bally’s Las Vegas gaming facilities, and (ii) with respect to the second asset subject to the Las 
Vegas Strip ROFR Agreement, the foregoing assets plus The LINQ gaming facility. If we enter into a sale leaseback 
transaction with Caesars on any of these facilities, the leaseback may be implemented through the addition of such 
properties to the Las Vegas Master Lease Agreement.

• Horseshoe Baltimore ROFR. Upon the consummation of the Eldorado Transaction, we entered into a right of first 
refusal agreement with Caesars pursuant to which we have the first right to enter into a sale leaseback transaction 
with respect to the land and real estate assets associated with the Horseshoe Baltimore gaming facility (subject to any 
consent required from Caesars’ joint venture partners with respect to this asset).

• CPLV CMBS Refinancing. We were obligated to cause the CPLV CMBS Debt to be repaid in full prior to the 
consummation of the Eldorado/Caesars Merger. In November 2019, we repaid the CPLV CMBS Debt in full 
resulting in a prepayment penalty of $110.8 million, of which $55.4 million was reimbursed by Caesars upon the 
consummation of the Eldorado Transaction in accordance with the MTA as follows: $31.0 million was paid to us in 
cash, $20.5 million was credited to us as a reduction in the CPLV Lease Amendment Payment and $3.9 million was 
credited to us as a reduction in the HLV Lease Amendment Payment.

• Eldorado Bridge Facilities. On June 24, 2019, in connection with the Eldorado Transaction, VICI PropCo entered 
into a commitment letter (the “Commitment Letter”) with Deutsche Bank Securities Inc. and Deutsche Bank AG 
Cayman Islands Branch (collectively, the “Bridge Lender”), pursuant to which and subject to the terms and 
conditions set forth therein, the Bridge Lender has agreed to provide (i) a 364-day first lien secured bridge facility of 
up to $3.3 billion in the aggregate (the “Eldorado Senior Bridge Facility”) and (ii) a 364-day second lien secured 
bridge facility of up to $1.5 billion in the aggregate (the “Eldorado Junior Bridge Facility,” and, together with the 
Eldorado Senior Bridge Facility, the “Bridge Facilities”), for the purpose of providing a portion of the financing 
necessary to fund the Eldorado Transaction. The commitments under the Bridge Facilities were fully terminated at 
our election in June 2020.

JACK Lease Agreement Amendment and Amended and Restated ROV Loan

Subsequent to June 30, 2020, on July 16, 2020, we and JACK Entertainment entered into an amendment to the JACK 
Cleveland/Thistledown Lease Agreement (the “JACK Lease Agreement Amendment”), pursuant to which, among other things, 
we agreed to fund $18.0 million for the construction of a new gaming patio amenity at JACK Thistledown Racino, which will 
be leased by JACK Entertainment pursuant to the JACK Lease Agreement Amendment. In connection with the construction of 
the gaming patio, commencing on April 1, 2022, rent under the JACK Cleveland/Thistledown Lease Agreement (as amended 
by the JACK Lease Agreement Amendment) will be increased by an incremental $1.8 million. The JACK Lease Agreement 
Amendment also provides for relief with respect to certain existing covenants through March 31, 2022, adds an additional five 
years to the initial lease term, with the tenant under the JACK Cleveland/Thistledown Lease Agreement having three (rather 
than four) five-year renewal options as a result of such extension of the initial lease term, and provides for rent escalation to 
begin in 2022 rather than 2021. The JACK Lease Agreement Amendment does not provide for a reduction or deferral of the 
tenant’s rent obligations. The tenant’s obligations under the JACK Lease Agreement Amendment are guaranteed by Rock Ohio 
Ventures LLC (“Rock Ohio Ventures”). Pursuant to the Jack Lease Agreement Amendment, the relief provided thereunder is 
conditioned upon (i) the tenant’s timely payment of rent obligations under the JACK Cleveland/Thistledown Lease Agreement 
and (ii) no tenant event of default occurring under the JACK Cleveland/Thistledown Lease Agreement during the compliance 
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period set forth in the JACK Lease Agreement Amendment.

Simultaneously with entry into the JACK Lease Agreement Amendment, we and affiliates of Rock Ohio Ventures entered into 
an amendment and restatement of our existing $50.0 million term loan agreement with such affiliates of Rock Ohio Ventures 
(the “Amended and Restated ROV Loan”), pursuant to which, among other things, we increased our existing term loan to 
$70.0 million, which bears interest at a rate of 9.0% per annum (which interest, at the option of JACK Entertainment, may be 
paid-in-kind through April 30, 2021 with any paid-in-kind interest required to be paid in cash in eleven equal monthly 
installments ending March 31, 2022), and added a $25.0 million revolving credit facility, which bears interest at a rate of 
LIBOR plus 2.75% per annum. A commitment fee of 0.50% per annum calculated on the unused portion of the revolving credit 
facility is payable quarterly. The Amended and Restated ROV Loan, which includes the term loan and revolving credit facility, 
matures in January 2025 which maturity date may be extended at the borrower’s election for up to two additional years if 
certain conditions are satisfied. In connection with the amendment and restatement, we received additional collateral, including 
an additional land parcel in proximity to JACK Cleveland, so that the loan is now secured by a first priority lien on substantially 
all gaming and non-gaming real and personal property of JACK Entertainment, including the furniture, fixtures and equipment 
associated with the properties. The amendment and restatement also provides the obligors with relief with respect to certain 
existing financial covenants through March 31, 2022.

Caesars Forum Convention Center Mortgage Loan and Las Vegas Land Acquisition 

On June 15, 2020, we entered into a non-binding letter of intent with Eldorado (the “Mortgage and Land Acquisition 
Agreement”) pursuant to which we intend to (i) lend $400.0 million to a subsidiary of Caesars (the “Forum Convention Center 
Borrower”) for a term of five years, with such loan secured by, among other things, a first priority fee mortgage on the Caesars 
Forum Convention Center (the “Forum Convention Center Mortgage Loan”) and (ii) purchase approximately 23 acres of land 
in the vicinity of, or adjacent to, The LINQ Hotel & Casino, Bally’s Las Vegas, Paris Las Vegas and Planet Hollywood gaming 
facilities (the “Las Vegas Land”) for a purchase price of $4.5 million per acre (the “Las Vegas Land Acquisition”).

Each of the Forum Convention Center Mortgage Loan and the Las Vegas Land Acquisition is cross-conditioned on the 
consummation of the other. In addition, the Forum Convention Center Mortgage Loan and the Las Vegas Land Acquisition are 
each subject to, among other things, the completion of due diligence and negotiation of definitive documentation and is 
expected to close in the third quarter of 2020. However, we can provide no assurances that the Forum Convention Center 
Mortgage Loan or the Las Vegas Land Acquisition will close in the anticipated timeframe, on the contemplated terms or at all. 
We intend to fund the Forum Convention Center Mortgage Loan and the Las Vegas Land Acquisition with the proceeds from 
the expected physical settlement of the June 2020 Forward Sale Agreement.

Forum Convention Center Mortgage Loan

The Forum Convention Center Mortgage Loan will be in an amount of $400.0 million and will have a term of five years. The 
interest rate on the Forum Convention Center Mortgage Loan initially will be 7.7% per annum, with payments subject to 2.0% 
annual escalation, with interest paid monthly in cash in arrears. Except as provided below, no prepayments will be permitted 
during the first two years of the term of the Forum Convention Center Mortgage Loan. During the third and fourth years of the 
term of the Forum Convention Center Mortgage Loan, the Forum Convention Center Borrower may prepay the Forum 
Convention Center Mortgage Loan, in each case in full but not in part, at 102% of par in year three and 101% of par in year 
four. During the fifth year of the term of the Forum Convention Center Mortgage Loan, the Forum Convention Center 
Borrower may prepay the Forum Convention Center Mortgage Loan in full but not in part at par. However, the Forum 
Convention Center Mortgage Loan may be prepaid at any time at par, without penalty or make-whole, in connection with our 
acquisition of the land and real estate assets associated with the Caesars Forum Convention Center and an OpCo sale and 
conversion to an OpCo/PropCo structure, subject to our consent, which may be withheld in our sole discretion. 

The Forum Convention Center Mortgage Loan will be secured by a first priority mortgage on the Caesars Forum Convention 
Center that is currently owned by Caesars, including, without limitation, the Caesars Forum Convention Center, as well as a 
first priority lien on the equity interests in the Forum Convention Center Borrower, a first priority security interest in all of the 
Forum Convention Center Borrower’s interest in furniture, fixtures and equipment used, owned or related to the operation of 
the Caesars Forum Convention Center, and a first priority assignment of the Forum Convention Center Borrower’s interest in 
leases and rents, including a collateral assignment of the Forum Convention Center Borrower’s interest in the lease on the 
Caesars Forum Convention Center pursuant to which the Forum Convention Center Borrower will lease the Caesars Forum 
Convention Center to a subsidiary of Caesars (the “Caesars Tenant”), which lease will be fully subordinate to the Forum 
Convention Center Mortgage Loan. In addition, if the Forum Convention Center Borrower defaults on the Forum Convention 
Center Mortgage Loan and we take possession of the Caesars Forum Convention Center, we may, at our option under certain 
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circumstances, assume the lease with the Caesars Tenant (which lease will be guaranteed by Caesars and have an initial annual 
rent of $33.9 million, subject to annual increases equal to the greater of 2% and the annual consumer price index increase).

In connection with the Forum Convention Center Mortgage Loan, we will amend the A&R Convention Center Put-Call 
Agreement to include the following terms:

• The Convention Center Call Right, which is currently exercisable for the one-year period beginning January 1, 2027, 
will instead be exercisable beginning on the scheduled maturity date of the Forum Convention Center Mortgage Loan 
until December 31, 2026; and 

• If there is an event of default on the Forum Convention Center Mortgage Loan, (i) the Convention Center Put Right, 
which is currently exercisable for the one-year period commencing on January 1, 2024, will not be exercisable, and (ii) 
we, at our option, may accelerate the Convention Center Call Right so that it is exercisable from the date of such event 
of default until December 31, 2026 (in addition to any other remedies available to us in connection with such event of 
default).

Las Vegas Land Acquisition

We have agreed to purchase the Las Vegas Land for a purchase price of $4.5 million per acre. After we acquire the Las Vegas 
Land, we will grant subsidiaries of Caesars a revocable license to continue to use the property; provided, that the subsidiaries of 
Caesars will continue to pay real property taxes, insurance costs, security costs and other operating costs related to the Las 
Vegas Land (“Las Vegas Land Operating Costs”) (or such portion of the Las Vegas Land that subsidiaries of Caesars continue 
to occupy). These obligations will be guaranteed by Caesars. Upon six months’ prior written notice, we will have the right to 
require that the subsidiaries of Caesars vacate the Las Vegas Land (or any portion thereof). Upon six months’ prior written 
notice to us, the subsidiaries of Caesars may vacate the Las Vegas Land (or any portion thereof). In each case upon such 
vacancy, the subsidiaries of Caesars will no longer be responsible for Las Vegas Land Operating Costs with respect to the 
portion of the Las Vegas Land vacated. 

Omnibus Lease Amendment

On June 1, 2020, we entered into an Omnibus Amendment to Leases (the “Omnibus Amendment”) with Pre-Merger Caesars. 
Pursuant to the Omnibus Amendment, Pre-Merger Caesars, and after the consummation of the Eldorado Transaction, Caesars, 
will be granted certain relief with respect to a portion of their capital expenditure obligations under the Caesars Lease 
Agreements conditioned upon (i) funding by Caesars of certain minimum capital expenditures in fiscal year 2020 (which 
represent a reduction of the minimum capital expenditure amounts currently set forth in the Caesars Lease Agreements), (ii) 
timely payment of Caesars’ rent obligations under the Caesars Lease Agreements during the compliance period set forth in the 
Omnibus Amendment and (iii) no tenant event of default occurring under any of the Caesars Lease Agreements during the 
compliance period set forth in the Omnibus Amendment. Caesars will receive credit for certain deemed capital expenditure 
amounts, which credit may be used to satisfy certain of their capital expenditure obligations in the 2020, 2021 and 2022 fiscal 
years, provided that the foregoing conditions are satisfied. If Caesars fails to satisfy any of the foregoing conditions, Caesars 
will be required to satisfy the capital expenditure obligations set forth in the Caesars Lease Agreements or, in certain cases, to 
deposit amounts in respect thereof into a capital expenditure reserve in accordance with the Omnibus Amendment.

Amendment to Century Portfolio Lease Agreement

In May 2020, we entered into an amendment to the Century Portfolio Lease Agreement with Century Casinos. The Century 
Portfolio Lease Agreement contains certain covenants, including minimum capital expenditures. The covenants under the 
Century Portfolio Lease Agreement began on January 1, 2020; however, as a result of the casino closures in connection with the 
COVID-19 pandemic, we agreed to waive Century Casinos’ capital expenditure requirements for 2020 and defer to not later 
than December 31, 2021 certain other expenditures contemplated in connection with the underwriting of the Century Portfolio. 
Pursuant to the amendment to the Century Portfolio Lease Agreement, the capital expenditure relief is conditioned upon (i) 
Century Casinos’ timely payment of rent obligations under the Century Portfolio Lease Agreement during the compliance 
period set forth in the amendment and (ii) no tenant event of default occurring under the Century Portfolio Lease Agreement 
during the compliance period set forth in the amendment. If Century Casinos fails to satisfy any of the foregoing conditions, 
Century Casinos will be required to satisfy the capital expenditure obligations set forth in the Century Portfolio Lease 
Agreement or, in certain cases, to deposit amounts in respect thereof into a capital expenditure reserve for expenditure in 
accordance with the amendment.
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Sale of Bally’s Atlantic City

On April 24, 2020, we and Caesars entered into definitive agreements to sell the Bally’s Atlantic City Hotel & Casino for 
$25.0 million to a subsidiary of Twin River Worldwide Holdings, Inc. We are entitled to receive approximately $19.0 million 
of the proceeds from the sale and Caesars is entitled to approximately $6.0 million of the proceeds. The annual rent payments 
under the Regional Master Lease Agreement will remain unchanged following completion of the disposition, which we 
anticipate will close by the end of the year and remains subject to regulatory approval and customary closing conditions.

Unsecured February 2020 Senior Notes Offering and Redemption and Repayment of the Second Lien Notes

On February 5, 2020, the Issuers issued (i) $750.0 million in aggregate principal amount of 2025 Notes, (ii) $750.0 million in 
aggregate principal amount of 2027 Notes and (iii) $1.0 billion aggregate principal amount of 2030 Notes. We placed $2.0 
billion of the net proceeds of the offering into escrow pending the consummation of the Eldorado Transaction (which was 
subsequently released from escrow and used to fund a portion of the purchase price of the Eldorado Transaction). On February 
20, 2020 we used the remaining net proceeds from the 2025 Notes, together with cash on hand, to redeem in full the 
outstanding $498.5 million in aggregate principal amount of the Second Lien Notes plus the Second Lien Notes Applicable 
Premium, for a total redemption cost of approximately $537.5 million. The 2025 Notes will mature on February 15, 2025, the 
2027 Notes will mature on February 15, 2027 and the 2030 Notes will mature on August 15, 2030. Interest on the 2025 Notes 
will accrue at a rate of 3.500% per annum, interest on the 2027 Notes will accrue at a rate of 3.750% per annum and interest on 
the 2030 Notes will accrue at a rate of 4.125% per annum. Interest on the February 2020 Unsecured Notes will be payable semi-
annually in cash in arrears on February 15 and August 15 of each year, commencing on August 15, 2020. 

Closing of Purchase of JACK Cleveland/Thistledown

On January 24, 2020 we completed the previously announced transaction to acquire the casino-entitled land and real estate and 
related assets of JACK Cleveland, located in Cleveland, Ohio and JACK Thistledown located in North Randall, Ohio (the 
“JACK Cleveland/Thistledown Acquisition”) from JACK Entertainment, for approximately $843.3 million. Simultaneous with 
the closing of the JACK Cleveland/Thistledown Acquisition, we entered into a master triple-net lease agreement for JACK 
Cleveland and JACK Thistledown with a subsidiary of JACK Entertainment. The lease has an initial total annual rent of $65.9 
million and an initial term of 15 years, with four five-year tenant renewal options. The tenant’s obligations under the lease are 
guaranteed by Rock Ohio Ventures. Additionally, we made a $50.0 million loan to affiliates of Rock Ohio Ventures secured by, 
among other things, certain non-gaming real estate assets owned by such affiliates and guaranteed by Rock Ohio Ventures. The 
terms of the JACK Cleveland/Thistledown Lease Agreement and the ROV Loan, were subsequently amended on July 16, 2020 
pursuant to the Amended and Restated ROV Loan as described above under “—JACK Lease Agreement Amendment and 
Amended and Restated ROV Loan.” 

Repricing of Term Loan B Facility 

On January 24, 2020, VICI PropCo entered into Amendment No. 1 to the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, which, 
among other things, reduced the interest rate on the Term Loan B Facility from LIBOR plus 2.00% to LIBOR plus 1.75%.

PENDING TRANSACTIONS

Sale of Harrah’s Reno

On December 31, 2019, we and Caesars entered into a definitive agreement to sell the Harrah’s Reno asset to a third party, and 
which agreement was amended on May 29, 2020. The purchase price for Harrah’s Reno is $41.5 million (which reflects a 
purchase price adjustment of $8.5 million). We are entitled to receive 75% of the proceeds of the sale and Caesars is entitled to 
receive 25% of the proceeds. The annual rent payments under the Regional Master Lease Agreement will remain unchanged 
following completion of the disposition, which we anticipate will close by the end of the year and remains subject to customary 
closing conditions.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Segments

Our real property business and our golf course business represent our two reportable segments. The real property business 
segment consists of leased real property and represents the substantial majority of our business. The golf course business 
segment consists of four golf courses, with each being operating segments that are aggregated into one reportable segment. The 
results of each reportable segment presented below are consistent with the way our management assesses these results and 
allocates resources, which is a consolidated view that adjusts for the impact of certain transactions between our reportable 
segments.

Three Months Ended 
June 30,

Six Months Ended 
June 30,

(In thousands) 2020 2019 Variance 2020 2019 Variance
Revenues

Income from direct financing and sales-
type leases................................................... $ 223,895 $ 201,549 $ 22,346 $ 448,147 $ 397,299 $ 50,848 
Income from operating leases.....................  10,913  10,914  (1)  21,826  21,827  (1) 
Income from lease financing receivables 
and loans.....................................................  17,026  —  17,026  29,869  —  29,869 
Other income..............................................  733  —  733  1,426  —  1,426 
Golf operations...........................................  5,335  8,283  (2,948)  11,635  15,622  (3,987) 

Revenues..............................................  257,902  220,746  37,156  512,903  434,748  78,155 

Operating expenses
General and administrative.........................  7,498  6,518  980  14,513  12,743  1,770 
Depreciation................................................  1,213  1,018  195  2,080  1,948  132 
Other expenses............................................  736  —  736  1,439  —  1,439 
Golf operations...........................................  4,139  4,848  (709)  8,509  8,940  (431) 
Change in allowance for credit losses........  (65,480)  —  (65,480)  84,028  —  84,028 
Transaction and acquisition expenses.........  1,160  2,867  (1,707)  5,677  3,756  1,921 

Total operating expenses......................  (50,734)  15,251  (65,985)  116,246  27,387  88,859 
Operating income............................................  308,636  205,495  103,141  396,657  407,361  (10,704) 

Interest expense..........................................  (77,693)  (54,819)  (22,874)  (153,786)  (108,405)  (45,381) 
Interest income...........................................  1,009  4,004  (2,995)  6,529  9,171  (2,642) 
Loss from extinguishment of debt..............  —  —  —  (39,059)  —  (39,059) 

Income before income taxes............................  231,952  154,680  77,272  210,341  308,127  (97,786) 
Income tax expense....................................  (309)  (553)  244  (763)  (1,074)  311 

Net income......................................................  231,643  154,127  77,516  209,578  307,053  (97,475) 
Less: Net income attributable to non-
controlling interest......................................  (2,241)  (2,078)  (163)  (4,188)  (4,155)  (33) 

Net income attributable to common 
stockholders ................................................... $ 229,402 $ 152,049 $ 77,353 $ 205,390 $ 302,898 $ (97,508) 

Table of Contents

60



Revenue 

For the three and six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, our revenue was comprised of the following items:

Three Months Ended 
June 30,

Six Months Ended 
June 30,

(In thousands) 2020 2019 Variance 2020 2019 Variance
Leasing revenue.............................................. $ 250,732 $ 212,463 $ 38,269 $ 497,917 $ 419,126 $ 78,791 
Income from loans...........................................  1,102  —  1,102  1,925  —  1,925 
Other income...................................................  733  —  733  1,426  —  1,426 
Golf operations................................................  5,335  8,283  (2,948)  11,635  15,622  (3,987) 
     Total revenue.............................................. $ 257,902 $ 220,746 $ 37,156 $ 512,903 $ 434,748 $ 78,155 

Leasing Revenue

The following table details the components of our income from direct financing, sales-type, operating and financing receivables 
leases:

Three Months Ended 
June 30,

Six Months Ended 
June 30,

(In thousands) 2020 2019 Variance 2020 2019 Variance
Income from direct financing and sales-type 
leases............................................................... $ 223,895 $ 201,549 $ 22,346 $ 448,147 $ 397,299 $ 50,848 
Income from operating leases (1)......................  10,913  10,914  (1)  21,826  21,827  (1) 
Income from lease financing receivables (2)....  15,924  —  15,924  27,944  —  27,944 
     Total leasing revenue..................................  250,732  212,463  38,269  497,917  419,126  78,791 
Non-cash adjustment (3)...................................  3,809  (2,277)  6,086  7,063  (4,789)  11,852 
     Total contractual leasing revenue............... $ 254,541 $ 210,186 $ 44,355 $ 504,980 $ 414,337 $ 90,643 

____________________
(1) Represents portion of land separately classified and accounted for under the operating lease model associated with our investment in Caesars Palace Las 
Vegas and certain operating land parcels contained in the Non-CPLV Lease Agreement. Upon the consummation of the Eldorado Transaction on July 20, 
2020, the land component of Caesars Palace Las Vegas and the certain operating land parcels were reassessed for lease classification and determined to be a 
sales-type lease. Accordingly, subsequent to July 20, 2020, such income will be recognized as Income from direct financing and sales-type leases.
(2) Represents income from the JACK Cleveland/Thistledown Lease Agreement which, in accordance with ASC 842, was determined to meet both the definition 
of a sale leaseback transaction and sales-type lease and, as a result, is accounted for as a financing under ASC 310. 
(3) Amounts represent the non-cash adjustment to income from direct financing leases, sales-type leases and lease financing receivables in order to recognize 
income on an effective interest basis at a constant rate of return over the term of the leases. 

Leasing revenue is generated from rent from our Lease Agreements. Total leasing revenue increased $38.3 million and $78.8 
million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2020, respectively, compared to the three and six months ended June 30, 
2019, respectively. Total contractual leasing revenue increased $44.4 million and $90.6 million during the three and six months 
ended June 30, 2020, respectively, compared to the three and six months ended June 30, 2019, respectively. The increase was 
primarily driven by the addition of Greektown, Hard Rock Cincinnati, the Century Portfolio and JACK Cleveland/Thistledown 
to our real estate portfolio in May 2019, September 2019, December 2019 and January 2020, respectively.

Other income

For the three and six months ended June 30, 2019, Other income was included net in General and administrative expenses. 
During the three and six months ended June 30, 2020, we have re-classified Other income to be presented gross with an 
offsetting amount within Other expenses. 

Golf Course Business Revenue

Revenues from golf operations decreased $2.9 million and $4.0 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2020, 
respectively, compared to the three and six months ended June 30, 2019, respectively. The decrease was primarily driven by the 
closure of our golf courses in mid-March through April 2020 as a result of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, partially offset by 
an increase in the contractual fees paid to us by Caesars for the use of our golf courses, pursuant to a golf course use agreement.
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Operating Expenses

For the three and six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, our operating expenses were comprised of the following items:

Three Months Ended 
June 30,

Six Months Ended 
June 30,

(In thousands) 2020 2019 Variance 2020 2019 Variance
General and administrative............................. $ 7,498 $ 6,518 $ 980 $ 14,513 $ 12,743 $ 1,770 
Depreciation....................................................  1,213  1,018  195  2,080  1,948  132 
Other expenses................................................  736  —  736  1,439  —  1,439 
Golf operations................................................  4,139  4,848  (709)  8,509  8,940  (431) 
Change in allowance for credit losses.............  (65,480)  —  (65,480)  84,028  —  84,028 
Transaction and acquisition expenses.............  1,160  2,867  (1,707)  5,677  3,756  1,921 
     Total operating expenses............................ $ (50,734) $ 15,251 $ (65,985) $ 116,246 $ 27,387 $ 88,859 

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses increased $1.0 million and $1.8 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2020 
as compared to the three and six months ended June 30, 2019, respectively. The increase was primarily driven by an increase in 
compensation, including stock-based compensation.

Other expenses

For the three and six months ended June 30, 2019, Other expenses were included net in General and administrative expenses. 
During the three and six months ended June 30, 2020, we have re-classified Other expenses to be presented gross with an 
offsetting amount within Other income. 

Golf Course Business Expenses

Expenses from golf operations decreased $0.7 million and $0.4 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2020, 
respectively, compared to the three and six months ended June 30, 2019, respectively. The decrease was primarily driven by the 
closure of our golf courses in mid-March through April 2020 as a result of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, partially offset by 
an increase in the water usage charges at one of our golf courses. Additionally, even though our courses were closed from mid-
March through April 2020 as a result of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, we continued to pay all of our golf course 
employees their full salaries and benefits for a period of time and, accordingly, the decrease in our golf course operating 
revenues was not proportionately offset by a decrease in golf course operating expenses.

Change in allowance for credit losses

On January 1, 2020, we adopted ASU No. 2016-13 - Financial Instruments-Credit Losses (Topic 326) which requires us to 
record an estimated credit loss for our (i) investments in leases - direct financing and sales-type, (ii) investments in leases - 
financing receivables and (iii) investments in loans. During the three months ended June 30, 2020, we recognized a $65.5 
million decrease in our allowance for credit losses. This decrease was primarily driven by a decrease in the R&S Period PD of 
our tenants and their parent guarantors as a result of an improvement in their economic outlook due to the reopening of a 
majority of their gaming operations. During the six months ended June 30, 2020, we recognized an $84.0 million increase in 
allowance for credit losses related to our real estate portfolio as a result of (i) an increase in the credit risk of our tenants given 
the uncertain economic conditions caused by the COVID-19 pandemic and the temporary closure of their operations at our 
properties and (ii) a $22.2 million allowance related to our initial investment in JACK Cleveland/Thistledown and the ROV 
Loan. This increase was partially offset by the decrease described above for the three months ended June 30, 2020. The credit 
loss standard does not require retrospective application and as such there is no corresponding charge for the three and six 
months ended June 30, 2019. Refer to Note 6 - Allowance for Credit Losses for further details.

Transaction and Acquisition Costs

Transaction and acquisition costs decreased $1.7 million during the three months ended June 30, 2020 as compared to the three 
months ended June 30, 2019 and increased $1.9 million during the six months ended June 30, 2020 compared to the six months 
ended June 30, 2019. Changes in transaction and acquisition costs are related to fluctuations in (i) costs incurred for 
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investments during the period that are not capitalizable under GAAP and (ii) costs incurred for investments that we are no 
longer pursuing.

Non-Operating Income and Expenses

Interest Expense

Interest expense increased $22.9 million and $45.4 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2020, respectively, 
as compared to the three and six months ended June 30, 2019, respectively. The increase is primarily attributable to the increase 
in debt of $4.75 billion in the aggregate from the February 2020 Senior Unsecured Notes offering and the November 2019 
Senior Unsecured Notes offering, partially offset by a reduction in debt of $2.05 billion as a result of the full redemption of the 
Second Lien Notes in February 2020 and full repayment of the CPLV CMBS Debt in November 2019.

Additionally, the weighted average annualized interest rate of our debt decreased to 4.18% and 4.51% during the three and six 
months ended June 30, 2020, respectively, from 4.97% during the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 as a result of (i) 
the weighted average interest rate on the February 2020 Senior Unsecured Notes and the November 2019 Senior Unsecured 
Notes being lower than the weighted average interest rate of the Second Lien Notes and CPLV CMBS Debt, (ii) a decrease in 
LIBOR on the $100.0 million portion of our variable rate debt that is not hedged and (iii) a reduction in the interest rate on the 
Term Loan B Facility from LIBOR plus 2.00% to LIBOR plus 1.75%.

Interest Income

Interest income decreased $3.0 million and $2.6 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2020, respectively, 
compared to the three and six months ended June 30, 2019, respectively. The decrease was primarily driven by a substantial 
decrease in the interest rates earned on our excess cash, which was partially offset by increased cash on hand from our February 
2020 Senior Unsecured Notes offering, $2.0 billion of which was held in escrow pending the consummation of the Eldorado 
Transaction (which was subsequently released from escrow and used to fund a portion of the purchase price of the Eldorado 
Transaction on July 20, 2020).

Loss on Extinguishment of Debt

During the six months ended June 30, 2020, we recognized a loss on extinguishment of debt of $39.1 million resulting from the 
full redemption of our Second Lien Notes in February 2020. We had no such related extinguishment of debt during the six 
months ended June 30, 2019.
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RECONCILIATION OF NON-GAAP MEASURES

We present Funds From Operations (“FFO”), FFO per share, Adjusted Funds From Operations (“AFFO”), AFFO per share, and 
Adjusted EBITDA, which are not required by, or presented in accordance with, generally accepted accounting principles in the 
United States (“GAAP”). These are non-GAAP financial measures and should not be construed as alternatives to net income or 
as an indicator of operating performance (as determined in accordance with GAAP). We believe FFO, FFO per share, AFFO, 
AFFO per share and Adjusted EBITDA provide a meaningful perspective of the underlying operating performance of our 
business.

FFO is a non-GAAP financial measure that is considered a supplemental measure for the real estate industry and a supplement 
to GAAP measures. Consistent with the definition used by The National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts 
(NAREIT), we define FFO as net income (or loss) (computed in accordance with GAAP) excluding (i) gains (or losses) from 
sales of certain real estate assets, (ii) depreciation and amortization related to real estate, (iii) gains and losses from change in 
control and (iv) impairment write-downs of certain real estate assets and investments in entities when the impairment is directly 
attributable to decreases in the value of depreciable real estate held by the entity. 

AFFO is a non-GAAP financial measure that we use as a supplemental operating measure to evaluate our performance. We 
calculate AFFO by adding or subtracting from FFO non-cash leasing and financing adjustments attributable to common 
stockholders, non-cash change in allowance for credit losses attributable to common stockholders, transaction costs incurred in 
connection with the acquisition of real estate investments, non-cash stock-based compensation expense, amortization of debt 
issuance costs and original issue discount, other non-cash interest expense, non-real estate depreciation (which is comprised of 
the depreciation related to our golf course operations), capital expenditures (which are comprised of additions to property, plant 
and equipment related to our golf course operations), impairment charges related to non-depreciable real estate and gains (or 
losses) on debt extinguishment. The non-cash change in allowance for credit losses attributable to common stockholders 
consists of estimated credit loss for our investments in leases - direct financing and sales-type, investments in leases - financing 
receivables and investments in loans as a result of our adoption of ASU No. 2016-13 - Financial Instruments-Credit Losses 
(Topic 326). No similar adjustments are reflected in prior periods because the accounting standard was adopted effective 
January 1, 2020 and does not require retrospective application. Please see Note 6 - Allowance for Credit Losses for further 
information.

We calculate Adjusted EBITDA by adding or subtracting from AFFO contractual interest expense and interest income 
(collectively, interest expense, net) and income tax expense.

These non-GAAP financial measures: (i) do not represent cash flow from operations as defined by GAAP; (ii) should not be 
considered as an alternative to net income as a measure of operating performance or to cash flows from operating, investing and 
financing activities; and (iii) are not alternatives to cash flow as a measure of liquidity. In addition, these measures should not 
be viewed as measures of liquidity, nor do they measure our ability to fund all of our cash needs, including our ability to make 
cash distributions to our stockholders, to fund capital improvements, or to make interest payments on our indebtedness. 
Investors are also cautioned that FFO, FFO per share, AFFO, AFFO per share and Adjusted EBITDA, as presented, may not be 
comparable to similarly titled measures reported by other real estate companies, including REITs, due to the fact that not all real 
estate companies use the same definitions. Our presentation of these measures does not replace the presentation of our financial 
results in accordance with GAAP. 
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Reconciliation of Net Income to FFO, FFO per Share, AFFO, AFFO per Share and Adjusted EBITDA

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
(In thousands, except share data and per share data) 2020 2019 2020 2019
Net income attributable to common stockholders.................. $ 229,402 $ 152,049 $ 205,390 $ 302,898 
Real estate depreciation..........................................................  —  —  —  — 
FFO........................................................................................  229,402  152,049  205,390  302,898 
Non-cash leasing and financing adjustments attributable to 
common stockholders.............................................................  3,869  (2,210)  7,179  (4,656) 
Non-cash change in allowance for credit losses attributable 
to common stockholders.........................................................  (65,323)  —  84,049  — 
Transaction and acquisition expenses.....................................  1,160  2,867  5,677  3,756 
Non-cash stock-based compensation......................................  2,012  1,366  3,362  2,417 
Amortization of debt issuance costs and original issue 
discount...................................................................................  4,837  1,899  11,136  3,364 
Other depreciation...................................................................  1,183  1,016  2,026  1,943 
Capital expenditures...............................................................  (883)  (212)  (1,645)  (1,403) 
Loss on extinguishment of debt..............................................  —  —  39,059  — 
AFFO......................................................................................  176,257  156,775  356,233  308,319 
Interest expense, net................................................................  71,847  48,916  136,121  95,870 
Income tax expense.................................................................  309  553  763  1,074 
Adjusted EBITDA................................................................. $ 248,413 $ 206,244 $ 493,117 $ 405,263 

Net income per common share
Basic and diluted................................................................ $ 0.47 $ 0.37 $ 0.43 $ 0.74 
Diluted................................................................................ $ 0.47 $ 0.37 $ 0.43 $ 0.74 

FFO per common share
     Basic and diluted................................................................ $ 0.47 $ 0.37 $ 0.43 $ 0.74 

Diluted................................................................................ $ 0.47 $ 0.37 $ 0.43 $ 0.74 
AFFO per common share

Basic................................................................................... $ 0.36 $ 0.38 $ 0.75 $ 0.75 
Diluted................................................................................ $ 0.36 $ 0.38 $ 0.74 $ 0.75 

Weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding
     Basic...................................................................................  489,012,165  412,309,577  477,094,795  409,040,025 
     Diluted...............................................................................  489,213,427  412,821,400  481,652,482  409,473,202 
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Overview

As of June 30, 2020, our available cash balances, restricted cash balances, short-term investments and capacity under our 
Revolving Credit Facility were as follows:

(In thousands) June 30, 2020

Cash and cash equivalents.......................................................................................................... $ 1,680,536 
Restricted cash (1) ......................................................................................................................  2,000,000 
Capacity under Revolving Credit Facility (2) .............................................................................  1,000,000 
Total........................................................................................................................................... $ 4,680,536 

____________________
(1) Restricted cash is solely related to funds held in escrow from the February 2020 Senior Unsecured Notes offering which was subsequently released from 

escrow and used to fund a portion of the purchase price of the Eldorado Transaction on July 20, 2020. 
(2) Subject to compliance with the financial covenants and other applicable provisions of our Revolving Credit Facility.

Our short-term obligations consist primarily of regular interest payments on our debt obligations, dividends to our common 
stockholders, normal recurring operating expenses, recurring expenditures for corporate and administrative needs, certain lease 
and other contractual commitments related to our golf operations and certain non-recurring expenditures. For a list of our 
material contractual commitments refer to Note 11 - Commitments and Contingent Liabilities.

Our long-term obligations consist primarily of principal payments on our outstanding debt obligations. We currently have $6.9 
billion of debt obligations outstanding, none of which are maturing in the next twelve months. For a summary of principal debt 
balances and their maturity dates and principal terms refer to Note 8 - Debt, in the Notes to our Consolidated Financial 
Statements. 
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Information concerning our obligations and commitments to make future payments under contracts such as our indebtedness 
and future minimum lease commitments under operating leases is included in the following table as of June 30, 2020. 

Payments Due By Period

(In thousands) Total
2020 

(remaining) 2021 2022 2023
2024 and 
Thereafter

Long-term debt, principal
2025 Notes (1)................................. $ 750,000 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 750,000 
2026 Notes (1).................................  1,250,000  —  —  —  —  1,250,000 
2027 Notes (1).................................  750,000  —  —  —  —  750,000 
2029 Notes (1).................................  1,000,000  —  —  —  —  1,000,000 
2030 Notes (1).................................  1,000,000  —  —  —  —  1,000,000 
Term Loan B Facility (2).................  2,100,000  —  —  10,000  22,000  2,068,000 
Revolving Credit Facility (3)...........  —  —  —  —  —  — 

Scheduled interest payments (4).......  1,880,843  148,852  282,610  281,751  256,894  910,736 
Total debt contractual obligations...  8,730,843  148,852  282,610  291,751  278,894  7,728,736 

Leases and contracts
Operating lease for Cascata Golf 
Course Land...................................  20,206  458  933  951  970  16,894 
Golf maintenance contract for Rio 
Secco and Cascata Golf Course.....  11,445  1,635  3,270  3,270  3,270  — 
Office leases...................................  8,950  444  857  857  857  5,935 

Total leases and contract 
obligations.......................................  40,601  2,537  5,060  5,078  5,097  22,829 

Total Contractual Commitments..... $ 8,771,444 $ 151,389 $ 287,670 $ 296,829 $ 283,991 $ 7,751,565 

________________________________________
(1) The 2025 Notes, 2026 Notes, 2027 Notes, 2029 Notes and 2030 Notes will mature on February 15, 2025, December 1, 2026, February 15, 2027, December 
1, 2029 and August 15, 2030, respectively.
(2) The Term Loan B Facility is subject to amortization of 1.0% of principal per annum payable in equal quarterly installments on the last business day of each 
calendar quarter. However, as a result of prepaying $100.0 million in February 2018 the next principal payment due on the Term Loan B Facility is September 
2022. The Term Loan B Facility will mature on December 22, 2024 (or if the maturity is extended pursuant to the terms of the agreement, such extended 
maturity date as determined pursuant thereto). 
(3) The Revolving Credit Facility will mature on May 15, 2024.
(4) Estimated interest payments on variable interest loans are based on a LIBOR rate as of June 30, 2020.

On July 20, 2020, we funded the consideration payable in connection with the Eldorado Transaction with a mix of cash on 
hand, cash from the physical settlement of our June 2019 Forward Sale Agreements and a portion of the proceeds that we raised 
from our February 2020 Senior Unsecured Notes offering. We anticipate funding the Forum Convention Center Mortgage Loan 
and Las Vegas Land Acquisition with the proceeds from the expected physical settlement of the June 2020 Forward Sale 
Agreement. We anticipate funding future transactions with a mix of debt, equity and available cash. 

We believe that we have sufficient liquidity to meet our liquidity and capital resource requirements primarily through currently 
available cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, short-term investments, cash received under our Lease Agreements, 
borrowings from banks, including undrawn capacity under our Revolving Credit Facility, and proceeds from the issuance of 
debt and equity securities (including issuances under the June 2020 Forward Sale Agreement and our ATM Agreement).

All of the Lease Agreements call for an initial term of fifteen years with four, five-year tenant renewal options and are designed 
to provide us with a reliable and predictable long-term revenue stream. However, the COVID-19 pandemic has adversely 
impacted our tenants and their financial condition as all of their properties were closed for a period of time, certain properties 
continue to remain closed and properties that have reopened are subject to operating restrictions and continuing uncertainty as 
to whether they will be forced to close again in the future. In the event our tenants are unable to make all of their contractual 
rent payments as provided by the Lease Agreements, we believe we have sufficient liquidity from the other sources discussed 
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above to meet all of our contractual obligations for a significant period of time. Additionally, we do not have any debt 
maturities until 2024. For more information, refer to the risk factors set forth in Part II. Item 1A. Risk Factors herein and in our 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019.

Our cash flows from operations and our ability to access capital resources could be adversely affected due to uncertain 
economic factors and volatility in the financial and credit markets, including the current conditions created by the COVID-19 
pandemic which has severely and adversely impacted global, national and regional economic activity and has contributed to 
significant volatility and negative pressure in financial markets. In particular, in connection with the ongoing COVID-19 
pandemic and its impact on our tenants’ operations and financial performance we have provided certain relief under the 
applicable Lease Agreements to some of our tenants as more fully described above in “—Significant Activities During 2020 — 
JACK Lease Agreement and Loan Modification” and “—Significant Activities During 2020 — Omnibus Lease Amendment” 
and, as a result, we can provide no assurances that our tenants will not default on their leases or fail to make full rental 
payments if their businesses become challenged due to, among other things, current or future adverse economic conditions. In 
addition, such tenant default or failure to make full rental payments could impact our operating performance and result in us not 
satisfying the financial covenants applicable to our outstanding indebtedness, which could result in us not being able to incur 
additional debt, including the available capacity under our Revolving Credit Facility, or result in a default. Further, future or 
current economic conditions could impact our tenants’ ability to meet capital improvement requirements or other obligations 
required in our Lease Agreements that could result in a decrease in the value of our properties.

Our ability to raise funds through the issuance of debt and equity securities and access to other third-party sources of capital in 
the future will be dependent on, among other things, uncertainties related to COVID-19 and the impact of our response and our 
tenants’ responses to COVID-19, general economic conditions, general market conditions for REITs, market perceptions and 
the trading price of our stock. We will continue to analyze which sources of capital are most advantageous to us at any 
particular point in time, but the capital markets may not be consistently available on terms we deem attractive, or at all. In 
addition, volatility in the debt capital markets and potential liquidity challenges in the banking sector resulting from the 
COVID-19 pandemic may increase the risk related to the pricing and availability of debt financing.

Cash Flow Analysis

The table below summarizes our cash flows for the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019:

Six Months Ended June 30,
(In thousands) 2020 2019 Variance
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Provided by operating activities.................................................. $ 318,497 $ 262,942 $ 55,555 
Used in investing activities.........................................................  (840,431)  (549,014)  (291,417) 
Provided by financing activities..................................................  3,100,577  921,177  2,179,400 
Net increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash..........  2,578,643  635,105  1,943,538 
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of period  1,101,893  598,447  503,446 
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of period.......... $ 3,680,536 $ 1,233,552 $ 2,446,984 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities increased $55.6 million for the six months ended June 30, 2020 compared with the six 
months ended June 30, 2019. The increase is primarily driven by an increase in cash rental payments from the addition of 
Greektown, Hard Rock Cincinnati, the Century Portfolio and JACK Cleveland/Thistledown to our real estate portfolio in May 
2019, September 2019, December 2019 and January 2020, respectively, partially offset by a decrease due to the prepayment of 
certain rent in December 2019 related to January 2020. 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities increased $291.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2020 compared with the six 
months ended June 30, 2019. The increase is primarily driven by the JACK Cleveland/Thistledown Acquisition and ROV Loan 
for a total of $897.5 million, including acquisition costs, during the six months ended June 30, 2020, as well as a decrease in net 
maturities of short-term investments of $363.8 million during the six months ended June 30, 2020 as compared to the six 
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months ended June 30, 2019. This increase was partially offset by the Margaritaville Acquisition and Greektown Acquisition 
for $970.8 million, including acquisition costs, during the six months ended June 30, 2019. 

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities increased $2,179.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2020, compared with the 
six months ended June 30, 2019.

During the six months ended June 30, 2020, the primary sources and uses of cash from financing activities included: 

• Net proceeds from the sale of an aggregate of $1,476.7 million of our common stock pursuant to the full physical 
settlement of our June 2019 Forward Sale Agreements and our at-the-market program;

• Gross proceeds from our February 2020 Senior Unsecured Notes offering of $2,500.0 million;

• Full redemption of the $498.5 million outstanding aggregate principal amount of our Second Lien Notes, as well as the 
$39.0 million Second Lien Notes Applicable Premium plus fees;

• Dividend payments of $276.5 million;

• Debt issuance costs of $57.8 million; and

• Distributions of $4.1 million to non-controlling interest

During the six months ended June 30, 2019 the primary sources and uses of cash from financing activities included: 

• Net proceeds from the sale of an aggregate of $1,165.0 million of our common stock from a primary follow-on 
offering and pursuant to our at-the-market program;

• Dividend payments of $234.4 million;

• Debt issuance costs of $5.4 million; and

• Distributions of $4.0 million to non-controlling interest.

Capital Expenditures

As described in our leases, capital expenditures for properties under our Lease Agreements are the responsibility our tenants. 
Refer to Note 5 - Real Estate Portfolio in the Notes to our Financial Statements for further information of the obligations of our 
tenants under the Lease Agreements. 

Debt

Activity During 2020

On February 5, 2020, the Issuers issued (i) $750.0 million in aggregate principal amount of 2025 Notes, (ii) $750.0 million in 
aggregate principal amount of 2027 Notes and (iii) $1.0 billion in aggregate principal amount of 2030 Notes. We placed $2.0 
billion of the net proceeds of the offering into escrow pending the consummation of the Eldorado Transaction (which was 
subsequently released from escrow and used to fund a portion of the consideration payable in connection with the closing of the 
Eldorado Transaction on July 20, 2020). On February 20, 2020, we used the remaining net proceeds from the 2025 Notes, 
together with cash on hand, to redeem in full the outstanding $498.5 million in aggregate principal amount of the Second Lien 
Notes plus the Second Lien Notes Applicable Premium, for a total redemption cost of approximately $537.5 million. The 2025 
Notes will mature on February 15, 2025, the 2027 Notes will mature on February 15, 2027 and the 2030 Notes will mature on 
August 15, 2030. Interest on the 2025 Notes will accrue at a rate of 3.500% per annum, interest on the 2027 Notes will accrue at 
a rate of 3.750% per annum and interest on the 2030 Notes will accrue at a rate of 4.125% per annum. Interest on the February 
2020 Unsecured Notes will be payable semi-annually in cash in arrears on February 15 and August 15 of each year, 
commencing on August 15, 2020. 

On January 24, 2020, VICI PropCo entered into Amendment No. 1 to the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, which, 
among other things, reduced the interest rate on the Term Loan B Facility from LIBOR plus 2.00% to LIBOR plus 1.75%.
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Covenants

Our debt obligations are subject to certain customary financial and protective covenants that restrict our ability to incur 
additional debt, sell certain asset and restrict certain payments, among other things. In addition, these covenants are subject to a 
number of important exceptions and qualifications, including, with respect to the restricted payments covenant, the ability to 
make unlimited restricted payments to maintain our REIT status. At June 30, 2020, we were in compliance with all debt-related 
covenants.

Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries of Senior Unsecured Notes

The subsidiaries of the Operating Partnership that do not guarantee the Senior Unsecured Notes accounted for: (i) 6.1% of the 
Operating Partnership’s revenue (or 5.9% of our consolidated revenue) for the six months ended June 30, 2020 and (ii) 4.1% of 
the Operating Partnership’s total assets (or 4.1% of our consolidated total assets) as of June 30, 2020.

Distribution Policy

We intend to make regular quarterly distributions to holders of shares of our common stock. Dividends declared (on a per share 
basis) during the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 were as follows:

Six Months Ended June 30, 2020

Declaration Date Record Date Payment Date Period Dividend
March 12, 2020 March 31, 2020 April 9, 2020 January 1, 2020 - March 31, 2020 $ 0.2975 
June 11, 2020 June 30, 2020 July 10, 2020 April 1, 2020 - June 30, 2020 $ 0.2975 

Six Months Ended June 30, 2019

Declaration Date Record Date Payment Date Period Dividend
March 14, 2019 March 29, 2019 April 11, 2019 January 1, 2019 - March 31, 2019 $ 0.2875 
June 13, 2019 June 28, 2019 July 12, 2019 April 1, 2019 - June 30, 2019 $ 0.2875 

Federal income tax law requires that a REIT distribute annually at least 90% of its REIT taxable income (with certain 
adjustments), determined without regard to the dividends paid deduction and excluding any net capital gains, and that it pay tax 
at regular corporate rates to the extent that it annually distributes less than 100% of its REIT taxable income, determined 
without regard to the dividends paid deduction and including any net capital gains. In addition, a REIT will be required to pay a 
4% nondeductible excise tax on the amount, if any, by which the distributions it makes in a calendar year are less than the sum 
of 85% of its ordinary income, 95% of its capital gain net income and 100% of its undistributed income from prior years.

We intend to continue to make distributions to our stockholders to comply with the REIT requirements of Internal Revenue 
Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”) and to avoid or otherwise minimize paying entity level federal income or excise tax 
(other than at any TRS of ours). We may generate taxable income greater than our income for financial reporting purposes 
prepared in accordance with GAAP. Further, we may generate REIT taxable income greater than our cash flow from operations 
after operating expenses and debt service as a result of differences in timing between the recognition of REIT taxable income 
and the actual receipt of cash or the effect of nondeductible capital expenditures, the creation of reserves or required debt or 
amortization payments.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

A complete discussion of our critical accounting policies and estimates is included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the 
year ended December 31, 2019. On January 1, 2020, we adopted ASU No. 2016-13 - Financial Instruments—Credit Losses 
(Topic 326) (“ASC 326”), resulting in a significant change in our accounting policies.

Allowance for Credit Losses

On January 1, 2020, we adopted ASC 326 - “Credit Losses” which requires that we measure and record current expected credit 
losses (“CECL”) for the majority of our investments, the scope of which includes our Investments in leases - direct financing 
and sales-type, Investment in leases - financing receivables and Investments in loans. 

We have elected to use a discounted cash flow model to estimate the CECL allowance. This model requires us to develop cash 
flows which project estimated credit losses over the life of the lease or loan and discount these cash flows at the asset’s 
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effective interest rate. We then record a CECL allowance equal to the difference between the amortized cost basis of the asset 
and the present value of the expected cash flows. 

Expected losses within our cash flows are determined by estimating the probability of default (“PD”) and loss given default 
(“LGD”) of our tenants and their parent guarantors over the life of each individual lease or financial asset. We have engaged a 
nationally recognized data analytics firm to assist us with estimating both the PD and LGD of our tenants and their parent 
guarantors. The PD and LGD are estimated during a reasonable and supportable period for which we believe we are able to 
estimate future economic conditions (the “R&S Period”) and a long-term period for which we revert to long-term historical 
averages (the “Long-term Period”). The PD and LGD estimates for the R&S Period are developed using the current financial 
condition of the tenant and applied to a projection of economic conditions over a two-year term. The PD and LGD for the 
Long-term Period are estimated using the average historical default rates and historical loss rates, respectively, of public 
companies over the past 35 years that have similar credit profiles or characteristics to our tenants and their parent guarantors. 
We were unable to use our historical data to estimate losses as we have no loss history to date. 

The CECL allowance is recorded as a reduction to our net Investments in leases - direct financing and sales type, Investments in 
leases - financing receivables and Investments in loans on our Balance Sheet. We are required to update our CECL allowance 
on a quarterly basis with the resulting change being recorded in the Statement of Operations for the relevant period. Finally, 
each time we make a new investment in an asset subject to ASC 326, we are required to record an initial CECL allowance in the 
Statement of Operations for the relevant period.

To the extent we have contractual commitments to extend credit, such as those under revolving credit facilities, we are required 
to estimate a CECL allowance related to these future funding commitments. The CECL allowance related to these future 
commitments is recorded as a component of Other liabilities on our Balance Sheet.

Write-offs are deducted from the allowance in the period in which they are deemed uncollectible. Recoveries previously written 
off are recorded when received. There were no write-offs or recoveries for the three and six months ended June 30, 2020.

Refer to Note 6 - Allowance for Credit Losses for further information.

Item 3.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We face market risk exposure in the form of interest rate risk. This market risk arises from our debt obligations. Our primary 
market risk exposure is interest rate risk with respect to our indebtedness. 

At June 30, 2020, we had $6.9 billion aggregate principal amount of outstanding indebtedness. Approximately $2.1 billion of 
our indebtedness has variable interest rates. We manage most of our interest rate risks related to variable rate borrowings by 
means of interest rate swap agreements. However, the REIT provisions of the Code substantially limit our ability to hedge our 
assets and liabilities. We expect to manage our exposure to interest rate risk by maintaining a mix of fixed and variable rates for 
our indebtedness. 

At June 30, 2020, we had entered into interest rate swap agreements that hedge $2.0 billion of our variable rate debt. 
Accordingly, we have approximately $100.0 million in variable rate debt that is not hedged. A one percent increase or decrease 
in the interest rate on our variable-rate borrowings that are not hedged would increase or decrease our annual cash interest 
expense by approximately $1.0 million.

Item 4.  Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)) designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in 
reports filed under the Exchange Act, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the specified time periods, and is 
accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as 
appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Our management has evaluated, under the supervision and with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal 
financial officer, the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(e) as of the 
end of the period covered by this report. Based upon this evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal financial 
officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the period covered by this report.
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Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under 
the Exchange Act) that occurred during the three months ended June 30, 2020, that have materially affected, or are reasonably 
likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1.  Legal Proceedings

In the ordinary course of business, from time to time, we may be subject to legal claims and administrative proceedings. As of 
June 30, 2020, we are not subject to any litigation that we believe could have, individually or in the aggregate, a material 
adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations, liquidity or cash flows.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

A description of certain factors that may affect our future results and risk factors is set forth in our Annual Report on Form 10-
K for the year ended December 31, 2019. Investors are cautioned to interpret many of the risks identified in our Annual Report 
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019 as being heightened as a result of the ongoing and numerous adverse 
impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic. There have been no material changes to those factors for the six months ended June 30, 
2020 other than as set forth in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2020, which risk factors are 
incorporated by reference herein, and as set forth below. The risk factors set forth below supplement, and should be read 
together with, the risk factors disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019.

Risks Relating to Us Following Completion of the Eldorado Transaction and Our Pending Transactions

We are and will be significantly dependent on Caesars, Penn National, Hard Rock, JACK Entertainment and Century 
Casinos, and their respective subsidiaries unless or until we substantially diversify our portfolio, and an event that has a 
material adverse effect on any of their businesses, financial condition, liquidity, results of operations or prospects could have 
a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, liquidity, results of operations and prospects.

We depend on our tenants to operate the properties that we own in a manner that generates revenues sufficient to allow the 
tenants to meet their obligations to us. Currently, substantially all of our revenue comes from our leases with subsidiaries of 
Caesars, Penn National, Hard Rock, JACK Entertainment and Century Casinos. Because the master leases are triple-net leases, 
in addition to the rent these significant tenants will owe us, we will depend on these significant tenants to pay substantially all 
insurance, taxes, utilities and maintenance and repair expenses in connection with these leased properties and to indemnify, 
defend and hold us harmless from and against various claims, litigation and liabilities arising in connection with their 
businesses. There can be no assurance that our tenants will have sufficient assets, income or access to financing to enable them 
to satisfy their payment and other obligations under their leases with us, or that the applicable guarantor will be able to satisfy 
its guarantee of the applicable tenant’s obligations.

Our tenants rely on the properties they or their respective subsidiaries own and/or operate for income to satisfy their obligations, 
including their debt service requirements and lease and other payments due to us or others. In addition, Caesars will rely on our 
properties, the Caesars Forum Convention Center and their other operations to satisfy their payment obligations under the 
Forum Convention Center Mortgage Loan. As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, state governments and/or regulatory 
authorities issued various directives, mandates, orders or similar actions resulting in the closure of non-essential businesses, 
which included substantially all of our tenants’ operations, including at our properties and the Caesars Forum Convention 
Center, although in all jurisdictions such measures have been lifted or modified, resulting in the resumption of certain of our 
tenants’ operations, including the reopening of most of our properties. If income at these properties were to decline for any 
reason, including as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, or if a tenant’s debt service requirements were to increase for any 
reason or if their creditworthiness were to become impaired for other reasons, a tenant or the applicable guarantor may become 
unable or unwilling to satisfy its payment and other obligations under their leases or other agreements with us. The inability or 
unwillingness of a significant tenant to meet its payment or other obligations under a lease or other payment obligation with us 
could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, liquidity, results of operations and prospects, including 
our ability to make distributions to our stockholders.

In addition, following completion of the Eldorado Transaction, Caesars is our largest tenant. Caesars has publicly disclosed that 
it expects to achieve synergies following completion of the Eldorado/Caesars Merger. As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic 
or otherwise, Caesars may be unable to achieve such synergies during the time period that it expects to do so, or at all, and a 
failure to achieve these synergies may adversely affect Caesars, including its creditworthiness, and impair its ability to meet its 
obligations to us. Moreover, given Caesars’ significance to our business, a failure on the part of Caesars to realize expected 
synergies and any related improvement to its creditworthiness, or any deterioration of its creditworthiness, could materially and 
adversely affect us, even in the absence of a default under our agreements with Caesars.
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Due to our dependence on rental and other payments from these significant tenants (and their respective subsidiaries) as our 
primary source of revenue, we may be limited in our ability to enforce our rights under the leases or other agreements with our 
tenants or to terminate the leases with respect to any particular property or other agreements. Failure by these significant tenants 
to comply with the terms of their respective leases or to comply with the gaming regulations to which the leased properties are 
subject could result in the termination of an applicable ground lease, requiring us to find another tenant for such property, to the 
extent possible, and there could be a decrease or cessation of rental payments by these significant tenants, as the case may be. In 
such event, we may lose our interest in a property subject to an applicable ground lease or be unable to locate a suitable, 
creditworthy tenant at similar rental rates or at all, which would have the effect of reducing our rental revenues and could have a 
material adverse effect on us. In addition, the Caesars Forum Convention Center has no operating history and will not initially 
generate sufficient operating cash flow to service the interest expense on the Forum Convention Center Mortgage Loan, and its 
operations may continue to be negatively impacted due to the COVID-19 pandemic or other factors. There can be no assurances 
that the Forum Convention Center Borrower will be able to fulfill its payment obligations under the Forum Convention Center 
Mortgage Loan, and such payment obligations are not guaranteed by Eldorado, Pre-Merger Caesars or Caesars. The failure of 
the Forum Convention Center Borrower to fulfill its payment obligations under the Forum Convention Center Mortgage Loan 
would have the effect of reducing our revenue and could have a material adverse effect on us.

If Caesars declares bankruptcy and such action results in a lease being re-characterized as a disguised financing 
transaction in its bankruptcy proceeding, our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows could be 
materially and adversely affected.

If Caesars declares bankruptcy, our business could be materially and adversely affected if a bankruptcy court re-characterizes 
the CPLV Additional Rent Acquisition or the HLV Additional Rent Acquisition as a disguised financing transaction. In the 
event of re-characterization, our claim under a lease agreement with respect to the additional rent acquired in the HLV 
Additional Rent Acquisition and CPLV Additional Rent Acquisition could either be secured or unsecured. Generally, the leases 
permit us to take steps to create and perfect a security interest in the leased property, but such attempts could be subject to 
challenge by the tenant or its creditors and, with respect to the CPLV Additional Rent Acquisition and the HLV Additional 
Rent Acquisition, there is no assurance that a court would find that portion of our claim to be secured. The bankrupt lessee and 
other affiliates of Caesars and their creditors under this scenario might have the ability to restructure the terms, including the 
amount owed to us under the lease with respect to the additional rent. If approved by the bankruptcy court, we could be bound 
by the new terms, and prevented from collecting such additional rent that we paid for in the CPLV Additional Rent Acquisition 
and HLV Additional Rent Acquisition, and our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows could be 
materially and adversely affected.

Risks Related to Our Business and Operations

The COVID-19 pandemic could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition, liquidity, results of 
operations and prospects, including by affecting our tenants’ operations and financial performance and global and U.S. 
economic activity and performance.

Since being initially reported in December 2019, the outbreak of COVID-19 has spread globally and created considerable 
health risks in the United States and around the world, resulting in severely adversely impacted global, national and regional 
economic activity, and has contributed to significant volatility and negative pressure in financial markets. On March 11, 2020, 
the World Health Organization declared COVID-19 a pandemic, and on March 13, 2020, the U.S. federal government declared 
a national emergency concerning the COVID-19 outbreak. Several countries, including the United States, have taken steps to 
restrict air travel, and many state and local governments have instituted additional measures, including quarantines, states of 
emergency, mandatory business and school closures, “shelter-at-home” and similar orders and other restrictions on travel and 
large gatherings, as well as initiatives such as “social distancing” guidelines. In connection with these actions, state 
governments and/or regulatory authorities issued various directives, mandates, orders or similar actions that resulted in the 
closure of non-essential businesses, which included substantially all of our tenants’ operations, including at our properties, as 
well as our golf courses. While such governmental and regulatory measures have in many jurisdictions been lifted or modified, 
resulting in the reopening of most of our tenants’ operations, at our properties, there can be no assurance that such restrictions 
will not be reinstated, new restrictions will not be imposed or closures required or other developments will not take place that 
would further limit our tenants’ operations, including at our properties.

In addition, our tenants have experienced a substantial number of cancellations and reductions in future events and reservations 
in connection with the uncertain duration of the COVID-19 pandemic and business closures. Following the reopening of our 
tenants’ businesses, they may face additional challenges with respect to restoring operations and financial performance, in 
particular as a result of changes in customer engagement. We expect these closures and reduced business activity will adversely 
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affect our tenants’ financial performance, and such impact could be material to us depending on the ultimate duration of the 
pandemic and operational restrictions affecting our tenants’ ability to restore operations following the reopening of their 
businesses and our properties. These closures, operational restrictions and reduced business activity could also materially and 
adversely affect our tenants’ ability to meet their respective financial obligations going forward, including their obligations 
under our leases to pay us rent and make capital expenditures, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, 
results of operations and liquidity. Although we cannot predict with confidence future developments with respect to our tenants’ 
operations at our properties, including reopening timelines or the potential for further closures or restrictions, or if and when 
they will return to pre-pandemic performance levels, as the duration of the pandemic and operational restrictions lengthens, our 
tenants’ liquidity positions may become more stressed which may cause one or more of our tenants to be unable to meet their 
obligations to us in full, or at all, or to otherwise seek modifications to such obligations. Any such modifications to our tenants’ 
obligations to us under our leases may have an adverse effect on our business. Even if our tenants are able to fulfill their 
obligations to us, their inability to meet their financial obligations to their creditors or other counterparties could also have a 
material adverse effect on our business. The financial impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, including a failure of any of our 
tenants to make full rental payments, or any other default by our tenants, under our Lease Agreements, could also negatively 
impact our or our tenants’ future compliance with financial covenants of existing and any future credit facilities and 
indebtedness, and result in a default and potentially an acceleration event, which non-compliance could negatively impact our 
or our tenants’ ability to make additional borrowings, including borrowings under our Revolving Credit Facility, issue 
additional indebtedness and otherwise operate our respective businesses.

In addition, the outbreak has triggered an economic recession in the United States and a material global economic slowdown, 
which many experts predict may continue well beyond the lifting of governmental restrictions related to COVID-19 and the 
reopening of our tenants’ businesses and change consumer behavior, thereby negatively affecting an economic recovery in the 
gaming sector. Any sustained economic slowdown or recession, or the impact thereof, such as through decreased rates of 
employment that extend after our tenants’ businesses are permitted to reopen or broader changes in consumer behavior, may 
further materially and adversely affect our tenants’ financial performance and ability to meet such obligations. We cannot 
predict with confidence when applicable government or regulatory orders, or travel and other restrictions, will end or whether 
and on what timeline our tenants’ performance will meaningfully improve or return to pre-pandemic levels. In addition, due to 
the current volatility in the debt and equity markets, we may be unable to obtain financing for future acquisitions on satisfactory 
terms, or at all. Continuing disruption and instability in the global financial markets or deteriorations in credit and financing 
conditions may affect our access to debt and equity capital in order to fund business operations, if necessary, or address 
maturing liabilities on a timely basis as well as our tenants’ ability to fund their business operations, meet their obligations to 
us, and secure financing for any future or pending transactions.

The full extent to which our business and results of operations will ultimately be affected by the COVID-19 pandemic and 
resulting economic slowdown or recession will largely depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot 
be predicted with confidence at this time, including the scope, severity and duration of the pandemic, the actions taken to 
contain the pandemic or mitigate its impact, and the direct and indirect economic effects of the pandemic and containment 
measures on our tenants, including the length of time our tenants’ operations at our properties remain closed or restricted, or 
close again in the future, and our tenants’ financial performance during the closure and following reopening. In addition, new 
information may continue to emerge concerning the severity of the COVID-19 pandemic, actions required to be undertaken to 
contain the COVID-19 pandemic or address its future impact, the response of the U.S. and global economies and the short- and 
long-term impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our tenants’ operations at our properties, which could further materially and 
adversely impact our business and results and operations.

The occurrence of any of the foregoing events or any other related matters could materially and adversely affect our business, 
financial condition, liquidity, results of operations, prospects and the value of our common stock.

The immediate and long-term effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on the gaming industry could materially and adversely 
affect our business, financial condition, liquidity, results of operations and prospects.

The COVID-19 pandemic has had a severe and unprecedented impact on the gaming industry. Measures implemented to 
prevent its spread, including mandatory closure of non-essential businesses and government-imposed restrictions on social 
gatherings, have had a significant adverse effect on the gaming industry. As a result of these measures, gaming facilities 
throughout the United States, including all of our tenants’ facilities at our properties, were temporarily closed, although such 
measures have in many jurisdictions been lifted or modified, resulting in the resumption of most of our tenants’ operations at 
certain our properties. During this period, many gaming companies face additional financial uncertainty or are generating 
substantially reduced revenue and have sought or taken measures intended to maintain liquidity and solvency, including 
employee furloughs, reduced operating and capital expenditure budgets, and contractual relief or other accommodations with 
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creditors, lenders and other counterparties. There is no guarantee that existing government-imposed restrictions will be lifted in 
the near term, that additional government-imposed restrictions will not be implemented, or that previous restrictions, where 
lifted or modified, will not be reinstated. Moreover, the ultimate impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the gaming industry, the 
timing and extent of government-imposed restrictions and the reopening and performance of gaming facilities is highly 
uncertain and cannot be predicted with confidence.

Historically, economic indicators such as GDP growth, consumer confidence and employment are correlated with demand for 
gaming, entertainment and leisure properties, such as casinos and racetracks, and economic recessions or slowdowns have 
generally led to a decrease in discretionary spending on associated leisure activities. Long-term impacts of the COVID-19 
pandemic, such as decreases in discretionary spending or changing consumer preferences brought about by instability in global, 
national and regional economic activity and financial markets as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, could have a material 
adverse effect on leisure and business travel, discretionary spending and other areas of economic behavior that directly impact 
the gaming industry. Because we are dependent on the gaming industry, the immediate and long-term effects of the COVID-19 
pandemic on the gaming industry could be material and adverse to our business, financial condition, liquidity, results of 
operations and prospects.

Risks Related to the June 2020 Forward Sale Agreement

Provisions contained in the June 2020 Forward Sale Agreement could result in substantial dilution to our earnings per 
share or result in substantial cash payment obligations.

The forward purchaser under the June 2020 Forward Sale Agreement has the right to accelerate the June 2020 Forward Sale 
Agreement (with respect to all or, in certain cases, any portion of the transaction under the June 2020 Forward Sale Agreement 
that the forward purchaser determines is affected by an event described below) and require us to settle on a date specified by the 
forward purchaser if:

• we declare any dividend, issue or distribution on our common stock payable in (x) cash in excess of specified amounts, 
(y) securities of another company that we acquire or own (directly or indirectly) as a result of a spin-off or similar 
transaction or (z) any other type of securities (other than our common stock), rights, warrants or other assets for 
payment at less than the prevailing market price;

• certain ownership thresholds applicable to the forward purchaser and its affiliate are exceeded;

• an event (x) is announced that, if consummated, would result in a specified extraordinary event (including certain 
mergers or tender offers, certain events involving our nationalization, or insolvency, or a delisting of our common 
shares) or (y) occurs that would constitute a delisting or change in law; or

• certain other events of default or termination events occur, including, among others, any material misrepresentation 
made in connection with the June 2020 Forward Sale Agreement or our insolvency (each as more fully described in the 
June 2020 Forward Sale Agreement).

The forward purchaser’s decision to exercise its right to accelerate the settlement of the June 2020 Forward Sale Agreement 
will be made irrespective of our interests, including our need for capital. In such cases, we could be required to issue and 
deliver shares of our common stock under the physical settlement provisions of the June 2020 Forward Sale Agreement, which 
would result in dilution to our earnings per share.

We expect to physically settle the June 2020 Forward Sale Agreement and receive proceeds from the sale of those shares of our 
common stock upon one or more forward settlement dates no later than September 17, 2020. However, the June 2020 Forward 
Sale Agreement may be settled earlier in whole or in part at our option. Subject to certain conditions, we have the right to elect 
physical, cash or net share settlement under the June 2020 Forward Sale Agreement at any time and from time to time, in part 
or in full. The June 2020 Forward Sale Agreement will be physically settled by delivery of shares of our common stock, unless 
we elect to cash settle or net share settle the June 2020 Forward Sale Agreement. Delivery of shares of our common stock upon 
physical settlement (or, if we elect net share settlement, upon such settlement to the extent we are obligated to deliver shares of 
our common stock) will result in dilution to our earnings per share.

If we elect cash settlement or net share settlement with respect to all or a portion of the shares of our common stock underlying 
the June 2020 Forward Sale Agreement, we expect the forward purchaser (or its affiliate) to purchase a number of shares of our 
common stock in secondary market transactions over an unwind period to:
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• return shares of our common stock to securities lenders in order to unwind its hedge (after taking into consideration 
any shares of our common stock to be delivered by us to the forward purchaser, in the case of net share settlement); 
and

• if applicable, in the case of net share settlement, deliver shares of our common stock to us to the extent required in 
settlement of the June 2020 Forward Sale Agreement.

The purchase of shares of our common stock in connection with the forward purchaser or its affiliate unwinding its hedge 
position could cause the price of shares of our common stock to increase over such time (or reduce the amount of a decrease 
over such time), thereby increasing the amount of cash we would be required to pay to the forward purchaser (or decreasing the 
amount of cash that the forward purchaser would be required to pay us) upon a cash settlement of the June 2020 Forward Sale 
Agreement or increasing the number of shares of common stock we would be required to deliver to the forward purchaser (or 
decreasing the number of shares of common stock that the forward purchaser would be required to deliver to us) upon net share 
settlement of the June 2020 Forward Sale Agreement.

The forward sale price that we expect to receive upon physical settlement of the June 2020 Forward Sale Agreement will be 
subject to adjustment on a daily basis based on a floating interest rate factor determined by reference to a specified daily rate 
less a spread and will be decreased by amounts related to expected dividends on our common stock during the term of the June 
2020 Forward Sale Agreement. If the specified daily rate is less than the spread on any day, the interest rate factor will result in 
a reduction of the forward sale price for that day. As of June 16, 2020, the date of the prospectus supplement governing the 
offering of our common stock pursuant to the June 2020 Forward Sale Agreement, the specified daily rate was less than the 
spread, reducing the proceeds that we would receive upon settlement of the June 2020 Forward Sale Agreement. If the 
prevailing market price for our common stock during the unwind period under the June 2020 Forward Sale Agreement is above 
the forward sale price, in the case of cash settlement, we would pay the forward purchaser an amount per share in cash equal to 
the difference or, in the case of net share settlement, we would deliver to the forward purchaser a number of shares of common 
stock having a value equal to the difference. Thus, we could be responsible for a potentially substantial cash payment in the 
case of cash settlement. 

In case of our bankruptcy or insolvency, the June 2020 Forward Sale Agreement would automatically terminate, and we 
would not receive the expected proceeds from the sale of common stock under such agreement.

If we institute, or a regulatory authority with jurisdiction over us institutes, or we consent to, a proceeding seeking a judgment 
in bankruptcy or insolvency or any other relief under any bankruptcy or insolvency law or other similar law affecting creditors’ 
rights, or we or a regulatory authority with jurisdiction over us presents a petition for our winding-up or liquidation, or we 
consent to such a petition, the June 2020 Forward Sale Agreement will automatically terminate. If the June 2020 Forward Sale 
Agreement so terminates, we would not be obligated to deliver to the forward purchaser any shares of common stock not 
previously delivered, and the forward purchaser would be discharged from its obligation to pay the forward sale price per share 
in respect of any shares of common stock not previously settled. Therefore, to the extent that there are any shares of common 
stock with respect to which the June 2020 Forward Sale Agreement has not been settled at the time of the commencement of 
any such bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings, we would not receive the forward sale price per share in respect of those shares 
of common stock.

The U.S. federal income tax treatment of the cash that we might receive from cash settlement of June 2020 Forward Sale 
Agreement is unclear and could jeopardize our ability to meet the REIT qualification requirements.

In the event that we elect to settle the June 2020 Forward Sale Agreement for cash and the settlement price is below the forward 
sale price, we would be entitled to receive a cash payment from the forward purchaser. Under Section 1032 of the Code, 
generally, no gains and losses are recognized by a corporation in dealing in its own shares, including pursuant to a “securities 
futures contract,” as defined in the Code by reference to the Exchange Act. Although we believe that any amount received by us 
in exchange for our shares of common stock would qualify for the exemption under Section 1032 of the Code, because it is not 
entirely clear whether the June 2020 Forward Sale Agreement qualifies as a “securities futures contract,” the U.S. federal 
income tax treatment of any cash settlement payment we receive is uncertain. In the event that we recognize a significant gain 
from the cash settlement of the June 2020 Forward Sale Agreement, we might not be able to satisfy the gross income 
requirements applicable to REITs under the Code. If we were to fail to satisfy one or both of the gross income tests for any 
taxable year, we may nevertheless qualify as a REIT for such year if we were entitled to relief under certain provisions of the 
Code. If these relief provisions were inapplicable, we would not qualify to be taxed as a REIT. Even if these relief provisions 
were to apply, a tax based on the amount of the relevant REIT’s non-qualifying income would be imposed.
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Item 2.  Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

(a) Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

Not applicable. 

(b) Use of Proceeds from Registered Securities

Not applicable. 

(c) Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

During the three months ended June 30, 2020, we did not repurchase any equity securities registered pursuant to Section 12 of 
the Exchange Act.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities

None.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.

Item 5. Other Information

None.
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Item 6. Exhibits

Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit
Number Exhibit Description

Filed 
Herewith Form Exhibit Filing Date

3.1 Amended and Restated Bylaws of VICI Properties Inc. (as 
amended April 30, 2020) X

10.1 Omnibus Amendment to Leases, dated June 1, 2020. 8-K 10.1 6/1/2020

10.2 Forward Sale Agreement, dated June 16, 2020, by and between 
the Company and Morgan Stanley & Co LLC 8-K 1.2 6/19/2020

31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 
302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. X

31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 
302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. X

32.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. *

32.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. *

101.INS XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does not 
appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are 
embedded within the Inline XBRL document

X

101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document X

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document X

101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document X

101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document X

101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document X

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and 
contained in Exhibit 101)

* Furnished herewith.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on 
its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

      

VICI PROPERTIES INC.

Signature Title Date

/s/ EDWARD B. PITONIAK Chief Executive Officer and Director July 29, 2020
Edward B. Pitoniak (Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ DAVID A. KIESKE Chief Financial Officer July 29, 2020
David A. Kieske (Principal Financial Officer)

/s/ GABRIEL F. WASSERMAN Chief Accounting Officer July 29, 2020
Gabriel F. Wasserman (Principal Accounting Officer)
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VICI PROPERTIES INC.

AMENDED AND RESTATED BYLAWS

ARTICLE I 

OFFICES

Section 1. PRINCIPAL OFFICE. The principal office of VICI Properties Inc. 
(the “Company”) in the State of Maryland shall be located at such place as the board of directors 
of the Company (the “Board of Directors”) may designate.

Section 2. ADDITIONAL OFFICES. The Company may have additional 
offices, including a principal executive office, at such places as the Board of Directors may from 
time to time determine or the business of the Company may require.

ARTICLE II

MEETINGS OF STOCKHOLDERS

Section 1. PLACE. All meetings of stockholders shall be held at the principal 
executive office of the Company or at such other place as shall be set in accordance with these 
Bylaws and stated in the notice of the meeting.

Section 2. ANNUAL MEETING. An annual meeting of stockholders for the 
election of directors and the transaction of any business within the powers of the Company shall 
be held on the date and at the time and place set by the Board of Directors.

Section 3. SPECIAL MEETINGS. 

(a) General. Each of the chair of the board, chief executive officer, president 
and Board of Directors may call a special meeting of stockholders. Except as provided in 
subsection (b)(4) of this Section 3, a special meeting of stockholders shall be held on the date 
and at the time and place set by the chair of the board, chief executive officer, president or Board 
of Directors, whoever has called the meeting. Subject to subsection (b) of this Section 3, a 
special meeting of stockholders shall also be called by the secretary of the Company to act on 
any matter that may properly be considered at a meeting of stockholders upon the written request 
of stockholders entitled to cast not less than a majority of all the votes entitled to be cast on such 
matter at such meeting.

(b) Stockholder-Requested Special Meetings. (1) Any stockholder of record 
seeking to have stockholders request a special meeting shall, by sending written notice to the 
secretary (the “Record Date Request Notice”) by registered mail, return receipt requested, 
request the Board of Directors to fix a record date to determine the stockholders entitled to 
request a special meeting (the “Request Record Date”). The Record Date Request Notice shall 
set forth the purpose of the meeting and the matters proposed to be acted on at it, shall be signed 
by one or more stockholders of record as of the date of signature (or their agents duly authorized 
in a writing accompanying the Record Date Request Notice), shall bear the date of signature of 
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each such stockholder (or such agent) and shall set forth all information relating to each such 
stockholder and each matter proposed to be acted on at the meeting that would be required to be 
disclosed in connection with the solicitation of proxies for the election of directors or the election 
of each such individual, as applicable, in an election contest (even if an election contest is not 
involved), or would otherwise be required in connection with such a solicitation, in each case 
pursuant to Regulation 14A (or any successor provision) under the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder (the “Exchange Act”). 
Upon receiving the Record Date Request Notice, the Board of Directors may fix a Request 
Record Date. The Request Record Date shall not precede and shall not be more than ten days 
after the close of business on the date on which the resolution fixing the Request Record Date is 
adopted by the Board of Directors. If the Board of Directors, within ten days after the date on 
which a valid Record Date Request Notice is received, fails to adopt a resolution fixing the 
Request Record Date, the Request Record Date shall be the close of business on the tenth day 
after the first date on which a Record Date Request Notice is received by the secretary.

(2) In order for any stockholder to request a special meeting to act on 
any matter that may properly be considered at a meeting of stockholders, one or more written 
requests for a special meeting (collectively, the “Special Meeting Request”) signed by 
stockholders of record (or their agents duly authorized in a writing accompanying the request) as 
of the Request Record Date entitled to cast not less than a majority of all of the votes entitled to 
be cast on such matter at such meeting (the “Special Meeting Percentage”) shall be delivered to 
the secretary. In addition, the Special Meeting Request shall (a) set forth the purpose of the 
meeting and the matters proposed to be acted on at it (which shall be limited to those lawful 
matters set forth in the Record Date Request Notice received by the secretary), (b) bear the date 
of signature of each such stockholder (or such agent) signing the Special Meeting Request, (c) 
set forth (i) the name and address, as they appear in the Company’s books, of each stockholder 
signing such request (or on whose behalf the Special Meeting Request is signed), (ii) the class, 
series and number of all shares of stock of the Company which are owned (beneficially or of 
record) by each such stockholder and (iii) the nominee holder for, and number of, shares of stock 
of the Company owned beneficially but not of record by such stockholder, (d) be sent to the 
secretary by registered mail, return receipt requested, and (e) be received by the secretary within 
60 days after the Request Record Date. Any requesting stockholder (or agent duly authorized in a 
writing accompanying the revocation of the Special Meeting Request) may revoke his, her or its 
request for a special meeting at any time by written revocation delivered to the secretary.

(3) The secretary shall inform the requesting stockholders of the 
reasonably estimated cost of preparing and mailing or delivering the notice of the requested 
special meeting (including the Company’s proxy materials). The secretary shall not be required 
to call a special meeting upon stockholder request and such meeting shall not be held unless, in 
addition to the documents required by paragraph (2) of this Section 3(b), the secretary receives 
payment of such reasonably estimated cost prior to the preparation and mailing or delivery of 
such notice of the meeting.

(4) In the case of any special meeting called by the secretary upon the 
request of stockholders (a “Stockholder-Requested Meeting”), such meeting shall be held on 
such date and at such place and time as may be designated by the Board of Directors; provided, 
however, that the date of any Stockholder-Requested Meeting shall be not more than 90 days 
after the record date for such meeting (the “Meeting Record Date”); and provided further that if 
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the Board of Directors fails to designate, within ten days after the date that a valid Special 
Meeting Request is deemed to have been received, in accordance with subsection (b)(6) of this 
Section 3, by the secretary (the “Delivery Date”), a date and time for a Stockholder-Requested 
Meeting, then such meeting shall be held at 2:00 p.m., local time, on the 90th day after the 
Meeting Record Date or, if such 90th day is not a Business Day (as defined below), on the first 
preceding Business Day; and provided further that in the event that the Board of Directors fails 
to designate a place for a Stockholder-Requested Meeting within ten days after the Delivery 
Date, then such meeting shall be held at the principal executive office of the Company. In fixing 
a date for a Stockholder-Requested Meeting, the Board of Directors may consider such factors as 
it deems relevant, including, without limitation, the nature of the matters to be considered, the 
facts and circumstances surrounding any request for the meeting and any plan of the Board of 
Directors to call an annual meeting or a special meeting. In the case of any Stockholder-
Requested Meeting, if the Board of Directors fails to fix a Meeting Record Date that is a date 
within 30 days after the Delivery Date, then the close of business on the 30th day after the 
Delivery Date shall be the Meeting Record Date. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary 
herein, the Board of Directors may revoke the notice for any Stockholder-Requested Meeting in 
the event that the requesting stockholders fail to comply with the provisions of paragraph (3) of 
this Section  3(b). 

(5) If written revocations of the Special Meeting Request have been 
delivered to the secretary and the result is that stockholders of record (or their agents duly 
authorized in writing), as of the Request Record Date, entitled to cast less than the Special 
Meeting Percentage have delivered, and not revoked, requests for a special meeting on the matter 
to the secretary: (i) if the notice of meeting has not already been delivered, the secretary shall 
refrain from delivering the notice of the meeting and send to all requesting stockholders who 
have not revoked such requests written notice of any revocation of a request for a special 
meeting on the matter, or (ii) if the notice of meeting has been delivered and if the secretary first 
sends to all requesting stockholders who have not revoked requests for a special meeting on the 
matter written notice of any revocation of a request for the special meeting and written notice of 
the Company’s intention to revoke the notice of the meeting or for the chair of the meeting to 
adjourn the meeting without action on the matter, (A) the secretary may revoke the notice of the 
meeting at any time before ten days before the commencement of the meeting or (B) the chair of 
the meeting may call the meeting to order and adjourn the meeting without acting on the matter. 
Any request for a special meeting received after a revocation by the secretary of a notice of a 
meeting shall be considered a request for a new special meeting.

(6) The chair of the board, chief executive officer, president or Board 
of Directors may appoint regionally or nationally recognized independent inspectors of elections 
to act as the agent of the Company for the purpose of promptly performing a ministerial review 
of the validity of any purported Special Meeting Request received by the secretary. For the 
purpose of permitting the inspectors to perform such review, no such purported Special Meeting 
Request shall be deemed to have been received by the secretary until the earlier of (i) five 
Business Days after actual receipt by the secretary of such purported request and (ii) such date as 
the independent inspectors certify to the Company that the valid requests received by the 
secretary represent, as of the Request Record Date, stockholders of record entitled to cast not less 
than the Special Meeting Percentage. Nothing contained in this paragraph (6) shall in any way be 
construed to suggest or imply that the Company or any stockholder shall not be entitled to 
contest the validity of any request, whether during or after such five Business Day period, or to 
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take any other action (including, without limitation, the commencement, prosecution or defense 
of any litigation with respect thereto, and the seeking of injunctive relief in such litigation).

(7) Only such business shall be conducted at a Stockholder-Requested 
Meeting as shall have been set forth in and brought before the meeting pursuant to the Special 
Meeting Request with respect to such meeting.

(8) The chair of a special meeting shall, if the facts warrant, 
determine and declare to the meeting that business was not properly brought before the meeting 
in accordance with the provisions of this Section 3 and, if the chair should so determine, any 
such business not properly brought before the meeting shall not be transacted.

(9) For purposes of these Bylaws, “Business Day” shall mean any day 
other than a Saturday, a Sunday or a day on which banking institutions in New York City are 
authorized or obligated by law, regulation or executive order to close.

Section 4. NOTICE. Not less than ten nor more than 90 days before each 
meeting of stockholders, the secretary shall give to each stockholder entitled to vote at such 
meeting and to each stockholder not entitled to vote who is entitled to notice of the meeting 
notice in writing or by electronic transmission stating the time and place of the meeting and, in 
the case of a special meeting or as otherwise may be required by any statute, the purpose for 
which the meeting is called, by mail, by presenting it to such stockholder personally, by leaving 
it at the stockholder’s residence or usual place of business, by electronic transmission or by any 
other means permitted by Maryland law. If mailed, such notice shall be deemed to be given when 
deposited in the United States mail addressed to the stockholder at the stockholder’s address as it 
appears on the records of the Company, with postage thereon prepaid. If transmitted 
electronically, such notice shall be deemed to be given when transmitted to the stockholder by an 
electronic transmission to any address or number of the stockholder at which the stockholder 
receives electronic transmissions. The Company may give a single notice to all stockholders who 
share an address, which single notice shall be effective as to any stockholder at such address, 
unless such stockholder objects to receiving such single notice or revokes a prior consent to 
receiving such single notice. Failure to give notice of any meeting to one or more stockholders, 
or any irregularity in such notice, shall not affect the validity of any meeting fixed in accordance 
with the Article II or the validity of any proceedings at any such meetings.

Subject to Section 11(a) of this Article II, no business may be transacted at an 
annual meeting of the stockholders, other than business that is either specified in the notice of 
meeting (or any supplement thereto) given by or at the direction of the Board of Directors (or any 
duly authorized committee thereof) or any business not specified in the notice of meeting but 
otherwise properly brought before the annual meeting by or at the direction of the Board of 
Directors (or any duly authorized committee thereof). No business shall be transacted at a special 
meeting of stockholders except as specifically designated in the notice of meeting. The Company 
may postpone or cancel a meeting of stockholders by making a public announcement (as defined 
in Section 11(c)(3) of this Article II) of such postponement or cancellation prior to the meeting. 
Notice of the date, time and place to which the meeting is postponed shall be given not less than 
ten days prior to such date and otherwise in the manner set forth in this section.
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Whenever written notice is required to be given to any stockholder under the 
provisions of the Maryland General Corporation Law, or any successor statute (the “MGCL”), 
the charter of the Company (the “Charter”) or these Bylaws, the Company shall also provide 
such written notice to holders of units of partnership interests of VICI Properties L.P., a 
Delaware limited partnership.

Section 5. ORGANIZATION AND CONDUCT. Every meeting of 
stockholders shall be conducted by an individual appointed by the Board of Directors to be chair 
of the meeting or, in the absence of such appointment or appointed individual, by the chair of the 
board or, in the case of a vacancy in the office or absence of the chair of the board, by one of the 
following officers present at the meeting in the following order: the vice chair of the board, if 
there is one, the chief executive officer, if there is one, the president, the vice presidents in their 
order of rank and seniority, the secretary, or, in the absence of such officers, a chair chosen by 
the stockholders by the vote of a majority of the votes cast by stockholders present in person or 
by proxy. The secretary, or, in the secretary’s absence, an assistant secretary, or, in the absence 
of both the secretary and assistant secretaries, an individual appointed by the Board of Directors 
or, in the absence of such appointment, an individual appointed by the chair of the meeting shall 
act as secretary. In the event that the secretary presides at a meeting of stockholders, an assistant 
secretary, or, in the absence of all assistant secretaries, an individual appointed by the Board of 
Directors or the chair of the meeting, shall record the minutes of the meeting. The order of 
business and all other matters of procedure at any meeting of stockholders shall be determined by 
the chair of the meeting. The chair of the meeting may prescribe such rules, regulations and 
procedures and take such action as, in the discretion of the chair and without any action by the 
stockholders, are appropriate for the proper conduct of the meeting, including, without limitation, 
(a) restricting admission to the time set for the commencement of the meeting; (b) limiting 
attendance at the meeting to stockholders of record of the Company, their duly authorized 
proxies and such other individuals as the chair of the meeting may determine; (c) limiting 
participation at the meeting on any matter to stockholders of record of the Company entitled to 
vote on such matter, their duly authorized proxies and such other individuals as the chair of the 
meeting may determine; (d) limiting the time allotted to questions or comments; (e) determining 
when and for how long the polls should be opened and when the polls should be closed; (f) 
maintaining order and security at the meeting; (g) removing any stockholder or any other 
individual who refuses to comply with meeting procedures, rules or guidelines as set forth by the 
chair of the meeting; (h) concluding the meeting or recessing or adjourning the meeting, whether 
or not a quorum is present, to a later date and time and at a place announced at the meeting; and 
(i) complying with any state and local laws and regulations concerning safety and security. 
Unless otherwise determined by the chair of the meeting, meetings of stockholders shall not be 
required to be held in accordance with the rules of parliamentary procedure.

Section 6. QUORUM. A meeting of stockholders of the Company shall not 
be organized for the transaction of business unless a quorum is present. At any meeting of 
stockholders, the presence in person or by proxy of stockholders entitled to cast a majority of all 
the votes entitled to be cast at such meeting on any matter shall constitute a quorum; but this 
section shall not affect any requirement under any statute or the Charter for the vote necessary 
for the approval of any matter. If such quorum is not established at any meeting of the 
stockholders, the chair of the meeting may adjourn the meeting sine die or from time to time to a 
date not more than 120 days after the original record date without notice other than 
announcement at the meeting. At such adjourned meeting at which a quorum shall be present, 
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any business may be transacted which might have been transacted at the meeting as originally 
notified.

The stockholders present either in person or by proxy, at a meeting which has 
been duly called and at which a quorum has been established, may continue to transact business 
until adjournment, notwithstanding the withdrawal from the meeting of enough stockholders to 
leave fewer than would be required to establish a quorum.

Section 7. VOTING. Except as otherwise provided in the Charter with respect 
to directors to be elected by the holders of any class or series of preferred stock of the Company 
and in these Bylaws with respect to the filling of vacancies on the Board of Directors, each 
director to be elected by the stockholders of the Company shall be elected by the affirmative vote 
of the majority of the votes cast with respect to that director’s election at any meeting for the 
election of directors at which a quorum is present; provided, however, that if the number of 
director nominees exceeds the number of directors to be elected at such meeting (a “contested 
election”), each of the directors to be elected at such meeting shall be elected by a plurality of all 
votes cast at such meeting. For purposes hereof, a majority of the votes cast means the number of 
votes cast “for” a director nominee must exceed the number of votes cast “against” that director 
nominee, with abstentions and broker non-votes not counted as a vote cast either “for” or 
“against” that director nominee. A director nominee who is not already serving as a director and 
who does not receive a majority vote in an uncontested election shall not be elected. A nominee 
who is already serving as a director and who does not receive a majority vote in an uncontested 
election, shall resign from the Board of Directors. Any such resignation shall take effect 
immediately upon its receipt and the acceptance of such resignation shall not be necessary to 
make it effective. Any vacancy resulting from the resignation of a director under this Section 7 of 
Article II may be filled by the Board of Directors in accordance with Section  12 of Article III of 
these Bylaws. The Nominating and Governance Committee will consider promptly whether to 
fill the office of a nominee who has tendered a resignation and make a recommendation to the 
Board of Directors about filling the office. The Board of Directors will act on the Nominating 
and Governance Committee’s recommendation within 90 days after the certification of the 
stockholder vote and will disclose publicly its decision. Each share entitles the holder thereof to 
vote for as many individuals as there are directors to be elected and for whose election the holder 
is entitled to vote. A majority of the votes cast at a meeting of stockholders duly called and at 
which a quorum is present shall be sufficient to approve any other matter which may properly 
come before the meeting, unless more than a majority of the votes cast is required by statute or 
by the Charter. Unless otherwise provided by statute or by the Charter, each outstanding share of 
stock, regardless of class, entitles the holder thereof to cast one vote on each matter submitted to 
a vote at a meeting of stockholders. Voting on any question or in any election may be viva voce 
unless the chair of the meeting shall order that voting be by ballot or otherwise.

Section 8. PROXIES. A holder of record of shares of stock of the Company 
may cast votes in person or by proxy executed by the stockholder or by the stockholder’s duly 
authorized agent in any manner permitted by law. The presence of, or vote or other action at a 
meeting of stockholders by a proxy of, a stockholder entitled to vote shall constitute the presence 
of, or vote or action by, the stockholder. Such proxy or evidence of authorization of such proxy 
shall be filed with the secretary of the Company before or at the meeting. A stockholder or the 
stockholder’s duly authorized agent may execute or authenticate a writing or transmit an 
electronic message authorizing another person to act for the stockholder by proxy. An electronic 
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transmission from a stockholder or duly authorized agent, or a photographic, facsimile or similar 
reproduction of a writing executed by a stockholder or the stockholder’s duly authorized agent, 
may be treated as properly executed or authenticated for purposes of this Section 8 and shall be 
so treated if it sets forth or utilizes a confidential and unique identification number or other mark 
furnished by the Company to the stockholder for the purposes of a particular meeting. No proxy 
shall be valid more than eleven months after its date unless otherwise provided in the proxy. 
Where a stockholder entitled to vote has named two or more proxies and such proxies are 
present, the Company shall, unless otherwise expressly provided in the proxy, accept as the vote 
of all shares represented thereby the vote cast by a majority of them and, if a majority of the 
proxies cannot agree whether the shares represented shall be voted or upon the manner of voting 
the shares, the voting of the shares shall be divided equally among those proxies.

A proxy, unless the proxy states that it is irrevocable and the proxy is coupled 
with an interest, shall be revocable at will, notwithstanding any other agreement or any provision 
in the proxy to the contrary, but the revocation of a proxy shall not be effective until notice 
thereof has been given to the secretary of the Company in writing or by electronic transmission. 
A proxy shall not be revoked by the death or incapacity of the maker unless, before the vote is 
counted or the authority is exercised pursuant to such proxy, written notice of the death or 
incapacity is given to the secretary of the Company.

The Company shall pay the reasonable expenses of solicitation of votes or proxies 
of stockholders by or on behalf of the Board of Directors or its nominees for election to the 
Board of Directors, including, without limitation, solicitation by professional proxy solicitors and 
otherwise.

Section 9. VOTING OF STOCK BY CERTAIN HOLDERS. Stock of the 
Company registered in the name of a corporation, limited liability company, partnership, joint 
venture, trust or other entity, if entitled to be voted, may be voted by the president or a vice 
president, managing member, manager, general partner or trustee thereof, as the case may be, or 
a proxy appointed by any of the foregoing individuals, unless some other person who has been 
appointed to vote such stock pursuant to a bylaw or a resolution of the governing body of such 
corporation or other entity or agreement of the partners of a partnership presents a certified copy 
of such bylaw, resolution or agreement, in which case such person may vote such stock. Any 
trustee or fiduciary, in such capacity, may vote stock registered in such trustee’s or fiduciary’s 
name, either in person or by proxy.

Shares of stock of the Company directly or indirectly owned by it shall not be 
voted at any meeting and shall not be counted in determining the total number of outstanding 
shares entitled to be voted at any given time, unless they are held by it in a fiduciary capacity, in 
which case they may be voted and shall be counted in determining the total number of 
outstanding shares at any given time.

The Board of Directors may adopt by resolution a procedure by which a 
stockholder may certify in writing to the Company that any shares of stock registered in the 
name of the stockholder are held for the account of a specified person other than the stockholder. 
The resolution shall set forth the class of stockholders who may make the certification, the 
purpose for which the certification may be made, the form of certification and the information to 
be contained in it; if the certification is with respect to a record date, the time after the record 
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date within which the certification must be received by the Company; and any other provisions 
with respect to the procedure which the Board of Directors considers necessary or desirable. On 
receipt by the Company of such certification, the person specified in the certification shall be 
regarded as, for the purposes set forth in the certification, the holder of record of the specified 
stock in place of the stockholder who makes the certification.

Section 10. INSPECTORS. The Board of Directors or the chair of the meeting 
may appoint, before or at the meeting, one or more inspectors, who need not be stockholders of 
the Company, for the meeting and any successor to the inspector. A person who is a candidate 
for an office to be filled at a meeting may not serve as an inspector. Except as otherwise provided 
by the chair of the meeting, the inspectors, if any, shall (i) determine the number of shares of 
stock represented at the meeting, in person or by proxy, and the validity and effect of proxies, (ii) 
receive and tabulate all votes, ballots or consents, (iii) report such tabulation to the chair of the 
meeting, (iv) hear and determine all challenges and questions arising in connection with the right 
to vote, and (v) do such acts as are proper to fairly conduct the election or vote. The inspectors of 
election shall perform their duties impartially, in good faith, to the best of their ability and as 
expeditiously as is practical. Each such report shall be in writing and signed by the inspector or 
by a majority of them if there is more than one inspector acting at such meeting. On request of 
the chair of the meeting or of any stockholder, the inspectors shall make a report in writing of 
any challenge or question or matter determined by them, and execute a certificate of any fact 
found by them. Any report made or certificate executed by them shall be prima facie evidence of 
the facts stated therein. If there is more than one inspector, the report of a majority shall be the 
report of the inspectors. The report of the inspector or inspectors on the number of shares 
represented at the meeting and the results of the voting shall be prima facie evidence thereof.

Section 11. ADVANCE NOTICE OF STOCKHOLDER NOMINEES FOR 
DIRECTOR AND OTHER STOCKHOLDER PROPOSALS. 

(a) Annual Meetings of Stockholders. (1) Nominations of individuals for 
election to the Board of Directors and the proposal of other business to be considered by the 
stockholders may be made at an annual meeting of stockholders (i) pursuant to the Company’s 
notice of meeting, (ii) by or at the direction of the Board of Directors or (iii) by any stockholder 
of the Company present in person or by proxy who (A) was a stockholder of record both at the 
time of giving of notice by the stockholder as provided for in this Section 11(a) and at the time of 
the annual meeting (and any postponement or adjournment thereof), (B) is entitled to vote at the 
meeting in the election of each individual so nominated or on any such other business, (C) is not 
an Unsuitable Person (as defined in the Charter) and (D) who has complied with this Section 
11(a). 

(2) For any nomination or other business to be properly brought before 
an annual meeting by a stockholder pursuant to clause (iii) of paragraph (a)(1) of this Section 11, 
the stockholder must have given timely notice thereof in writing to the secretary of the Company 
and any such other business must otherwise be a proper matter for action by the stockholders. To 
be timely, a stockholder’s notice shall set forth all information required under this Section 11 and 
shall be delivered to the secretary at the principal executive office of the Company not earlier 
than the 150th

 day nor later than 5:00 p.m., Eastern Time, on the 120th day prior to the first 
anniversary of the date of the preceding year’s proxy statement; provided, however, that if the 
date of the annual meeting is advanced or delayed by more than 30 days from the first 
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anniversary of the date of the preceding year’s annual meeting or if no annual meeting was held 
in the preceding year, then in order for notice by the stockholder to be timely, such notice must 
be so delivered not earlier than the 120th day prior to the date of such annual meeting and not 
later than 5:00 p.m., Eastern Time, on the later of the 90th

 day prior to the date of such annual 
meeting, as originally noticed, or the tenth day following the day on which public announcement 
of the date of such meeting is first made. The public announcement of a postponement or 
adjournment of an annual meeting shall not commence a new time period for the giving of a 
stockholder’s notice as described above.

(3) Such stockholder’s notice shall set forth:

(i)as to each individual whom the stockholder proposes to nominate 
for election or reelection as a director (each, a “Proposed Nominee”), all information relating to 
the Proposed Nominee that would be required to be disclosed in connection with the solicitation 
of proxies for the election of the Proposed Nominee as a director in an election contest (even if 
an election contest is not involved), or would otherwise be required in connection with such 
solicitation, in each case pursuant to Regulation 14A (or any successor provision) under the 
Exchange Act;

(ii)as to any other business that the stockholder proposes to bring 
before the meeting, a description of such business, the stockholder’s reasons for proposing such 
business at the meeting and any material interest in such business of such stockholder or any 
Stockholder Associated Person (as defined below), individually or in the aggregate, including 
any anticipated benefit to the stockholder or the Stockholder Associated Person therefrom;

(iii)as to the stockholder giving the notice, any Proposed Nominee and 
any Stockholder Associated Person,

(A) the class, series and number of all shares of stock or 
other securities of the Company or any affiliate thereof (collectively, the “Company Securities”), 
if any, which are owned (beneficially or of record) by such stockholder, Proposed Nominee or 
Stockholder Associated Person, the date on which each such Company Security was acquired 
and the investment intent of such acquisition, and any short interest (including, without 
limitation, any opportunity to profit or share in any benefit from any decrease in the price of such 
stock or other security) in any Company Securities of any such person,

(B) the nominee holder for, and number of, any 
Company Securities owned beneficially but not of record by such stockholder, Proposed 
Nominee or Stockholder Associated Person,

(C) whether and the extent to which such stockholder, 
Proposed Nominee or Stockholder Associated Person, directly or indirectly (through brokers, 
nominees or otherwise), is subject to or during the last six months has engaged in any hedging, 
derivative or other transaction or series of transactions or entered into any other agreement, 
arrangement or understanding (including, without limitation, any short interest, any borrowing or 
lending of securities or any proxy or voting agreement), the effect or intent of which is to (I) 
manage risk or benefit of changes in the price of Company Securities for such stockholder, 
Proposed Nominee or Stockholder Associated Person or (II) increase or decrease the voting 
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power of such stockholder, Proposed Nominee or Stockholder Associated Person in the 
Company or any affiliate thereof disproportionately to such person’s economic interest in the 
Company Securities, and

(D) any substantial interest, direct or indirect (including, 
without limitation, any existing or prospective commercial, business or contractual relationship 
with the Company or any affiliate thereof), by security holdings or otherwise, of such 
stockholder, Proposed Nominee or Stockholder Associated Person, in the Company or any 
affiliate thereof, other than an interest arising from the ownership of Company Securities where 
such stockholder, Proposed Nominee or Stockholder Associated Person receives no extra or 
special benefit not shared on a pro rata basis by all other holders of the same class or series;

(iv)as to the stockholder giving the notice, any Stockholder Associated 
Person with an interest or ownership referred to in clauses (ii) or (iii) of this paragraph (3) of this 
Section 11(a) and any Proposed Nominee,

(A) the name and address of such stockholder, as they 
appear on the Company’s stock ledger, and the current name and business address, if different, of 
each such Stockholder Associated Person and any Proposed Nominee, and

(B) the investment strategy or objective, if any, of such 
stockholder and each such Stockholder Associated Person who is not an individual and a copy of 
the prospectus, offering memorandum or similar document, if any, provided to investors or 
potential investors in such stockholder and each such Stockholder Associated Person;

(v)the name and address of any person who contacted or was 
contacted by the stockholder giving the notice or any Stockholder Associated Person about the 
Proposed Nominee or other business proposal prior to the date of such stockholder’s notice; and

(vi)to the extent known by the stockholder giving the notice, the name 
and address of any other stockholder supporting the Proposed Nominee for election or reelection 
as a director or the proposal of other business on the date of such stockholder’s notice.

(4) Such stockholder’s notice shall, with respect to any Proposed 
Nominee, be accompanied by (a) a written questionnaire, completed and signed by the Proposed 
Nominee, with respect to the background and qualification of such Proposed Nominee and the 
background of any other person or entity on whose behalf the nomination is being made, which 
shall in any event include all information relating to the Proposed Nominee that would be 
required to be disclosed in connection with the solicitation of proxies for the election of the 
Proposed Nominee as a director in an election contest (even if an election contest is not 
involved), or would otherwise be required in connection with such solicitation, in each case 
pursuant to Regulation 14A (or any successor provision) under the Exchange Act and the rules 
thereunder, or would be required pursuant to the rules of any national securities exchange on 
which any securities of the Company are listed or over-the-counter market on which any 
securities of the Company are traded) (the form of which questionnaire shall be provided by the 
Company upon written request), (b) a multi-jurisdictional personal disclosure form for the 
Proposed Nominee, completed and signed by such Proposed Nominee, together with all required 
exhibits and attachments thereto, in the form customarily required by governmental agencies 
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responsible for licensing “key persons” of companies involved in gaming, (c) the written consent 
of each Proposed Nominee to: (1) provide, within such time period specified by the Company, 
(A) all completed applications and such additional information necessary to enable the Company 
to comply with all applicable regulatory requirements and to respond fully to any suitability 
inquiry conducted under the executive, administrative, judicial and/or legislative rules, 
regulations, laws and orders of any jurisdiction to which the Company is then subject, and (B) 
such additional information concerning the Proposed Nominee as may reasonably be required by 
the Board of Directors to determine the eligibility of such Proposed Nominee to serve as an 
independent director of the Company, that could be material to a reasonable stockholder’s 
understanding of the independence, or lack thereof, of such Proposed Nominee, and to evaluate 
whether the Proposed Nominee is an Unsuitable Person, and (2) a background check to confirm 
the qualifications and character of the Proposed Nominee, to evaluate whether the Proposed 
Nominee is an Unsuitable Person, and to make such other determinations as the Board of 
Directors may deem appropriate or necessary, and (d) the written representation and agreement 
(in the form provided by the Company upon written request) of the Proposed Nominee that he or 
she (1) is not and will not become a party to (A) any agreement, arrangement or understanding 
with, and has not given any commitment or assurance to, any person or entity as to how such 
person, if elected as a director of the Company, will act or vote on any issue or question (a 
“Voting Commitment”) that has not been disclosed to the Company or (B) any Voting 
Commitment that could limit or interfere with such person’s ability to comply, if elected as a 
director of the Company, with such person’s duties under applicable law, (2) is not and will not 
become a party to any agreement, arrangement or understanding with any person or entity other 
than the Company with respect to any direct or indirect compensation, reimbursement or 
indemnification in connection with service or action as a director that has not been disclosed 
therein, and (3) in such person’s individual capacity and on behalf of any person or entity on 
whose behalf the nomination is being made, would be in compliance, if elected as a director of 
the Company, and will comply, with all applicable publicly disclosed corporate governance, 
conflict of interest, confidentiality and stock ownership and trading policies and guidelines of the 
Company.

(5) Notwithstanding anything in this subsection (a) of this Section 11 
to the contrary, in the event that the number of directors to be elected to the Board of Directors is 
increased, and there is no public announcement of such action at least 100 days prior to the first 
anniversary of the date of the proxy statement for the preceding year’s annual meeting, a 
stockholder’s notice required by this Section 11(a) shall also be considered timely, but only with 
respect to nominees for any new positions created by such increase, if it shall be delivered to the 
secretary at the principal executive office of the Company not later than 5:00 p.m., Eastern Time, 
on the tenth day following the day on which such public announcement is first made by the 
Company.

(6) If information submitted pursuant to this Section 11 by any 
stockholder proposing a nominee for election as a director or any proposal for other business at a 
meeting of stockholders shall be inaccurate in any material respect, such information may be 
deemed by the Company not to have been provided in accordance with this Section 11. Any such 
stockholder shall notify the Company of any inaccuracy or change (within two Business Days of 
becoming aware of such inaccuracy or change) in any such information. Upon written request by 
the secretary or the Board of Directors, any such stockholder shall provide, within five Business 
Days of delivery of such request (or such other period as may be specified in such request), (A) 
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written verification, satisfactory, in the discretion of the Board of Directors or any authorized 
officer of the Company, to demonstrate the accuracy of any information submitted by the 
stockholder pursuant to this Section 11, and (B) a written update of any information (including, if 
requested by the Company, written confirmation by such stockholder that it continues to intend 
to bring such nomination or other business proposal before the meeting) submitted by the 
stockholder pursuant to this Section 11 as of an earlier date. If a stockholder fails to provide such 
written verification or written update within such period, the information as to which written 
verification or a written update was requested may be deemed not to have been provided in 
accordance with this Section 11.

(7) For purposes of this Section 11, “Stockholder Associated Person” 
of any stockholder shall mean (i) any person acting in concert with such stockholder, (ii) any 
beneficial owner of shares of stock of the Company owned of record or beneficially by such 
stockholder (other than a stockholder that is a depositary) and (iii) any person that directly, or 
indirectly through one or more intermediaries, controls, or is controlled by, or is under common 
control with, such stockholder or such Stockholder Associated Person.

(b) Special Meetings of Stockholders. Only such business shall be conducted 
at a special meeting of stockholders as shall have been brought before the meeting pursuant to 
the Company’s notice of meeting. Nominations of individuals for election to the Board of 
Directors may be made at a special meeting of stockholders at which directors are to be elected 
only (i) by or at the direction of the Board of Directors or (ii) provided that the special meeting 
has been called in accordance with Section 3(a) of this Article II for the purpose of electing 
directors, by any stockholder of the Company who is a stockholder of record both at the time of 
giving of notice provided for in this Section 11 and at the time of the special meeting (and any 
postponement or adjournment thereof), who is entitled to vote at the meeting in the election of 
each individual so nominated and who has complied with the notice procedures set forth in this 
Section 11. In the event the Company calls a special meeting of stockholders for the purpose of 
electing one or more individuals to the Board of Directors, any stockholder may nominate an 
individual or individuals (as the case may be) for election as a director as specified in the 
Company’s notice of meeting, if the stockholder’s notice, containing the information required by 
paragraphs (a)(3) and (4) of this Section 11, is delivered to the secretary at the principal 
executive office of the Company not earlier than the 120th day prior to such special meeting and 
not later than 5:00 p.m., Eastern Time, on the later of the 90th day prior to such special meeting 
or the tenth day following the day on which public announcement is first made of the date of the 
special meeting and of the nominees proposed by the Board of Directors to be elected at such 
meeting. The public announcement of a postponement or adjournment of a special meeting shall 
not commence a new time period for the giving of a stockholder’s notice as described above.

(c) General. (1) If information submitted pursuant to this Section 11 by any 
stockholder proposing a nominee for election as a director or any proposal for other business at a 
meeting of stockholders shall be inaccurate in any material respect, such information may be 
deemed not to have been provided in accordance with this Section 11. Any such stockholder 
shall notify the Company of any inaccuracy or change (within two Business Days of becoming 
aware of such inaccuracy or change) in any such information. Upon written request by the 
secretary or the Board of Directors, any such stockholder shall provide, within five Business 
Days of delivery of such request (or such other period as may be specified in such request), (A) 
written verification, satisfactory, in the discretion of the Board of Directors or any authorized 
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officer of the Company, to demonstrate the accuracy of any information submitted by the 
stockholder pursuant to this Section 11, and (B) a written update of any information (including, if 
requested by the Company, written confirmation by such stockholder that it continues to intend 
to bring such nomination or other business proposal before the meeting) submitted by the 
stockholder pursuant to this Section 11 as of an earlier date. If a stockholder fails to provide such 
written verification or written update within such period, the information as to which written 
verification or a written update was requested may be deemed not to have been provided in 
accordance with this Section 11. 

(2) Only such individuals who are nominated in accordance with this 
Section 11 shall be eligible for election by stockholders as directors, and only such business shall 
be conducted at a meeting of stockholders as shall have been brought before the meeting in 
accordance with this Section 11. The chair of the meeting shall have the power to determine 
whether a nomination or any other business proposed to be brought before the meeting was made 
or proposed, as the case may be, in accordance with this Section 11. 

(3) For purposes of this Section 11, “the date of the proxy statement” 
shall have the same meaning as “the date of the company’s proxy statement released to 
shareholders” as used in Rule 14a-8(e) promulgated under the Exchange Act, as interpreted by 
the Securities and Exchange Commission from time to time; and “public announcement” shall 
mean disclosure (A) in a press release reported by the Dow Jones News Service, Associated 
Press, Business Wire, PR Newswire or other widely circulated news or wire service or (B) in a 
document publicly filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant 
to the Exchange Act.

(4) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 11, a 
stockholder shall also comply with all applicable requirements of state law and of the Exchange 
Act and the rules and regulations thereunder with respect to the matters set forth in this Section 
11. Nothing in this Section 11 shall be deemed to affect any right of (i) a stockholder to request 
inclusion of a proposal in, or the right of the Company to omit a proposal from, any proxy 
statement filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 
14a-8 (or any successor provision) under the Exchange Act, or (ii) a holder of preferred stock if 
and to the extent provided for under law, the Charter or these Bylaws. Nothing in this Section 11 
shall require disclosure of revocable proxies received by the stockholder or Stockholder 
Associated Person pursuant to a solicitation of proxies after the filing of an effective Schedule 
14A by such stockholder or Stockholder Associated Person under Section 14(a) of the Exchange 
Act.

(5) The Board of Directors may, in its sole discretion, waive any 
condition or requirement of any provision of this Section 11 in one or more instances.

Section 12. STOCKHOLDERS’ CONSENT IN LIEU OF MEETING. Any 
action required or permitted to be taken at any meeting of the holders of Common Stock entitled 
to vote generally in the election of directors may be taken without a meeting (a) if a unanimous 
consent setting forth the action is given in writing or by electronic transmission by each 
stockholder entitled to vote on the matter and filed with the minutes of proceedings of the 
stockholders or (b) if the action is advised, and submitted to the stockholders for approval, by 
the Board of Directors and a consent in writing or by electronic transmission of stockholders 
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entitled to cast not less than the minimum number of votes that would be necessary to authorize 
or take the action at a meeting of stockholders is delivered to the Corporation in accordance with 
the MGCL. The Corporation shall give notice of any action taken by less than unanimous 
consent to each stockholder as required by the MGCL.

Section 13. CONTROL SHARE ACQUISITION ACT. Notwithstanding any 
other provision of the Charter or these Bylaws, Title 3, Subtitle 7 of the MGCL, shall not apply 
to any acquisition by any person of shares of stock of the Company. This section may be 
repealed, in whole or in part, at any time, as provided in Article XVII, whether before or after an 
acquisition of control shares and, upon such repeal, may, to the extent provided by any successor 
bylaw, apply to any prior or subsequent control share acquisition.

ARTICLE III 

DIRECTORS

Section 1. GENERAL POWERS. Unless otherwise provided by applicable 
law, all powers vested by law in the Company shall be exercised by or under the authority of, 
and the business and affairs of the Company shall be managed under the direction of, its Board 
of Directors.

Section 2. NUMBER, TENURE, QUALIFICATIONS AND 
RESIGNATION.  Each director of the Company shall be a natural person of at least eighteen 
years of age who need not be a resident of the State of Maryland or a stockholder of the 
Company, and shall not be an Unsuitable Person (as defined in the Charter). Except as otherwise 
fixed by or pursuant to the provisions of the Charter relating to the rights of the holders of any 
class or series of stock having a preference over the Common Stock as to dividends or upon 
liquidation to elect additional directors under specified circumstances, at any regular meeting or 
at any special meeting called for that purpose, a majority of the entire Board of Directors may 
establish, increase or decrease the number of directors, provided that the number thereof shall 
never be less than the minimum number required by the MGCL, nor more than 15, and further 
provided that the tenure of office of a director shall not be affected by any decrease in the 
number of directors. A director shall hold office for a one-year term or until his or her earlier 
death, resignation, removal or a determination by the Board of Directors that such director no 
longer has the qualifications that were required by the Charter and these Bylaws at the time the 
director was elected, and each director shall continue in office until the expiration of the term for 
which he or she was elected and until his or her successor has been duly elected and qualified. 
Any director of the Company may resign at any time by delivering his or her resignation to the 
Board of Directors, the chair of the board or the secretary. Subject to Section 7 of Article II, any 
such resignation shall take effect immediately upon its receipt or at such later time specified in 
the resignation. Subject to Section 7 of Article II, the acceptance of a resignation shall not be 
necessary to make it effective unless otherwise stated in the resignation. When one or more 
directors resign from the Board of Directors effective at a future date, the directors then in office, 
including those who have so resigned, shall have power by the applicable vote to fill the vacancy 
or vacancies created by such resignation.

Section 3. ANNUAL AND REGULAR MEETINGS. An annual meeting of 
the Board of Directors shall be held immediately after and at the same place as the annual 
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meeting of stockholders, no notice other than this Bylaw being necessary. In the event such 
meeting is not so held, the meeting may be held at such time and place as shall be specified in a 
notice given as hereinafter provided for special meetings of the Board of Directors. The Board of 
Directors may provide, by resolution, the time and place of regular meetings of the Board of 
Directors without other notice than such resolution.

Section 4. SPECIAL MEETINGS. Special meetings of the Board of Directors 
may be called by or at the request of the chair of the board, the chief executive officer, the 
president or a majority of the directors then in office. The person or persons authorized to call 
special meetings of the Board of Directors may fix the time and place of any special meeting of 
the Board of Directors called by them.

Section 5. NOTICE. Notice of any special meeting of the Board of Directors 
shall be delivered personally or by telephone, electronic mail, facsimile transmission, courier or 
United States mail to each director at his or her business or residence address. Notice by personal 
delivery, telephone, electronic mail or facsimile transmission shall be given at least 24 hours 
prior to the meeting. Notice by United States mail shall be given at least three days prior to the 
meeting. Notice by courier shall be given at least two days prior to the meeting. Telephone notice 
shall be deemed to be given when the director or his or her agent is personally given such notice 
in a telephone call to which the director or his or her agent is a party. Electronic mail notice shall 
be deemed to be given upon transmission of the message to the electronic mail address given to 
the Company by the director. Facsimile transmission notice shall be deemed to be given upon 
completion of the transmission of the message to the number given to the Company by the 
director and receipt of a completed answer-back indicating receipt. Notice by United States mail 
shall be deemed to be given when deposited in the United States mail properly addressed, with 
postage thereon prepaid. Notice by courier shall be deemed to be given when deposited with or 
delivered to a courier properly addressed. Neither the business to be transacted at, nor the 
purpose of, any annual, regular or special meeting of the Board of Directors need be stated in the 
notice, unless specifically required by statute, the Charter or these Bylaws.

Section 6. QUORUM. A majority of the directors then in office shall 
constitute a quorum for transaction of business at any meeting of the Board of Directors. If a 
quorum shall fail to attend any meeting, a majority of the directors present may adjourn the 
meeting to another place, if any, date or time, without further notice or waiver thereof. The 
directors present at a meeting which has been duly called and at which a quorum has been 
established may continue to transact business until adjournment, notwithstanding the withdrawal 
from the meeting of enough directors to leave fewer than required to establish a quorum.

Section 7. VOTING. The action of a majority of the directors present at a 
meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the action of the Board of Directors, unless the 
concurrence of a greater proportion is required for such action by applicable law, the Charter or 
these Bylaws. If enough directors have withdrawn from a meeting to leave fewer than required to 
establish a quorum, but the meeting is not adjourned, the action of the majority of that number of 
directors necessary to constitute a quorum, in accordance with Section 6 of this Article, at such 
meeting shall be the action of the Board of Directors, unless the concurrence of a greater 
proportion is required for such action by applicable law, the Charter or these Bylaws.
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Section 8. NOTATION OF DISSENT. A director who is present at a meeting 
of the Board of Directors, or of a committee thereof, at which action on any corporate matter is 
taken shall be presumed to have assented to the action taken unless he or she announces his or 
her dissent at the meeting and (i) his or her dissent is entered in the minutes of the meeting, (ii) 
the director files a written dissent to the action with the secretary of the meeting before the 
adjournment thereof or (iii) he or she transmits the dissent in writing to the secretary of the 
Company within 24 hours after the adjournment of the meeting. The right of dissent shall not 
apply to a director who voted in favor of the action. Nothing in this Section 8 shall bar a director 
from asserting that minutes of the meeting incorrectly omitted his or her dissent if, promptly 
upon receipt of a copy of such minutes, the director notifies the secretary of the meeting, in 
writing, of the asserted omission or inaccuracy.

Section 9. ORGANIZATION. At each meeting of the Board of Directors, the 
chair of the board or, in the absence of the chair, the vice chair of the board, if any, shall act as 
chair of the meeting. In the absence of both the chair and vice chair of the board, the chief 
executive officer or, in the absence of the chief executive officer, the president or, in the absence 
of the president, a director chosen by a majority of the directors present, shall act as chair of the 
meeting. The secretary or, in his or her absence, an assistant secretary of the Company, or, in the 
absence of the secretary and all assistant secretaries, an individual appointed by the chair of the 
meeting, shall act as secretary of the meeting.

Section 10. TELEPHONE MEETINGS. Directors may participate in a meeting 
by means of a conference telephone or other communications equipment if all persons 
participating in the meeting can hear each other at the same time. Participation in a meeting by 
these means shall constitute presence in person at the meeting.

Section 11. CONSENT BY DIRECTORS WITHOUT A MEETING. Any 
action required or permitted to be taken at any meeting of the Board of Directors may be taken 
without a meeting, if a consent in writing or by electronic transmission to such action is given by 
each director and is filed with the minutes of proceedings of the Board of Directors.

Section 12. VACANCIES. If for any reason any or all of the directors cease to 
be directors, such event shall not terminate the Company or affect these Bylaws or the powers of 
the remaining directors hereunder. Except as otherwise provided for or fixed by or pursuant to 
the provisions of the Charter relating to the rights of the holders of any class or series of stock 
having a preference over the Common Stock as to dividends or upon liquidation to elect 
additional directors under specified circumstances, newly created directorships resulting from 
any increase in the number of directors and any vacancies on the Board of Directors resulting 
from death, resignation, disqualification, removal or other cause, may be filled by the affirmative 
vote of a majority of the remaining directors then in office, even if such majority is less than a 
quorum, except that a vacancy created by the removal of a director by the vote or written consent 
of the stockholders may also be filled by the stockholders, by the affirmative vote of a majority 
of the votes cast at a duly held meeting at which quorum is present, or by written consent in 
accordance with Section 12 of Article II of these Bylaws. Any directors elected in accordance 
with the preceding sentence shall hold office for the remainder of the full term in which the new 
directorship was created or the vacancy occurred and until such director’s successor shall have 
been duly elected and qualified. No decrease in the number of directors constituting the Board of 
Directors shall shorten the term of any incumbent director.
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Section 13. COMPENSATION. The Board of Directors shall have the 
authority to fix the compensation of directors for their services as directors and a director may be 
a salaried officer of the Company. Directors, by resolution of the Board of Directors, may also 
receive compensation per year and/or per meeting and/or per visit to real property or other 
facilities owned or leased by the Company and for any service or activity they performed or 
engaged in as directors. Directors may be reimbursed for expenses of attendance, if any, at each 
annual, regular or special meeting of the Board of Directors or of any committee thereof and for 
their expenses, if any, in connection with each property visit and any other service or activity 
they perform or engage in as directors; but nothing herein contained shall be construed to 
preclude any directors from serving the Company in any other capacity and receiving 
compensation therefor.

Section 14. RELIANCE. Each director and officer of the Company shall, in the 
performance of his or her duties with respect to the Company, be entitled to rely on any 
information, opinion, report or statement, including any financial statement or other financial 
data, prepared or presented by an officer or employee of the Company whom the director or 
officer reasonably believes to be reliable and competent in the matters presented, by a lawyer, 
certified public accountant or other person, as to a matter which the director or officer reasonably 
believes to be within the person’s professional or expert competence, or, with respect to a 
director, by a committee of the Board of Directors on which the director does not serve, as to a 
matter within its designated authority, if the director reasonably believes the committee to merit 
confidence.

Section 15. RATIFICATION. The Board of Directors or the stockholders may 
ratify any action or inaction by the Company or its officers to the extent that the Board of 
Directors or the stockholders could have originally authorized the matter, and if so ratified, shall 
have the same force and effect as if originally duly authorized, and such ratification shall be 
binding upon the Company and its stockholders. Any action or inaction questioned in any 
stockholders’ derivative proceeding or any other proceeding on the ground of lack of authority, 
defective or irregular execution, adverse interest of a director, officer or stockholder, non-
disclosure, miscomputation, the application of improper principles or practices of accounting or 
otherwise, may be ratified, before or after judgment, by the Board of Directors or by the 
stockholders, and such ratification shall be binding upon the Company and shall constitute a bar 
to any claim or execution of any judgment in respect of such questioned action or inaction.

Section 16. CERTAIN RIGHTS OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS. Any 
director, in his or her personal capacity or in a capacity as an affiliate, employee, or agent of any 
other person, or otherwise, may have business interests and engage in business activities similar 
to, in addition to or in competition with those of or relating to the Company.

ARTICLE IV 

COMMITTEES

Section 1. NUMBER, TENURE AND QUALIFICATIONS. The Board of 
Directors may appoint from among its members an Audit and Finance Committee, a 
Compensation Committee, a Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee and any other 
committees, composed of one or more directors, to serve at the pleasure of the Board of 
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Directors.  The Board of Directors may designate one or more directors as alternate members of 
any committee who may replace any absent or disqualified member at any meeting of the 
committee or for the purposes of any written action by the committee. In the absence or 
disqualification of a member and alternate member or members of a committee, the member or 
members thereof present at any meeting and not disqualified from voting, whether or not 
constituting a quorum, may unanimously appoint another director to act at the meeting in the 
place of the absent or disqualified member. Each committee of the Board of Directors shall serve 
at the pleasure of the Board of Directors.

Section 2. POWERS. The Board of Directors may delegate to committees 
appointed under Section 1 of this Article IV any of the powers of the Board of Directors, except 
as prohibited by law. Any committee, to the extent provided by the Board of Directors, shall 
have and may exercise all of the powers and authority of the Board of Directors and may adopt 
such charter or governing provisions as are consistent with the resolution forming such 
committee, except as may be limited by statute, the Charter or these Bylaws. Except as may be 
otherwise provided by the Board of Directors, any committee may delegate some or all of its 
power and authority to one or more subcommittees, composed of one or more directors who are 
members of such committee, as the committee deems appropriate in its sole and absolute 
discretion.

Section 3. MEETINGS. Notice of committee meetings shall be given in the 
same manner as notice for special meetings of the Board of Directors. A majority of the members 
of the committee shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at any meeting of the 
committee. The act of a majority of the committee members present at a meeting shall be the act 
of such committee. The Board of Directors may designate a chair of any committee, and such 
chair or, in the absence of a chair, any two members of any committee (if there are at least two 
members of the committee) may fix the time and place of its meeting unless the Board of 
Directors shall otherwise provide.

Section 4. TELEPHONE MEETINGS. Members of a committee of the Board 
of Directors may participate in a meeting by means of a conference telephone or other 
communications equipment if all persons participating in the meeting can hear each other at the 
same time. Participation in a meeting by these means shall constitute presence in person at the 
meeting.

Section 5. CONSENT BY COMMITTEES WITHOUT A MEETING. Any 
action required or permitted to be taken at any meeting of a committee of the Board of Directors 
may be taken without a meeting, if a consent in writing or by electronic transmission to such 
action is given by each member of the committee and is filed with the minutes of proceedings of 
such committee.

Section 6. VACANCIES. Subject to the provisions hereof, the Board of 
Directors shall have the power at any time to change the membership of any committee, to fill 
any vacancy, to designate an alternate member to replace any absent or disqualified member or 
to dissolve any such committee.
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ARTICLE V 

OFFICERS

Section 1. GENERAL PROVISIONS. The officers of the Company shall 
include a president, a secretary and a treasurer and may include a chair of the Board of Directors, 
a vice chair of the Board of Directors, a chief executive officer, one or more vice presidents, a 
chief operating officer, a chief financial officer, one or more assistant secretaries and one or more 
assistant treasurers. In addition, the Board of Directors may from time to time elect such other 
officers with such powers and duties as it shall deem necessary or desirable. Officers may but 
need not be directors or stockholders of the Company. The officers of the Company shall be 
natural persons of at least eighteen years of age. The officers of the Company shall be elected 
annually by the Board of Directors, except that the chief executive officer or president may from 
time to time appoint one or more vice presidents, assistant secretaries and assistant treasurers or 
other officers. Each officer shall serve until his or her successor is duly elected and qualifies or 
until his or her death, or his or her resignation or removal in the manner hereinafter provided. 
Any two or more offices except president and vice president may be held by the same person. 
Election of an officer or agent shall not of itself create contract rights between the Company and 
such officer or agent. The Company may secure the fidelity of any or all of its officers by bond 
or otherwise.

Section 2. REMOVAL AND RESIGNATION. Any officer or agent of the 
Company may be removed, with or without cause, by the Board of Directors if in its judgment 
the best interests of the Company would be served thereby, but such removal shall be without 
prejudice to the contract rights, if any, of the person so removed. Any officer of the Company 
may resign at any time by delivering his or her resignation to the Board of Directors, the chair of 
the board, the chief executive officer, the president or the secretary. Any resignation shall take 
effect immediately upon its receipt or at such later time specified in the resignation. The 
acceptance of a resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective unless otherwise stated in 
the resignation. Such resignation shall be without prejudice to the contract rights, if any, of the 
Company.

Section 3. VACANCIES. A vacancy in any office may be filled by the Board 
of Directors for the balance of the term.

Section 4. CHAIR OF THE BOARD. The Board of Directors may designate 
from among its members a chair of the Board of Directors, who shall not, solely by reason of 
these Bylaws, be an officer of the Company. The Board of Directors may designate the chair of 
the Board of Directors as an executive or non-executive chair. The chair of the Board of 
Directors shall preside over the meetings of the Board of Directors, and if he or she is permitted 
pursuant to the listing requirements of any securities exchange on which the securities of the 
Company are listed or by an exception therefrom, shall be a member, ex officio, of all standing 
committees of the Board of Directors. If the chair of the Board of Directors is not permitted 
pursuant to the listing requirements of such securities exchange or by an exception therefrom to 
be an ex officio member of a particular standing committee, the chair shall be permitted to attend 
the meetings of such committee, except to the extent prohibited by the listing requirements of 
such securities exchange. The chair of the Board of Directors shall perform such other duties as 
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may be assigned to him or her by these Bylaws or the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors 
may appoint a co-chair of the Board of Directors.

Section 5. CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER. The Board of Directors may 
designate a chief executive officer. In the absence of such designation, the chair of the board 
shall be the chief executive officer of the Company. The chief executive officer shall have 
general responsibility for implementation of the policies of the Company, as determined by the 
Board of Directors, and for the management of the business and affairs of the Company. He or 
she may execute any deed, mortgage, bond, contract or other instrument, except in cases where 
the execution thereof shall be expressly delegated by the Board of Directors or by these Bylaws 
to some other officer or agent of the Company or shall be required by law to be otherwise 
executed; and in general shall perform all duties incident to the office of chief executive officer 
and such other duties as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors from time to time.

Section 6. CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER. The Board of Directors may 
designate a chief operating officer. The chief operating officer shall have the responsibilities and 
duties as determined by the Board of Directors or the chief executive officer.

Section 7. CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER. The Board of Directors may 
designate a chief financial officer. The chief financial officer shall have the responsibilities and 
duties as determined by the Board of Directors or the chief executive officer.

Section 8. PRESIDENT. In the absence of a chief executive officer, the 
president shall in general supervise and control all of the business and affairs of the Company. In 
the absence of a designation of a chief operating officer by the Board of Directors, the president 
shall be the chief operating officer. He or she may execute any deed, mortgage, bond, contract or 
other instrument, except in cases where the execution thereof shall be expressly delegated by the 
Board of Directors or by these Bylaws to some other officer or agent of the Company or shall be 
required by law to be otherwise executed; and in general shall perform all duties incident to the 
office of president and such other duties as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors from 
time to time.

Section 9. VICE PRESIDENTS. In the absence of the president or in the 
event of a vacancy in such office, the vice president (or in the event there be more than one vice 
president, the vice presidents in the order designated at the time of their election or, in the 
absence of any designation, then in the order of their election) shall perform the duties of the 
president and when so acting shall have all the powers of and be subject to all the restrictions 
upon the president; and shall perform such other duties as from time to time may be assigned to 
such vice president by the chief executive officer, the president or the Board of Directors. The 
Board of Directors may designate one or more vice presidents as executive vice president, senior 
vice president, or vice president for particular areas of responsibility.

Section 10. SECRETARY. The secretary shall (a) keep the minutes and record 
the votes of the proceedings of the stockholders, the Board of Directors and committees of the 
Board of Directors in one or more books provided for that purpose; (b) see that all notices are 
duly given in accordance with the provisions of these Bylaws or as required by law; (c) see that 
records and reports are properly kept and filed by the Company as required by law; (d) be 
custodian of the corporate records and of the seal of the Company; (e) keep a register of the post 
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office address of each stockholder which shall be furnished to the secretary by such stockholder; 
(f) have general charge of the stock ledger of the Company; and (g) in general perform such 
other duties as from time to time may be assigned to him or her by the chief executive officer, 
the president or the Board of Directors.

Section 11. TREASURER. The treasurer shall have the custody of the funds, 
securities and other property of the Company, shall keep full and accurate accounts of receipts 
and disbursements in books belonging to the Company, shall collect and receive or provide for 
the collection and receipt of moneys earned by or in any manner due to or received by the 
Company, shall deposit all moneys and other valuable effects in the name and to the credit of the 
Company in such depositories as may be designated by the Board of Directors and in general 
perform such other duties as from time to time may be assigned to him or her by the chief 
executive officer, the president or the Board of Directors. In the absence of a designation of a 
chief financial officer by the Board of Directors, the treasurer shall be the chief financial officer 
of the Company.

The treasurer shall disburse the funds of the Company as may be ordered by the 
Board of Directors, taking proper vouchers for such disbursements, and shall render to the 
president and Board of Directors, at the regular meetings of the Board of Directors or whenever 
it may so require, an account of all his or her transactions as treasurer and of the financial 
condition of the Company.

Section 12. ASSISTANT SECRETARIES AND ASSISTANT 
TREASURERS. The assistant secretaries and assistant treasurers, in general, shall perform such 
duties as shall be assigned to them by the secretary or treasurer, respectively, or by the chief 
executive officer, the president or the Board of Directors.

Section 13. COMPENSATION. The compensation of the officers shall be 
fixed from time to time by or under the authority of the Board of Directors and no officer shall be 
prevented from receiving such compensation by reason of the fact that he or she is also a 
director.

ARTICLE VI

CONTRACTS, CHECKS AND DEPOSITS

Section 1. CONTRACTS. The Board of Directors may authorize any officer 
or agent to enter into any contract or to execute and deliver any instrument in the name of and on 
behalf of the Company and such authority may be general or confined to specific instances. Any 
agreement, deed, mortgage, lease or other document shall be valid and binding upon the 
Company when duly authorized or ratified by action of the Board of Directors and executed by 
an authorized person.

Section 2. CHECKS AND DRAFTS. All checks, drafts or other orders for the 
payment of money, notes or other evidences of indebtedness issued in the name of the Company 
shall be signed by such officer or agent of the Company in such manner as shall from time to 
time be determined by the Board of Directors.
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Section 3. DEPOSITS. All funds of the Company not otherwise employed 
shall be deposited or invested from time to time to the credit of the Company as the Board of 
Directors, the chief executive officer, the president, the chief financial officer, or any other 
officer designated by the Board of Directors may determine.

ARTICLE VII 

STOCK

Section 1. CERTIFICATES. Except as may be otherwise provided by the 
Board of Directors, stockholders of the Company are not entitled to certificates representing the 
shares of stock held by them. In the event that the Company issues shares of stock represented by 
certificates, such certificates shall be in such form as prescribed by the Board of Directors or a 
duly authorized officer, shall contain the statements and information required by the MGCL and 
shall be signed by one or more officers of the Company in any manner permitted by the MGCL. 
In the event that the Company issues shares of stock without certificates, to the extent then 
required by the MGCL, the Company shall provide to the record holders of such shares a written 
statement of the information required by the MGCL to be included on stock certificates. There 
shall be no differences in the rights and obligations of stockholders based on whether or not their 
shares are represented by certificates.

Section 2. TRANSFERS. All transfers of shares of stock shall be made in the 
stock ledger of the Company, by the holder of the shares, in person or by his or her duly 
authorized agent, in such manner as the Board of Directors or any officer of the Company may 
prescribe and, if such shares are certificated, upon surrender of the certificates representing such 
shares duly endorsed. The issuance of a new certificate upon the transfer of certificated shares is 
subject to the determination of the Board of Directors that such shares shall no longer be 
represented by certificates. Upon the transfer of any uncertificated shares, the Company shall 
provide to the record holders of such shares, to the extent then required by the MGCL, a written 
statement of the information required by the MGCL to be included on stock certificates.

The Company shall be entitled to treat the holder of record of any share of stock 
as the holder in fact thereof and, accordingly, shall not be bound to recognize any equitable or 
other claim to or interest in such share or on the part of any other person, whether or not it shall 
have express or other notice thereof, except as otherwise expressly provided by the laws of the 
State of Maryland.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, transfers of shares of any class or series of stock 
will be subject in all respects to the Charter and all of the terms and conditions contained therein.

Section 3. REPLACEMENT CERTIFICATE. Any officer of the Company 
may direct a new certificate or certificates to be issued in place of any certificate or certificates 
theretofore issued by the Company alleged to have been lost, destroyed, stolen or mutilated, upon 
the making of an affidavit of that fact by the person claiming the certificate to be lost, destroyed, 
stolen or mutilated; provided, that the Company receives notice from such person of such fact 
prior to notice that the certificate at issue has been acquired by a protected purchaser (as defined 
in Article 8 of the Maryland Uniform Commercial Code); and provided further, however, if such 
shares have ceased to be certificated, no new certificate shall be issued unless requested in 
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writing by such stockholder and the Board of Directors has determined that such certificates may 
be issued. Unless otherwise determined by an officer of the Company, the owner of such lost, 
destroyed, stolen or mutilated certificate or certificates, or his or her legal representative, shall be 
required, as a condition precedent to the issuance of a new certificate or certificates, to give the 
Company a bond in such sums as it may direct as indemnity against any claim that may be made 
against the Company.

Section 4. FIXING OF RECORD DATE. The Board of Directors may set, in 
advance, a record date for the purpose of determining stockholders entitled to notice of or to vote 
at any meeting of stockholders or determining stockholders entitled to receive payment of any 
dividend or the allotment of any other rights, or in order to make a determination of stockholders 
for any other proper purpose. Such date, in any case, shall not be prior to the close of business on 
the day the record date is fixed and shall be not more than 90 days and, in the case of a meeting 
of stockholders, not less than ten days, before the date on which the meeting or particular action 
requiring such determination of stockholders of record is to be held or taken.

When a record date for the determination of stockholders entitled to notice of and 
to vote at any meeting of stockholders has been set as provided in this section, such record date 
shall continue to apply to the meeting if adjourned or postponed, except if the meeting is 
adjourned or postponed to a date more than 120 days after the record date originally fixed for the 
meeting, in which case a new record date for such meeting shall be determined as set forth 
herein.

Except as set forth in Section I of Article II, if a record date is not fixed, (i) the 
record date for determining stockholders entitled to notice of or to vote at a meeting of 
stockholders shall be 5:00 p.m., Eastern Time, on the day on which notice of the meeting is 
given, or the 30th day before the meeting, whichever is the closer date to the meeting; and (ii) the 
record date for determining stockholders for any other purpose shall be 5:00 p.m., Eastern Time, 
on the day on which the Board of Directors adopts the resolution relating thereto.

Section 5. STOCK LEDGER. The Company shall maintain at its principal 
office or at the office of its counsel, accountants or transfer agent, an original or duplicate stock 
ledger containing the name and address of each stockholder and the number of shares of each 
class held by such stockholder.

Section 6. FRACTIONAL STOCK; ISSUANCE OF UNITS. The Board of 
Directors may authorize the Company to issue fractional shares of stock or authorize the issuance 
of scrip, all on such terms and under such conditions as it may determine. Notwithstanding any 
other provision of the Charter or these Bylaws, the Board of Directors may authorize the 
issuance of units consisting of different securities of the Company. Any security issued in a unit 
shall have the same characteristics as any identical securities issued by the Company, except that 
the Board of Directors may provide that for a specified period securities of the Company issued 
in such unit may be transferred in the stock ledger of the Company only in such unit.
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ARTICLE VIII

ACCOUNTING YEAR

The Board of Directors shall have the power, from time to time, to fix the fiscal 
year of the Company by a duly adopted resolution.

ARTICLE IX

DISTRIBUTIONS

Section 1. AUTHORIZATION. Dividends and other distributions upon the 
stock of the Company may be authorized by the Board of Directors, subject to the provisions of 
law and the Charter. Dividends and other distributions may be paid in cash, property or stock of 
the Company, subject to the provisions of law and the Charter.

Section 2. CONTINGENCIES. Before payment of any dividends or other 
distributions, there may be set aside out of any assets of the Company available for dividends or 
other distributions such sum or sums as the Board of Directors may from time to time, in its 
absolute discretion, think proper as a reserve fund for contingencies, for equalizing dividends, for 
repairing or maintaining any property of the Company or for such other purpose as the Board of 
Directors shall determine, and the Board of Directors may modify or abolish any such reserve.

ARTICLE X

INVESTMENT POLICY

Subject to the provisions of the Charter, the Board of Directors may from time to 
time adopt, amend, revise or terminate any policy or policies with respect to investments by the 
Company as it shall deem appropriate in its sole discretion.

ARTICLE XI 

SEAL

Section 1. SEAL. The Board of Directors may authorize the adoption of a 
seal by the Company. The seal shall contain the name of the Company and the year of its 
incorporation and the words “Incorporated Maryland.” The Board of Directors may authorize 
one or more duplicate seals and provide for the custody thereof. The affixation of the Company’s 
seal shall not be necessary to the valid execution, assignment or endorsement by the Company of 
any instrument or other document unless otherwise required by law.

Section 2. AFFIXING SEAL. Whenever the Company is permitted or 
required to affix its seal to a document, it shall be sufficient to meet the requirements of any law, 
rule or regulation relating to a seal to place the word “(SEAL)” adjacent to the signature of the 
person authorized to execute the document on behalf of the Company.
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ARTICLE XII

INDEMNIFICATION AND ADVANCE OF EXPENSES

To the maximum extent permitted by Maryland law in effect from time to time, 
the Company shall indemnify and, without requiring a preliminary determination of the ultimate 
entitlement to indemnification, shall pay or reimburse reasonable expenses in advance of final 
disposition of a proceeding to (a) any individual who is a present or former director or officer of 
the Company and who is made or threatened to be made a party to, or witness in, the proceeding 
by reason of his or her service in that capacity or (b) any individual, who while a director or 
officer of the Company and at the request of the Company, serves or has served as a director, 
officer, employee, agent, fiduciary or trustee, member, manager or partner of another 
corporation, real estate investment trust, limited liability company, partnership, joint venture, 
trust, employee benefit plan (including, without limitation, service with respect to its participants 
or beneficiaries) or any other entity or enterprise, whether or not for profit, whether domestic or 
foreign, and who is made or threatened to be made a party to, or witness in, the proceeding by 
reason of his or her service in that capacity. The Company may, with the approval of its Board of 
Directors, provide such indemnification and advance for expenses to an individual who served a 
predecessor of the Company in any of the capacities described in (a) or (b) above and to any 
employee or agent of the Company or a predecessor of the Company. The indemnification and 
payment or reimbursement of expenses provided in these Bylaws shall not be deemed exclusive 
of or limit in any way other rights to which any person seeking indemnification or payment or 
reimbursement of expenses may be or may become entitled under any bylaw, resolution, 
insurance, agreement or otherwise.

Neither the amendment nor repeal of this Article, nor the adoption or amendment 
of any other provision of the Charter or these Bylaws inconsistent with this Article, shall apply to 
or affect in any respect the applicability of this Article XII with respect to any act or failure to act 
which occurred prior to such amendment, repeal or adoption.

ARTICLE XIII

WAIVER OF NOTICE

Whenever any notice of a meeting is required to be given pursuant to the Charter 
or these Bylaws or pursuant to applicable law, a waiver thereof in writing or by electronic 
transmission, given by the person or persons entitled to such notice, whether before or after the 
time stated therein, shall be deemed equivalent to the giving of such notice. Neither the business 
to be transacted at nor the purpose of any meeting need be set forth in the waiver of notice of 
such meeting, unless specifically required by statute. The attendance of any person at any 
meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting, except where such person attends a 
meeting for the express purpose of objecting to the transaction of any business on the ground that 
the meeting has not been lawfully called or convened.
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ARTICLE XIV

EXCLUSIVE FORUM FOR CERTAIN LITIGATION

Unless the Company consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, 
the Circuit Court for Baltimore City, Maryland, or, if that Court does not have jurisdiction, the 
United States District Court for the District of Maryland, Baltimore Division, shall be the sole 
and exclusive forum for (a) any derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of the 
Company, (b) any action asserting a claim of breach of any duty owed by any present or former 
director or officer or other employee or stockholder of the Company to the Company or to the 
stockholders of the Company or any standard of conduct applicable to the directors of the 
Company, (c) any action asserting a claim against the Company or any present or former director 
or officer or other employee of the Company arising pursuant to any provision of the MGCL, the 
Charter or these Bylaws, or (d) any action asserting a claim against the Company or any present 
or former director or officer or other employee of the Company that is governed by the internal 
affairs doctrine, in all cases subject to the court’s having personal jurisdiction over the 
indispensable parties named as defendants. Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise 
acquiring any interest in shares of capital stock of the Company shall be deemed to have had 
notice of and consented to the provisions of this Article XIV. 

ARTICLE XV

REQUIRED RECORDS

To the extent required by the MGCL, the Company shall keep complete and 
accurate books and records of account and minutes of the proceedings of the incorporators, 
stockholders and directors. Any books, minutes or other records may be in written form or any 
other form capable of being converted into written form within a reasonable time.

ARTICLE XVI 

VOTING

Unless otherwise ordered by the Board of Directors, the Company may cast (by 
consent or at a meeting) the votes which the Company may be entitled to cast as a stockholder, 
member, partner or otherwise in any other corporation, limited liability company, partnership or 
other entity any of whose shares or other securities are held by or for the Company, by any of its 
officers or agents, or by proxy appointed by any such officer or agent, unless some other person, 
by resolution of the Board of Directors or a provision of the other entity’s organizational 
documents, is appointed the Company’s general or special proxy, in which case that person shall 
be entitled to vote the shares or other securities.
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ARTICLE XVII

AMENDMENT OF BYLAWS

These Bylaws may be altered, amended or repealed or new bylaws may be 
adopted by the Board of Directors, or by the stockholders by the affirmative vote of a majority of 
all the votes entitled to be cast on the matter. No bylaw adopted, altered, amended or repealed by 
the stockholders shall be repealed, altered, amended or readopted by the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE XVIII

STOCKHOLDER RIGHTS PLAN

The Company shall seek stockholder approval prior to its adoption or subsequent 
amendment, extension or renewal of a Rights Plan (as defined below), unless the Board of 
Directors, in the exercise of its duties as directors, determines that, under the circumstances 
existing at the time, it is in the best interests of the Company to adopt or amend, extend or renew 
such Rights Plan without delay. If a Rights Plan is adopted or amended, extended or renewed by 
the Board of Directors without prior stockholder approval in the exercise of such duties, such 
Rights Plan must provide that it will expire within 12 months of such action by the Board of 
Directors unless such Rights Plan shall have been ratified prior to the end of such 12 month 
period by the stockholders by the affirmative vote of a majority of the votes cast on the matter by 
stockholders entitled to vote on such matter. For purposes of this Bylaw, the term “Rights Plan” 
refers generally to any plan or arrangement providing for the distribution of preferred shares, 
rights, warrants, options or debt instruments to the stockholders of the Company, designed to 
assist the Board of Directors in responding to unsolicited takeover proposals and significant 
share accumulations by conferring certain rights on the stockholders upon the occurrence of a 
“triggering event” such as a tender offer or third party acquisition of a specified percentage of 
shares. Notwithstanding anything contained in this Article XVIII, in no event shall the issuance 
of shares of preferred stock pursuant to the terms of such preferred stock, or the conversion of 
preferred stock into common stock pursuant to the terms of such preferred stock, in each case, to 
the extent any shares of the series or class of such preferred stock were outstanding prior to the 
adoption of a Rights Plan, result in the distribution of preferred shares, rights, warrants, options 
or debt instruments to the stockholders of the Company pursuant to any such Rights Plan.
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I, Edward B. Pitoniak, certify that: 

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of VICI Properties Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material 
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not 
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present 
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the 
periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting 
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be 
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its 
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period 
in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial 
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of 
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report 
our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period 
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred 
during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual 
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control 
over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control 
over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or 
persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over 
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, 
summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role 
in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: July 29, 2020
By: /s/ EDWARD B. PITONIAK

Edward B. Pitoniak
Chief Executive Officer
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I, David Kieske, certify that: 

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of VICI Properties Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material 
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not 
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present 
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the 
periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting 
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be 
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its 
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period 
in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial 
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of 
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report 
our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period 
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred 
during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual 
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control 
over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control 
over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or 
persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over 
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, 
summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role 
in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

 

Date: July 29, 2020
By: /s/ DAVID A. KIESKE

David A. Kieske
Chief Financial Officer
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Certification of Principal Executive Officer 

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as created by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the undersigned officer of VICI 
Properties Inc. (the “Company”), hereby certifies, to such officer's knowledge, that: 

(i) the accompanying Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of the Company for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2020 (the 
“Report”) fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act 
of 1934, as amended; and 

(ii) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of 
operations of the Company. 

Date: July 29, 2020
By: /s/ EDWARD B. PITONIAK

Edward B. Pitoniak
Chief Executive Officer

The foregoing certification is being furnished solely to accompany the Report pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, and is not being 
filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and is not to be incorporated by reference 
into any filing of the Company, whether made before or after the date hereof, regardless of any general incorporation language 
in such filing. 

Exhibit 32.1



Certification of Principal Financial Officer 

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as created by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the undersigned officer of VICI 
Properties Inc. (the “Company”), hereby certifies, to such officer's knowledge, that: 

(i) the accompanying Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of the Company for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2020 (the 
“Report”) fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act 
of 1934, as amended; and 

(ii) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of 
operations of the Company. 

Date: July 29, 2020
By: /s/ DAVID A. KIESKE

David A. Kieske
Chief Financial Officer

The foregoing certification is being furnished solely to accompany the Report pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, and is not being 
filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and is not to be incorporated by reference 
into any filing of the Company, whether made before or after the date hereof, regardless of any general incorporation language 
in such filing. 

Exhibit 32.2
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